
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

Port Health & Environmental Services Committee 

 
Date: TUESDAY, 24 NOVEMBER 2015 

Time: 11.30 am 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS, 2ND FLOOR, WEST WING, GUILDHALL 

  

Members: Wendy Mead (Chairman) 
Jeremy Simons (Deputy 
Chairman) 
Deputy John Absalom 
Deputy John Bennett 
Keith Bottomley 
Henry Colthurst 
Karina Dostalova 
Peter Dunphy 
Deputy Kevin Everett 
Deputy Bill Fraser 
George Gillon 
Deputy Stanley Ginsburg 
Graeme Harrower 
Alderman Peter Hewitt 
Wendy Hyde 
Vivienne Littlechild 
 

Professor John Lumley 
Alderman Julian Malins 
Andrew McMurtrie 
Brian Mooney 
Hugh Morris 
Barbara Newman 
Ann Pembroke 
Henrika Priest 
Deputy Gerald Pulman 
Deputy Richard Regan 
Delis Regis 
Deputy John Tomlinson 
Deputy James Thomson 
Michael Welbank 
Mark Wheatley 
Philip Woodhouse 
 

 
 
 
Enquiries: David Arnold 

 tel. no.: 020 7332 1174 
david.arnold@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 
 

 
Lunch will be served in Guildhall Club at the rising of the Committee 

NB: Part of this meeting could be the subject of audio or video recording  
 

 
John Barradell 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack



 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES 
 
2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 

ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
 
3. MINUTES 
 To agree the public minutes and summary of the meeting held on 22 September 

2015. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 1 - 8) 
4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS 
 To note list of Outstanding Actions. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 9 - 14) 

 
5. REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGETS - 2016/17 
 Joint report of the Chamberlain, the Director of Open Spaces, the Director of Markets 

and Consumer Protection and the Director of the Built Environment. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 15 - 36) 

 
6. CITY OF LONDON AIR QUALITY STRATEGY 2015 - 2020 UPDATE 
 Report of the Director of Markets and Consumer Protection. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 37 - 56) 

 
7. 43RD CITY OF LONDON THAMES FISHERY RESEARCH EXPERIMENT 2015 
 Report of the Director of Markets and Consumer Protection. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 57 - 64) 

 
8. CITY OF LONDON CONTAMINATED LAND INSPECTION STRATEGY 2015 - 2020 
 Report of the Director of Markets and Consumer Protection. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 65 - 126) 

 
9. PUBLIC CONVENIENCES STRATEGY - UPDATE ON SERVICE BASED REVIEW 

SAVINGS 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 127 - 140) 

 
10. PROGRESS ON THE ENFORCEMENT OF THE OBSTRUCTIONS POLICY 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 141 - 146) 

 



 

3 
 

11. CLEAN CITY AWARDS SCHEME UPDATE 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 147 - 150) 

 
12. OPERATIONAL PROPERTY 
 Joint report of the Chamberlain and the City Surveyor. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 151 - 158) 

 
13. DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER URGENCY SINCE THE LAST MEETING OF THE 

COMMITTEE 
 Report of the Town Clerk. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 159 - 160) 

 
14. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 

 
16. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 MOTION – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of the Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act. 

For Decision 
 

Part 2 - Non-public Agenda 
 
17. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
 To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 22 September 2015. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 161 - 162) 

 
18. DEBT ARREARS - PORT HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES PERIOD 

ENDING 30 SEPTEMBER 2015 
 Joint report of the Director of Open Spaces, the Director of Markets and Consumer 

Protection, and the Director of the Built Environment. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 163 - 170) 

 
19. LONDON GATEWAY - ADDITIONAL OFFICE ACCOMMODATION FOR PORT 

HEALTH OFFICES AT MANORWAY HOUSE 
 Joint report of the Director of Markets and Consumer Protection and the City 

Surveyor. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 171 - 190) 

 



 

 

20. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE 

 
21. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERED URGENT AND 

WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 



PORT HEALTH & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 22 September 2015  
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Port Health & Environmental Services Committee 
held at the Guildhall EC2 at 11.30 am 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Wendy Mead (Chairman) 
Jeremy Simons (Deputy Chairman) 
Deputy John Bennett 
Keith Bottomley 
Henry Colthurst 
Karina Dostalova 
Graeme Harrower 
Alderman Peter Hewitt 
Wendy Hyde 
 

Vivienne Littlechild 
Barbara Newman 
Ann Pembroke 
Deputy Richard Regan 
Deputy John Tomlinson 
Deputy James Thomson 
Michael Welbank 
Mark Wheatley 
 

 
Officers: 
David Arnold Town Clerk's Department 

John Park Town Clerk’s Department 

Philip Saunders Remembrancer's Office 

Jenny Pitcairn Chamberlain’s Department 

Paul Chadha Comptroller & City Solicitor's Department 

Carolyn Dwyer Director of the Built Environment 

Steve Presland Department of the Built Environment 

Jim Graham Department of the Built Environment 

Doug Wilkinson Department of the Built Environment 

Jon Averns Department of Markets & Consumer Protection 

Gary Burks Superintendent of the City of London Cemetery & 
Crematorium 

Esther Sumner Open Spaces Department 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies for absence were received from Peter Dunphy, Deputy Kevin 
Everett, Deputy Bill Fraser, George Gillon, Deputy Stanley Ginsburg, Professor 
John Lumley, Alderman Julian Malins, Andrew McMurtrie, Henrika Priest, 
Deputy Gerald Pulman, and Philip Woodhouse. 
 
Chairman’s Welcome 
The Chairman introduced Members to the new Director of the Built 
Environment, who was attending her first Port Health and Environmental 
Services Committee meeting, and welcomed Keith Bottomley and Graeme 
Harrower to their first meeting as Members of the Committee. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were none. 
 

3. MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting 
held on 7 July 2015 be approved, subject to the addition of an apology for 
absence from Deputy Richard Regan. 
 
Matters Arising 
 
Massage and Special Treatment 
The Director of Port Health and Public Protection advised that a visit to a 
potentially un-licenced massage parlour was carried out by the Police Licensing 
Team and an officer from the London Fire Brigade. There was no evidence 
found that the premises was being used for the provision of activities which 
would in any way suggest it was a brothel. 
 
 

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS  
The Committee considered the following matters from the list of Outstanding 
Actions: 
 
Public Conveniences 
Members were advised that the relocation of the Aldermanbury Automated 
Public Convenience (APC) to West Smithfield had proved difficult due to the 
complex network of underground utilities and the only appropriate location was 
considered to be on top of the existing toilet facilities. This would require the 
underground toilets to be filled in to support the foundations of the APC unit, 
which limited or prevented the City Surveyor from disposing of the asset at 
West Smithfield and was considered too costly to pursue.  
 
Members noted that the Aldermanbury APC was very close to the toilet facilities 
at Guildhall but the Assistant Director of Street Scene and Strategy advised that 
it was particularly well-used compared with other facilities. After discussion 
amongst Members, it was agreed that the Aldermanbury APC would be 
upgraded to provide a modern and fully disabled-accessible facility, within the 
next 12 months. The Assistant Director added that a full list of facilities to be 
upgraded as part of the Service Based Review (SBR) would be circulated to 
Members. 
 
Traffic in Cloth Fair 
In response to a Member’s question, the Director of Transportation and Public 
Realm advised that a questionnaire would be sent to local residents at the end 
of September 2015 and a report would be submitted to the Streets and 
Walkways Sub-Committee and Planning and Transportation Committee for 
consideration in early 2016. 
 
 
 

Page 2



Introduction of Body Worn Video (BWV) for Street Environment Officers 
Members were advised the Comptroller and City Solicitor had requested a 
change to the terms and conditions regarding issues relating to the Data 
Protection Act and Information Security from the supplier. This amendment had 
been added and the revised document was currently being considered by the 
City of London Police. It was hoped that the new terms would be approved and 
confirmed by the end of October 2015. 
 
Mobile Shredding Vehicles 
The Assistant Director of Street Scene and Strategy advised that an officer 
working group would be meeting in early October to explore what powers under 
parking enforcement legislation was available as enforcement against mobile 
shredding vehicles was excluded from air quality legislation. He added that 
officers would engage with mobile shredding service providers and local 
businesses to inform a timescale and action plan that should satisfy all parties. 
 
RESOLVED – That:- 

a) the list of Outstanding Actions be noted; and 
b) the decision to upgrade Aldermanbury APC as originally planned with 

the SBR programme, with usage to be monitored during the next 12 
months, be approved. 

 
5. RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE  

The Committee received a resolution from the Planning and Transportation 
Committee regarding the City of London Air Quality Strategy 2015-20. The 
Chairman invited the Director of Port Health and Public Protection to clarify and 
respond to the comments made by the Planning and Transportation 
Committee:- 

 Considerable action was already underway concerning idling vehicles 
and a further campaign would take place during autumn 2016. 

 There were no specific powers under Environmental Protection 
legislation to address the use of mobile shredder vans, so a joint officer 
group involving the Departments of Markets and Consumer Protection 
and the Built Environment had been established to explore the use of 
parking enforcement against these idling vehicles. 

 No restrictions could be placed on refrigerated vehicle movements at 
Smithfield Market; however a monitor had recently been installed to 
record pollution levels in the vicinity of the Market and appropriate action 
would be taken once the results are known. 

 The suggestion for planning permission to be granted only when 
resultant pollutants from premises were neutral was a matter for the 
Planning and Transportation Committee, which Members of this 
Committee would support if it were permissible and enforceable. 

 The presumption that only 20% of the City of London’s air pollution was 
generated within the City did not accurately reflect the position as a 
range of pollutants varied in different locations; nitrogen dioxide was 
mainly generated within the City of London, for instance, and the 
Environmental Health Officer could provide exact figures upon request. 

 The draft Strategy was presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board and 
the Department of the Built Environment, including relevant planning 

Page 3



officers, prior to and during the formal consultation process, which lasted 
for a period of three months, and all responses were considered before it 
was presented to this Committee for approval. 

 The potential for amendments to existing legislation were being 
considered by the Department of Markets and Consumer Protection, 
including a Graduate post recruited to explore this legislation, and the 
Remembrancer’s Office. 

 The inadequacies of the Clean Air Act had been raised by the Chairman 
and Director of Port Health and Public Protection with the relevant 
Minister, who subsequently passed on their comments to policy officials 
to be taken into account during any review of the Act. 

 An application had been submitted to the Mayor’s Air Quality Fund to 
obtain a grant to improve measures of improving air quality within the 
City of London. 

 A Member briefing session regarding air quality was to be arranged 
shortly and all Members of the Court of Common Council would be 
invited to attend. 

 The Strategy was an overarching document for which officers had been 
requested to identify more radical policies and actions that would offer 
quicker solutions to this problem, which could include reduced usage of 
diesel in the City of London, research into the best ways to address the 
problem, and more active traffic management. 

 
Members added that action taken against high levels of pollution in particular 
areas within the City of London, such as the Beech Street covered roadway, 
should be reported to the Committee. The Director agreed that cleansing 
procedures and air quality figures for Beech Street would be included in an air 
quality update report that would be presented to the next Committee meeting. 
 
To conclude, Members were advised that a meeting between the Chairman of 
this Committee and the Chairman of the Planning and Transportation 
Committee would be scheduled to discuss the issues addressed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the comments of the Planning and Transportation 
Committee regarding be City of London Air Quality Strategy 2015-20 be noted. 
 

6. PSYCHOACTIVE SUBSTANCES BILL  
The Committee received a report of the Remembrancer regarding the 
Psychoactive Substances Bill. Members were advised that the Bill sought to 
tackle to the growing use of ‘legal highs’ by criminalising their production and 
supply. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

7. OPEN SPACES CEMETERY & CREMATORIUM BUSINESS PLAN 2015-18 
QUARTER ONE PROGRESS REPORT  
The Committee received a report of the Director of Open Spaces regarding the 
outcome of the first quarter of the 2015-18 business plan for the Cemetery and 
Crematorium. Members noted the excellent income performance of the 

Page 4



Cemetery and Crematorium and the progress of the Shoot Project, which was 
due to commence in late September 2015 and be completed in early 2016. 
 
In response to Members’ questions regarding the need to increase the level of 
fully abated cremations, the Superintendent of the Cemetery and Crematorium 
advised that the target of 60% and actual performance of 64% was above the 
national legal requirement of 50%. He added that the other non-abated 
equipment was due to be replaced by abated cremators by 2021, which should 
result in 100% abatement and 0% mercury emissions. Members noted their 
support for the increase in abatement and reduction in mercury emissions as 
soon as possible to demonstrate how the City of London Corporation could lead 
the field in this area. 
 
The Director of Port Health and Public Protection added that mercury emission 
levels and current controls around the area surrounding the Cemetery and 
Crematorium would be provided to the Superintendent and subsequently 
reported to the Committee. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

8. DEPARTMENT OF THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT BUSINESS PLAN 2015-18 
QUARTER ONE PROGRESS REPORT  
The Committee received a report of the Director of the Built Environment 
regarding the progress made during period one of the 2015-18 Departmental 
Business Plan. 
 
The Assistant Director of Cleansing Operations advised that a variety of 
cleansing equipment had been experimented with across City of London streets 
and walkways, but the issue of chewing gum was proving difficult to address. In 
response to a Member’s question regarding the cleanliness of pavements on 
the private Broadgate Estate, he added that resources were not available for 
the City of London Corporation to provide such a high level of cleaning across 
the City. He agreed to meet with the Member to discuss the matter if 
necessary. 
 
In response to Members’ concerns regarding the Risk Register, the Director of 
Transportation and Public Realm advised that an updated version that included 
risk mitigation measures could be circulated to Members after the meeting. 
 
The Chairman added congratulations on behalf of the Committee to the 
Department’s recent achievements in the NI 195 scores from Keep Britain Tidy 
and for retaining Gold Standard accreditation with the Transport for London’s 
Fleet Operation Recognition Scheme. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

9. PORT HEALTH AND PUBLIC PROTECTION BUSINESS PLAN 2015-18 
PERIOD ONE PROGRESS REPORT  
The Committee received a report of the Director of Markets and Consumer 
Protection regarding the progress made during period one against the key 

Page 5



performance indicators and objectives outlined in the Port Health and Public 
Protection division’s 2015-18 Business Plan. 
 
Members were advised of the recent successfully completed prosecutions 
related to Operation Broadway and an upcoming survey of premises displaying 
Food Hygiene Rating Scheme stickers, the results of which would be reported 
to the Committee. 
 
In response to a Member’s question, the Director of Port Health and Public 
Protection advised that un-licensed nut-sellers had been recorded on the 
Millennium, Southwark, and London Bridges. The Comptroller and City Solicitor 
added that a nut-seller had been recently fined £500 for operating on London 
Bridge. 
 
Members noted that the Departmental risk relating to air quality should be 
considered a corporate, strategic risk for the City of London Corporation as a 
whole. A Member suggested that air quality had already been added as a 
corporate risk at a recent meeting of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee; this would be confirmed to Members after the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

10. CITY OF LONDON STANDARDS FOR HOUSES IN MULTIPLE 
OCCUPATION 2015  
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Markets and Consumer 
Protection that sought approval to an external consultation period for the draft 
City of London Standards for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs). Members 
were advised that The City of London Corporation set out the minimum 
standards within the draft Standards that are applicable to all HMOs and refer 
to basic minimum standards for fire protection, room sizes, management and 
amenity provision. 
 
RESOLVED – That:- 

a) the draft Standards for HMOs undergo external consultation until 10 
December 2015; and 

b) a further report be presented to this Committee on 19 January 2016 to 
approve the subsequent final conditions. 

 
11. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 

COMMITTEE  
There were none. 
 

12. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
The Chairman advised Members that the Fishing Experiment would take place 
on 10 October 2015 and that the next Committee dinner was scheduled for 
Thursday 21 January 2016. 
 

13. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED – That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds 

Page 6



that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 

Item No.      Paragraph No. 
14        3, 4 
15       3, 5, 7 

 
14. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES  

RESOLVED – That the non-public minutes of the previous meeting held on 7 
July 2015 be approved. 
 
Members were advised of one matter arising. 
 

15. DEBT ARREARS - PORT HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 
PERIOD ENDING 30 JUNE 2015  
The Committee received a joint report of the Director of the Built Environment, 
Director of Markets and Consumer Protection, and Director of Open Spaces 
regarding arrears of invoiced income outstanding as at 30 June 2015. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

16. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF 
THE COMMITTEE  
There were none. 
 

17. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERED URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There was none. 
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 12.40 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: David Arnold 
tel. no.: 020 7332 1174 
david.arnold@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

 

Port Health & Environmental Services Committee – Outstanding Actions 
 

Item Date Action 
Officer 

responsible 

To be 
completed/ 

progressed to 
next stage 

Progress Update 

1. 5 May 2015 Introduction of Body Worn 
Video (BWV) for Street 
Environment Officers 

Assistant 
Director 
Street Scene & 
Strategy  

November 2015 Members approved the 
implementation of BWV cameras 
from May 2015 at the Committee 
meeting on 5 May 2015. It was 
agreed that a further report be 
submitted six months after 
implementation to review the 
effectiveness and impact of the 
equipment. 

September 2015 Update 
The City Solicitor has written to 
the company which CoL and 
CoLP are proposing to use as 
data storage provider for Body 
Worn Video (BWV) to resolve 
issues relating to the Data 
Protection Agreement (DPA) 
that they have provided. It is 
hoped that any outstanding 
issues will be resolved 
imminently once all areas of 
concern have been addressed. 
 
November 2015 Update 
The City has now agreed a 
variation of the terms and 
conditions of the contract with 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 4



 

 

Item Date Action 
Officer 

responsible 

To be 
completed/ 

progressed to 
next stage 

Progress Update 

the supplier and the Comptroller 
and City Solicitor’s department is 
drafting the final contract 
agreement. A final version of the 
Privacy Impact Assessment is 
being completed by operational 
officers, legal and information 
security officers. ‘Go Live’ for 
operational use is imminent. 
 

2. 5 May 2015 Noise Strategy Director of Port 
Health and 
Public 
Protection 

March 2016 The City of London Corporation 

Noise Strategy would be 

reviewed, revised, and consulted 

upon. The consultation process 

would involve residents and 

Members as well as being 

published on the City 

Corporation website for wider 

consultation. 

 

November 2015 Update 

The review would include 

consideration into whether an 

improved service could be 

provided by noise complaints 

associated with licensed 

premises being investigated and 

P
age 10



 

 

Item Date Action 
Officer 

responsible 

To be 
completed/ 

progressed to 
next stage 

Progress Update 

handled by the Licensing Team, 

rather than Pollution Control. 

 

3. 7 July 2015 Mobile Shredding Vehicles Director of 
Transportation 
and Public 
Realm 

Ongoing September 2015 Update 

An officer working group was to 

be established to consider the 

enforcement powers available 

against any breaches to 

legislation committed by the 

vehicles. 

 

Officers have had their first 

meeting and have been tasked 

with collecting data recorded 

relating to parking enforcement 

and environmental health.  

The next meeting scheduled for 

later in September 2015 will 

explore the legislation and 

policy. Officers will look to 

engage with the shredding 

service providers to discuss the 

issues raised by their 

operations. 

 

 

P
age 11



 

 

Item Date Action 
Officer 

responsible 

To be 
completed/ 

progressed to 
next stage 

Progress Update 

November 2015 Update 

Officers from Departments of the 

Built Environment and Markets & 

Consumer Protection met with 

one of the major operators in the 

city. The meeting was very 

positive and they wish to work 

with the City to find a solution 

that works for both the City and 

Operators and are open to 

looking at their model of 

operations. A further meeting is 

being set up to focus on some 

specific locations which have 

caused recent problems. 

 

4. 22 
September 
2015 

Air Quality as a Corporate Risk Town Clerk Complete The Audit & Risk Management 

Committee noted that Air Quality 

was being prepared to be 

included in the Corporate Risk 

Register at its meeting in 

September 2015. The addition of 

an Air Quality risk to the 

Corporate Risk Register was 

approved by the Audit & Risk 

Management Committee on 3 

P
age 12



 

 

Item Date Action 
Officer 

responsible 

To be 
completed/ 

progressed to 
next stage 

Progress Update 

November 2015. 

 

5. 22 
September 
2015 

Standards for Houses in 
Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 

Director of Port 
Health & 
Public 
Protection 

January 2016 A report seeking approval to the 

final Standards for HMOs in the 

City of London will be submitted 

to the Committee meeting in 

January 2016. 

 

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 14



Committee(s) Dated: 

Port Health and Environmental Services Committee  24 November 2015 

Subject: 
Revenue and Capital Budgets – 2016/17 

Public 
 

Report of: 
The Chamberlain 
Director of the Built Environment 
Director of Markets and Consumer Protection 
Director of Open Spaces 

 
 
For Decision 

 
 

Summary 
 

This report is the annual submission of the revenue and capital budgets overseen by 
your Committee. In particular it seeks approval to the latest revenue budget for 
2015/16 and provisional revenue budget for 2016/17, for subsequent submission to 
the Finance Committee. Details of the Committee’s draft capital budget are also 
provided. The budgets have been prepared within the resources allocated to each 
Director. The report also gives a brief summary of progress on the implementation of 
the Service Based Review.  
 
Business priorities for the forthcoming year include: 

 supporting the ongoing Service Based Reviews to deliver savings for 2016/17 
and beyond; 

Director of the Built Environment 

 continuing to deliver high quality waste and recycling collections and street 
cleansing services; 

 maximising the quality and amount of waste residents and visitors reuse and 
recycle, and promoting best practice amongst City businesses via the Clean 
City Awards Scheme; 

 engaging with City businesses through the Clean Streets Partnership; 

 running anti-littering campaigns to educate residents, visitors and businesses; 

 rolling out and supporting the City’s transport policy; 

Director of Markets and Consumer Protection 

 investigating the potential for growth through rental income at the HARC, and 
reviewing the Animal Health Service to ensure that income is maximised; 

 maximising grant funding for Air Quality projects and utilising the Community 
Infrastructure Levy to support improvements to Air Quality via future projects 

Director of Open Spaces 

 re-tendering the cemetery café and florist kiosks to ensure that a true market 
value is achieved from rents.  

 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



Table 1 
Summary Revenue Budgets 
2015/16 and 2016/17 

Original 
Budget 
2015/16 
£’000 

Latest 
Budget 
2015/16 
£’000 

Original 
Budget 
2016/17 
£’000 

Expenditure 

Income 

Support Services and Capital Charges 

20,395 

(11,664) 

5,670 

21,033 

(12,137) 

5,621 

20,649 

(12,571) 

5,370 

Total Net Expenditure 14,401 14,517 13,448 

 
Overall, the 2015/16 latest budget is £14.517m, an increase of £116,000 compared 
to the original budget. Main reasons for this increase are: 

 Approved carry-forwards of £575,000 

 Increases in staffing costs for Public Conveniences and Port Health, £180,000 

 Anticipated additional income at the Heathrow Animal Reception Centre, 
(£286,000), and the Cemetery and Crematorium, (£116,000) 

 Changes to phasing of the City Surveyor’s Additional Works Programme, 
(£286,000) 

 
The 2016/17 provisional budget is £13.448m, a decrease of (£953,000) compared to 
the original budget for 2015/16. Main reasons for this reduction are: 

 The inclusion of Service Based Review savings totalling (£639,000) for 
2016/17.  

 A net increase in pay costs due to provisions for pay award, incremental and 
career grade progression, maternity cover, agency staff and additional posts, 
£412,000  

 Anticipated additional income at the Heathrow Animal Reception Centre, 
(£245,000), London Gateway port, (£292,000), and the Cemetery and 
Crematorium, (£272,000)  

 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
Members are asked to: 
 

 Note the latest 2015/16 revenue budget. 

 Review the provisional 2016/17 revenue budget to ensure that it reflects the 
Committee’s objectives and, if so, approve the budget for submission to the 
Finance Committee. 

 Review and approve the draft capital budget; 

 Authorise the Chamberlain to revise these budgets for changes to the 
Additional Works Programme and in respect of recharges. 

 
 

Page 16



Main Report 
 

Background 
 
1. This report sets out the latest budget for 2015/16 and the proposed revenue 

budgets for 2016/17. The revenue budget management arrangements are to: 

 Provide a clear distinction between local risk, central risk and recharge 
budgets. 

 Place responsibility for budgetary control on departmental Chief Officers. 

 Apply a cash limit policy to Chief Officers’ budgets. 
 
2. The budget has been analysed by service expenditure and compared with the 

original budget for 2015/16. The budget is further analysed between: 

 Local Risk budgets – these are budgets deemed to be largely within the Chief 
Officer’s control. 

 Place responsibility for budgetary control on departmental Chief Officers for 
Central Risk budgets – these are budgets comprising specific items where a 
Chief Officer manages the underlying service, but where the eventual financial 
outturn can be strongly influenced by external factors outside of his/her control 
or are budgets of a corporate nature (e.g. interest on balances and rent 
incomes from investment properties). 

 Support Services and Capital Charges – these cover budgets for activities 
provided by one service to another. The control of these costs is exercised at 
the point where the expenditure or income first arises as local or central risk. 

 
3. The report also compares the current year’s budget with the forecast outturn. 
 
4. In the various tables, income and favourable variances are presented in brackets. 

Only significant variances (generally those greater than £50,000) have been 
commented on.  

 
Business Planning Priorities 
 
Director of the Built Environment 
 
5. The Cleansing service will be focusing on a range of business priorities during 

2016/17 to ensure we continue to direct our resources effectively. Our priorities 
will be to: 

 Continue to deliver high quality waste and recycling collections and street 
cleansing services. 

 Use our recycling action plan to maximise the quality and amount of waste 
residents and visitors reuse and recycle, whilst effectively promoting best 
practice amongst City businesses using a sustainable, self-funding Clean 
City Awards Scheme. 

Page 17



 Use our newly branded Clean Streets Partnership to ensure we engage 
with City businesses to encourage them to work with us to keep the 
Square Mile clean. 

 Direct our Street Environment Officers who will continue to run anti-littering 
campaigns to promote a strong message to educate residents, visitors and 
businesses and where necessary use enforcement legislation to deal with 
environmental crime in the Square Mile. 

 Roll out and fully support the transport policy, maintaining Fleet Operator 
Recognition Scheme (FORS) and Construction Logistics and Cycle Safety 
(CLOCS) accreditation for the City.  

 The second phase of the SBR savings agreed for public conveniences will 
be implemented. This follows the successful completion of the first phase 
during 2015. Further work will be done on the development and promotion 
of the smartphone app to improve usage of the attended toilets and to 
maximise income. 

 
Director of Markets and Consumer Protection 
 
6. Service Based Review: the service based review is proceeding as planned and 

the savings on staffing budgets will be realised by 1 April. Compulsory 
redundancies have been minimised and where these have been necessary the 
post holders have accepted the offers made to them. However, the potential 
savings from mobile working and the Port Health Accommodation review have 
not yet materialised.  
 

7. London Gateway: trade at London Gateway has continued to increase, but this 
has been at the expense of Tilbury. The increase in trade predicted by the 
operator has yet to happen, so throughput for 2015/16 is down, but due to 
changes in the fee structure income has increased.  
 

8. HARC: income from the HARC continues to increase and there is potential for 
further growth through rental income on site, and this is being investigated. 
Additionally, the Animal Health Service is under review to ensure that income is 
maximised and unnecessary expenditure is minimised.  
 

9. Environmental Health: the City Environmental Health Team continues to attract 
grant funding for Air Quality projects and there is potential for considerable 
income in this area. In addition, the Community Infrastructure Levy will support 
improvements to Air Quality via future projects.  
 

10. The Port Health & Public Protection Service has contributed towards the cross 
cutting review on income generation and new work streams continue to be 
investigated. 

 
Director of Open Spaces 
 
11. Service Based Review: the cemetery and crematorium has increased its SBR 

savings target for 2015/16 to £106k and has set a £56k target for 2016/17. The 

Page 18



service will meet its required savings by increasing income as there is a risk to 
the business from any further reductions in staffing at the site.  
 

12. Carry-forwards: a £35k carry-forward from 2014/15 was approved for the 
installation of heat recovery from mercury abatement. This project is underway 
and will be achieved by March 2016. 
 

13. Re-tendering of café and florist’s kiosks: the Superintendent is working with the 
City Surveyory to re-tender the cemetery café and florist kiosks to ensure that a 
true market value is achieved from rents.  
 

14. The Shoot: work has now commenced on this project and should be completed 
early in the new year. The successful completion of the works will ensure that 
new lawn burial provision at the cemetery will remain available for the next 15 
years.  
 

Latest Revenue Budget for 2015/16 
 
15. Overall there is an increase of £116,000 between the Committee’s original and 

latest budget for 2015/16. Table 2 overleaf summarises the movements between 
the original and latest budgets comprising this increase. A further analysis of the 
local and central revenue budgets by service is provided in Appendix 1. 

  

Page 19



 
Table 2 
Latest Revenue Budgets 
2015/16 

Local 
or 

Central 
Risk 

Original 
Budget 
2015/16 
£’000 

Latest 
Budget 
2015/16 
£’000 

Movement 
Increase/ 

(Decrease) 
£’000 

Variance 
Reference 
(Table 3) 

EXPENDITURE 
Employees 
Employees 
Premises Related Expenses 
City Surveyor – Premises 

Related Expenses 
Transport Related Expenses 
Supplies & Services 
Third Party Payments 
Capital Expenditure 
Contingencies 

 
L 
C 
L 
L 
 
L 
L 
L 
C 
L 

 
10,389 

8 
1,002 
1,305 

 
437 

1,706 
5,474 

71 
3 

 
10,642 

8 
1,195 
1,028 

 
428 

2,197 
5,531 

0 
3 

 
253 

0 
193 

(277) 
 

(8) 
491 
57 

(71) 
0 

 
1a, 4-7 
 
1b, 8 
9 
 
 
1c, 2, 3, 10 
1d, 11,13 
12 
 

Total Expenditure  20,395 21,033 638  

      

INCOME 
Government Grants 
Other Grants, Reimbursements 

and Contributions 
Customer, Client Receipts 
Transfer from Reserves 

 
L 
L 
 
L 
L 

 
0 

(149) 
 

(11,445) 
(70) 

 
(34) 

(350) 
 

(11,713) 
(40) 

 
(34) 

(201) 
 

(268) 
30 

 
3 
3 
 
1e, 14-17 

Total Income  (11,664) (12,137) (473)  

      

TOTAL LOCAL & CENTRAL 
RISK EXPENDITURE / 
(INCOME) 

  
8,731 

 
8,896 

 
165 

 

      

SUPPORT SERVICES AND 
CAPITAL CHARGES 
Central Support Services and 
Capital Charges 
Recharges within Fund 
Recharges across Funds 

  
 

4,516 
 

707 
447 

 
 

4058 
 

1,148 
415 

 
 

(458) 
 

441 
(32) 

 

Total Support Services and 
Capital Charges 

 5,670 5,621 (49)  

      

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE/ 
(INCOME) 

 14,401 14,517 116  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



16. The significant movements in the local and central budgets are explained in 
Table 3 below. 

 
Table 3 
Significant Variances between 2015/16 Original Budget and 2015/16 Latest Budget 

Reason for Variance 

Movement 
Original to Latest Budget 

2015/16 

Expenditure 
£’000 

Income 
£’000 

Net 
Movement 

£’000 

One-off items: 
 
1) Approved carry-forwards from 2014/15: 

a) Employees 
b) Premises 
c) Supplies & Services 
d) Third Party Payments 
e) Customer, Client Receipts  

 
2) Cost of document scanning at Walbrook Wharf to 

provide flood resilience 
 

3) Consultants’ fees and associated costs for Air 
Quality projects, fully funded by grant and other 
contribution income 

 
4) Allocation for contribution pay funded from the 

central pot 

 
 
 

30 
94 
71 
80 
0 
 

50 
 
 

208 
 
 
 

45 

 
 
 

0 
0 
0 
0 

300 
 

0 
 
 

(208) 

 
 
 

30 
94 
71 
80 

300 
 

50 
 
 

0 
 
 
 

45 

5) The deletion of the vacancy allowance for Port 
Health and Public Protection 

30 0 30 

6) An increase in employees at the Ports in 
preparation for the anticipated increase in trade 
from London Gateway 

126 0 126 

7) An increase in the cost of agency staff at Public 
Conveniences 

54 0 54 

8) A new rates liability for the Border Control Post at 
London Gateway port 

79 0 79 

9) Changes to phasing of the City Surveyor’s 
Additional Works Programme 

(286) 0 (286) 

10) Increased costs (including some one-off costs) 
across a number of supplies and services due to 
the increasing trade at London Gateway port 
including refuse collection, postage/couriers, 
equipment and IT  

83 0 83 

11) Provision for the cost of recycling disposal 
(including contamination) that was not required  

(64)  (64) 

12) Office space previously occupied by the Meat 
Inspector’s Office has now been vacated, and the 
associated capital charge transferred to the 
Markets Committee who are now responsible for 
the property. 

(71) 0 (71) 

13) An increase in the cost of street cleansing due 
mainly to Renew bin emptying  

75  75 

Page 21



14) An increase in the cost of waste collection for 
Open Spaces, fully recharged to that department 

52 (52) 0 

15) New income for the Clean City Awards 
membership scheme 

0 (43) (43) 

16) An increase in income at the Heathrow Animal 
Reception Centre, in line with current throughput 

0 (286) (286) 

17) An increase in income generated at the Cemetery 
and Crematorium due to price increases, enabling 
Service Based Review savings to be delivered 
ahead of schedule 

0 (116) (116) 

Minor variations (18) (68) (86) 

Total Movement 2015/16 Original to Latest Budget 638 (473) 165 

 
17. The movement in support services and capital charges between the original and 

latest budgets shown in Table 2 is primarily attributable to a comprehensive 
review of the methods of apportionment of central departments. 

 
Proposed Revenue Budget for 2015/16 
 
18. The provisional 2016/17 budgets being presented to your Committee, and under 

the control of the Directors of the Built Environment, Markets and Consumer 
Protection, and Open Spaces, have been prepared in accordance with the 
guidelines agreed by the Policy and Resources and Finance Committees. These 
include a 1.5% cash limit allowance for pay and price increases, as well as the 
previously approved Service Based Review savings. The budget has been 
prepared within the resources allocated to each Director.  

 
19. Overall there is a decrease of (£953,000) between the Committee’s 2015/16 and 

2016/17 original budgets. Table 4 overleaf summarises the movements 
comprising this increase. A further analysis of the local and central revenue 
budgets by service is provided in Appendix 2. 
 

20. A summary of the agreed Service Based Review savings for both 2015/16 and 
2016/17 is provided at Appendix 4.  

  

Page 22



Table 4 
Provisional Revenue Budgets 
2016/17 

Local 
or 

Central 
Risk 

Original 
Budget 
2015/16 
£’000 

Original 
Budget 
2016/17 
£’000 

Movement 
Increase/ 

(Decrease) 
£’000 

Variance 
Reference 
(Table 5) 

EXPENDITURE 
Employees 
Employees 
Premises Related Expenses 
City Surveyor – Premises 

Related Expenses 
Transport Related Expenses 
Supplies & Services 
Third Party Payments 
Capital Expenditure 
Contingencies 

 
L 
C 
L 
L 
 
L 
L 
L 
C 
L 

 
10,389 

8 
1,002 
1,305 

 
437 

1,706 
5,474 

71 
3 

 
10,801 

8 
898 

1,297 
 

427 
1,754 
5,461 

0 
3 

 
412 

0 
(104) 

(8) 
 

(10) 
48 

(13) 
(71) 

0 

 
1-7, 11 
 
8-9 
 
 
 
1, 6-7, 11 
6, 12 
10 

Total Expenditure  20,395 20,649 254  

      

INCOME 
Government Grants 
Other Grants, Reimbursements 

and Contributions 
Customer, Client Receipts 
Transfer from Reserves 

 
L 
L 
 
L 
L 

 
0 

(149) 
 

(11,445) 
(70) 

 
0 

(164) 
 

(12,307) 
(100) 

 
0 

(15) 
 

(862) 
(30) 

 
 
 
 
6-7, 12-16 

Total Income  (11,664) (12,571) (907)  

      

TOTAL LOCAL & CENTRAL 
RISK EXPENDITURE / 
(INCOME) 

  
8,731 

 
8,078 

 
(653) 

 

      

SUPPORT SERVICES AND 
CAPITAL CHARGES 
Central Support Services and 
Capital Charges 
Recharges within Fund 
Recharges across Funds 

  
 

4,516 
 

707 
447 

 
 

3,887 
 

1,072 
411 

 
 

(629) 
 

365 
(36) 

 

Total Support Services and 
Capital Charges 

 5,670 5,370 (300)  

      

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE/ 
(INCOME) 

 14,401 13,448 (953)  

 
  

Page 23



21. The significant movements in the local and central budgets are explained in 
Table 5 below.  

 
Table 5 
Movements between 2015/16 Original Budget and 2016/17 Original Budget 

Reason for Movement 

Movement 
2015/16 to 2016/17 

Expenditure 
£’000 

Income 
£’000 

Net 
Movement 

£’000 

1) Provision for pay award and price uplifts has been 
included in the 2016/17 budget (assumed at 
1.5%). 

309 (175) 134 

2) An increase in National Insurance as part of the 
Government’s changes to State Pension 
arrangements: from April 2016 the City 
Corporation and employees will pay the standard 
rate of NI contributions rather than the ‘contracted 
out’ rate, and employers the City will no longer 
receive the rebate that was payable on a 
proportion of earnings. 

159  159 

3) The deletion of the vacancy allowance for Port 
Health and Public Protection 

30  30 

4) An increase in employees at the Ports in 
preparation for the anticipated increase in trade 
from London Gateway 

173  173 

5) Provision for pay increases due to incremental 
and career grade progression, together with 
maternity cover 

298  298 

6) Public Convenience savings in accordance with 
the Service Based Review, offset by an increase 
in the cost of agency staff and a shortfall in 
income against the target for Royal Exchange 

(119) 35 (84) 

7) The Pest Control service will cease from 1 April 
2016 in accordance with the Service Based 
Review  

(146) 93 (53) 

8) A new rates liability for the Border Control Post at 
London Gateway port 

81  81 

9) The ‘rent’ payable for the Heathrow Animal 
Reception Centre to the Crossrail fund in relation 
to the freehold purchase of the property is no 
longer required due to the Crossrail commitment 
being fulfilled 

(200)  (200) 

10) Office space previously occupied by the Meat 
Inspector’s Office has now been vacated, and the 
associated capital charges transferred to Markets 
Committee who now manage the property 

(71)  (71) 

11) The Meat Inspector’s Office has been merged with 
City Environmental Health, with a number of posts 
deleted and non-staffing savings delivered in 
accordance with the Service Based Review. 

 
 

 (255) 

 
 
 

 
 

 (255) 

12) An increase in the cost of waste collection for 
Open Spaces, fully recharged to that department 

52 (52) 0 

13) New income for the Clean City Awards  (25) (25) 

Page 24



membership scheme 

14) An anticipated increase in income at the Heathrow 
Animal Reception Centre, in line with current 
throughput 

 (245) (245) 

15) An anticipated increase in Port Health income as 
a result of increasing trade at London Gateway 

 (292) (292) 

16) An anticipated increase in income generated at 
the Cemetery and Crematorium as a result of 
planned price increases 

 (272) (272) 

Minor variations (57) 26 (31) 

Total Movement 2015/16 to 2016/17 254 (907) (653) 

 
22. The reduction of (£300,000) in support services and capital recharges reflects the 

net impact of changes in the budgets of central departments and their 
apportionment between committees, as shown in Appendix 3.  

 
23. Budgets have provisionally been included for the 2016/17 Additional Works 

Programme based on bids considered by the Corporate Asset Sub Committee in 
June 2015. However, a decision on funding of the programme is not due to be 
made by the Resource Allocation Sub Committee until December 2015. It may 
therefore be necessary to adjust budgets to reflect the Resource Allocation Sub 
Committee’s decision. 

 
24. The main reason for the decrease in the Additional Works Programme is that the 

value of work identified in the City Surveyor’s 20 year programme for 2016/17 
has reduced in comparison with the combined value of various programmes in 
2015/16.  

 
Table 6 
City Surveyor Local Risk 

Original 
Budget 
2015/16 
£’000 

Original 
Budget 
2016/17 
£’000 

Movement 
2015/16 to 

2016/17 
£’000 

Repairs and Maintenance 
 

Additional Works Programme 
Public Conveniences 
Street Cleansing 
Heathrow Animal Reception Centre 
Cemetery and Crematorium 
 
Planned and Reactive Works 
Public Conveniences 
Heathrow Animal Reception Centre 
Port and Launches 
Meat Inspector’s Office 
Cemetery and Crematorium 

 

 
 
 

57 
4 

235 
659 

 
 

30 
122 
28 
3 

122 

 
 
 

36 
0 

193 
691 

 
 

48 
55 
18 
0 

208 

 
 
 

(21) 
(4) 

(42) 
32 

 
 

18 
(67) 
(10) 
(3) 
86 

Total Repairs and Maintenance 
1,260 1,249 (11) 

Facilities Management 
45 48 3 

Total City Surveyor 
1,305 1,297 (8) 

Page 25



25. A summary of the movement in manpower and related staff costs is shown in 
Table 7 below.  

 
Table 7 
Manpower Statement 

Original Budget 
2015/16 

Original Budget 
2016/17 

Service Manpower 
Full-time 

Equivalent 

Estimated 
Cost 
£’000 

Manpower 
Full-time 

Equivalent 

Estimated 
Cost 
£’000 

Public Conveniences 5.0 225 4.0 174 

Public Conveniences – Agency Staff - 304 - 360 

Waste Collection 9.5 525 10.0 571 

Street Cleansing 6.9 401 6.9 414 

Waste Disposal 5.6 298 5.6 310 

Transport Organisation 1.0 52 1.0 55 

Cleansing Services Management 4.4 317 4.4 337 

Built Environment Directorate 5.2 538 5.2 563 

Coroner 1.0 27 1.0 26 

City Environmental Health 25.7 1,487 24.8 1,614 

Pest Control 3.5 122 0.0 0 

Meat Inspector’s Office 3.3 247 0.0 0 

Animal Health Services 33.8 1,542 35.2 1,669 

Trading Standards 3.4 253 4.0 274 

Port and Launches 37.4 2,027 42.9 2,264 

Cemetery and Crematorium 64.0 2,032 64.0 2,178 

Total Port Health and Environmental 
Services 209.4 10,397 209.0 10,809 

 
Potential Further Budget Developments 
 
26. The provisional nature of the 2016/17 revenue budget recognises that further 

revisions may be required, particularly in relation to: 

 Decisions on funding of the Additional Works Programme by the Resource 
Allocation Sub Committee; and 

 Central and departmental recharges 
 
Forecast Outturn 2015/16 
 
27. The forecast outturn for the current year is £14.517m, in line with the latest 

budget. 
 
Draft Capital Budget 
 
28. The latest estimated costs for the Committee’s draft capital and supplementary 

revenue project budgets are summarised in Table 8 overleaf. 
  

Page 26



Table 8 – City Fund Draft Capital Budget 

Service Managed Project Exp. Pre 
01/04/15 

£’000 

2015/16 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

Cemetery and 
Crematorium 

The Shoot Burial Space 
Pre-implementation 
Implementation phase 

 
25 
0 

 
40 

546 

 
65 

546 

Cleansing Garchey vehicle replacement 23 72 95 

  48 658 706 

 
29. Pre-implementation costs comprise feasibility and option appraisal expenditure 

which has been approved in accordance with the project procedure, prior to 
authority to start work. 
 

30. The implementation phase of The Shoot burial space project is due to take place 
in the final quarter of 2015/16. The latest estimated cost of £546,000 is to be 
funded from the Maintenance of Graves Reserve and is subject to authority to 
start work. 
 

31. The Garchey vehicle replacement is a pre-owned Low Emission Zone compliant 
vehicle with purpose built Garchey (tank) system for collecting waste from the 
residential blocks at the Barbican Estate and has been funded from local risk. 
 

32. The latest Capital and Supplementary Revenue Project budgets will be presented 
to the Court of Common Council for formal approval in March 2016. 

 
Appendices 
 

 Appendix 1 – 2015/16 Latest Local and Central Risk Revenue Budget: 
Analysis by Service 

 Appendix 2 – 2016/17 Original Local and Central Risk Revenue Budget: 
Analysis by Service 

 Appendix 3 – Support Service and Capital Charges from/to Port Health and 
Environmental Services Committee 

 Appendix 4 – Service Based Review Implementation Progress Update 
 
 
Jenny Pitcairn 
Chamberlain’s Department 
T: 020 7332 1389 
E: jenny.pitcairn@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 
Simon Owen 
Chamberlain’s Department 
T: 020 7332 1358 
E: simon.owen@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 27

mailto:jenny.pitcairn@cityoflondon.gov.uk
mailto:simon.owen@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



APPENDIX 1a 
 

2015/16 Latest Budget 
Analysis by Service: Local and Central Risk Budgets 

Original Budget 
2015/16 

Latest Budget 
2015/16 

Movement 
 

Reference 
(Table 3) 

Expenditure 
£’000 

Income 
£’000 

Net 
£’000 

Expenditure 
£’000 

Income 
£’000 

Net 
£’000 

 
£’000 

 

DIRECTOR OF THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT         
Public Conveniences 
Waste Collection 
Street Cleansing 
Waste Disposal 
Transport Organisation 
Cleansing Services Management 
Built Environment Directorate 

1,100 
978 

4,220 
1,393 

303 
357 
705 

(463) 
(837) 
(412) 
(633) 
(166) 

0 
(6) 

637 
141 

3,808 
760 
137 
357 
699 

1,102 
1,026 
4,388 
1,325 

252 
431 
704 

(435) 
(637) 
(489) 
(689) 
(130) 

0 
(6) 

667 
389 

3,899 
636 
122 
431 
698 

30 
248 

91 
(124) 

(15) 
74 
(1) 

1(d),7 
1(e),14-15 

13 
(11) 

 
2 

 
TOTAL DIRECTOR OF THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT 
 

9,056 (2,517) 6,539 9,228 (2,386) 6,842 303  

DIRECTOR OF OPEN SPACES 
Cemetery and Crematorium 

 
2,665 

 
(4,279) 

 
(1,614) 

 
2,778 

 
(4,395) 

 
(1,617) 

 
(3) 

 
1(c),17 

TOTAL DIRECTOR OF OPEN SPACES 2,665 (4,279) (1,614) 2,778 (4,395) (1,617) (3)  

CITY SURVEYOR 
All Services 

 
1,305 

 
0 

 
1,305 

 
1,028 

 
0 

 
1,028 

 
(277) 

 
9 

TOTAL CITY SURVEYOR 1,305 0 1,305 1,028 0 1,028 (277)  
 

  

P
age 29



APPENDIX 1b 
 

2015/16 Latest Budget 
Analysis by Service: Local and Central Risk Budgets 

Original Budget 
2015/16 

Latest Budget 
2015/16 

Movement 
 

Reference 
(Table 3) 

Expenditure 
£’000 

Income 
£’000 

Net 
£’000 

Expenditure 
£’000 

Income 
£’000 

Net 
£’000 

 
£’000 

 

DIRECTOR OF MARKETS AND CONSUMER 
PROTECTION 
Coroner 
City Environmental Health 
Meat Inspector’s Office 
Pest Control 
Animal Health Services 
Trading Standards 
Port & Launches 

 
 

65 
1,676 

360 
146 

2,125 
284 

2,713 

 
 

0 
(96) 

(3) 
(93) 

(2,650) 
(19) 

(1,937) 

 
 

65 
1,580 

357 
53 

(525) 
265 
776 

 
 

57 
1,925 

249 
131 

2,284 
315 

3,038 

 
 

0 
(331) 

(3) 
(93) 

(2,936) 
(48) 

(1,905) 

 
 

57 
1,594 

246 
38 

(652) 
267 

1,133 

 
 

(8) 
14 

(111) 
(15) 

(127) 
2 

357 

 
 
 

1(c),3,5  
(12) 

 
1(a,b),16 

 
1(c),6,8,10 

SUBTOTAL 
Transfer from POAO Reserve (City Fund) 

7,369 
0 

(4,798) 
(70) 

2,571 
(70) 

7,999 
0 

(5,316) 
(40) 

2,683 
(40) 

183 
30 

 
 

TOTAL DIRECTOR OF MARKETS AND CONSUMER 
PROTECTION 

7,369 (4,868) 2,501 7,999 (5,356) 2,643 142  

         
COMMITTEE TOTAL 20,395 (11,664) 8,731 21,033 (12,137) 8,896 165  

 

Note – Table 3 item 4 applies across all services 

P
age 30



APPENDIX 2a 
 

2016/17 Latest Budget 
Analysis by Service: Local and Central Risk Budgets 

Original Budget 
2015/16 

Original Budget 
2016/17 

Movement 
 

Reference 
(Table 5) 

Expenditure 
£’000 

Income 
£’000 

Net 
£’000 

Expenditure 
£’000 

Income 
£’000 

Net 
£’000 

 
£’000 

 

DIRECTOR OF THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT         
Public Conveniences 
Waste Collection 
Street Cleansing 
Waste Disposal 
Transport Organisation 
Cleansing Services Management 
Built Environment Directorate 

1,100 
978 

4,220 
1,393 

303 
357 
705 

(463) 
(837) 
(412) 
(633) 
(166) 

0 
(6) 

637 
141 

3,808 
760 
137 
357 
699 

1,009 
1,073 
4,256 
1,409 

267 
382 
735 

(435) 
(924) 
(460) 
(679) 
(141) 

0 
(6) 

574 
149 

3,796 
730 
126 
382 
729 

(63) 
8 

(12) 
(30) 
(11) 

25 
30 

6 
12-13 

 
 
 
 
 

TOTAL DIRECTOR OF THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT 
 

9,056 (2,517) 6,539 9,131 (2,645) 6,486 (53)  

DIRECTOR OF OPEN SPACES 
Cemetery and Crematorium 

 
2,665 

 
(4,279) 

 
(1,614) 

 
2,916 

 
(4,615) 

 
(1,699) 

 
(85) 

 
16 

TOTAL DIRECTOR OF OPEN SPACES 2,665 (4,279) (1,614) 2,916 (4,615) (1,699) (85)  

CITY SURVEYOR 
All Services 

 
1,305 

 
0 

 
1,305 

 
1,297 

 
0 

 
1,297 

 
(8) 

 
 

TOTAL CITY SURVEYOR 1,305 0 1,305 1,297 0 1,297 (8)  
 

  

P
age 31



APPENDIX 2b 
 

 2016/17 Latest Budget 
Analysis by Service: Local and Central Risk Budgets 

Original Budget 
2015/16 

Latest Budget 
2016/17 

Movement 
 

Reference 
(Table 5) 

Expenditure 
£’000 

Income 
£’000 

Net 
£’000 

Expenditure 
£’000 

Income 
£’000 

Net 
£’000 

 
£’000 

 

DIRECTOR OF MARKETS AND CONSUMER 
PROTECTION 
Coroner 
City Environmental Health 
Meat Inspector’s Office 
Pest Control 
Animal Health Services 
Trading Standards 
Port & Launches 

 
 

65 
1,676 

360 
146 

2,125 
284 

2,713 

 
 

0 
(96) 

(3) 
(93) 

(2,650) 
(19) 

(2,007) 

 
 

65 
1,580 

357 
53 

(525) 
265 
706 

 
 

64 
1,766 

0 
0 

2,078 
306 

3,091 

 
 

0 
(99) 

0 
0 

(2,935) 
(19) 

(2,258) 

 
 

64 
1,667 

0 
0 

(857) 
287 
833 

 
 

(1) 
87 

(357) 
(53) 

(332) 
22 

127 

 
 
 

3,11  
10,11 

7 
9,14 

 
4,8,15 

TOTAL DIRECTOR OF MARKETS AND CONSUMER 
PROTECTION 

7,369 (4,868) 2,501 7,305 (5,311) 1,994 (507)  

         
COMMITTEE TOTAL 20,395 (11,664) 8,731 20,649 (12,571) 8,078 (653)  

 

Note – Variance explanations in Table 5 items 1, 2 & 5 apply to all services 

P
age 32



APPENDIX 3 
 

 
Support Service and Capital Charges from/to 

Port Health and Environmental Services Committee 

Original 
Budget 
2015/16 

£’000 

Latest  
Budget 
2015/16 

£’000 

Original 
Budget 
2016/17 

£’000 
Support Service and Capital Charges 
Admin Buildings 
City Surveyor’s Employee Recharge 
Insurance 
IS Recharges - Chamberlain 
Capital Charges 
Support Services - 
  Chamberlain (including CLPS) 
  Comptroller and City Solicitor 
  Town Clerk 
  City Surveyor 
  Other 
 

 
436 
155 
148 

1,242 
1,308 

 
713 

67 
280 
113 

54 

 
453 
162 
165 
566 

1,344 
 

637 
96 

515 
110 

0 
 

 
      418    

163  
     178      

543         
1,281        

 
627 

91 
477 
109 

0 
 

Total Support Services and Capital Charges 4,516 4,058 3,887 
 
Recharges Within Funds 
Corporate and Democratic Core – Finance Committee 
Walbrook Wharf Depot – Finance Committee  
Charity Collection Licensing - Police Committee 
Directorate Recharge – Planning and Transportation 

Committee 
 
Recharges Across Funds 
Directorate Recharge – Markets Committee 
Directorate Recharge – Open Spaces Committee 
 

 
 

(33) 
1,846 

(17) 
(1,089) 

 
 
 

321 
126 

 
 

(33) 
1,831 

(17) 
(633) 

 
 
 

301 
114 

 
 

(33) 
1,796 

(17) 
(674) 

 
 
 

292 
119 

TOTAL SUPPORT SERVICE AND CAPITAL CHARGES 5,670 5,621 5,370 
 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



APPENDIX 4 
 

Service Based Review Implementation Progress Update 
 
The table below sets out a brief summary of the agreed SBR savings proposals for 
2015/16 and 2017, including the current status. All projected savings have been 
included in the budgets presented in the report, and have already been delivered or 
are on target to be achieved.  
 

Saving 2015/16 
£’000 

2016/17 
£’000 

Status 

Built Environment    

Introduction of paid membership scheme for Clean 
City Awards 

 25 Delivered 

Cease specialised gum removal 74  Delivered 

Street cleansing provision efficiencies 179  Delivered 

Public Conveniences  120 200 Green 

Waste disposal & collection  45  Delivered 

Original Total - DBE 418 225  

Changes    

Public conveniences 27 -27 Delivered 

Projected Savings - DBE 445 198  

    

Markets & Consumer Protection    

Public Protection – Comprehensive review of 
structure and services including reduction in EHOs, 
discontinuation of Pest Control service.  

29 373 Delivered/ 
Green 

Public Protection - deployment of mobile technology  12 12 Amber 

Public Protection – office rationalisation 3  Delivered 

Public Protection - Potential to use air quality grant 
funding to contribute to salary costs  

10  Green 

Port Health - Vacating Thamesport Office 19  Delivered 

Port Health - Vacating Charlton Office 13  Green 

Port Health - Review of charges for services 9  Delivered 

Original Total – M&CP 95 385  

Changes    

Port Health - office rationalisation -2  Green 

Public Protection - deployment of mobile technology  -12  Green 

Projected Savings – M&CP 81 385  

    

Open Spaces    

Cemetery & Crematorium – additional income 66 0 Green 

Original Total – Open Spaces    

Changes    

Cemetery & Crematorium – additional income 40 56 Green 

Projected Savings – Open Spaces 106 56  

    

Total Projected Savings – PHES Committee 632 639  

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 36



Committee(s) Dated: 

Port Health and Environmental Services Committee 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
Planning and Transportation Committee 

24 November 2015 
27 November 2015 
15 December 2015 

Subject: 
City of London Air Quality Strategy 2015 – 2020 update 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Director of Markets and Consumer Protection 

For Information 
 

 
Summary 

The City of London Corporation Air Quality Strategy 2015 – 2020 was approved by 
the Port Health and Environmental Services Committee in July 2015.  

The strategy contains 10 policy areas, with 60 specific actions for improving air 
quality and reducing the impact of air pollution on public health. The strategy is an 
overarching document. The actions will be updated each year in in line with statutory 
requirements. The strategy fulfils the City of London’s statutory obligation to assist 
the Government and Mayor of London to meet European Limit Values for nitrogen 
dioxide and fine particles (PM10). It also assists with the City Corporations obligations 
under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 to improve the public health of its 
population. 

Given its high profile, and the importance placed by the City Corporation on 
improving local air quality, a request was made for an update on actions within the 
Air Quality Strategy. A table containing action against each policy area is included as 
Appendix A, with further detail being provided on specific significant actions in the 
body of this report. 

Recommendation(s) 
 
Members are asked to note the on-going action to improve air quality in the Square 
Mile and reduce the impact on health. 
 
 
 
 

Main Report 
 

Background 
 
1. Air pollution in London has both short-term and long-term effects on health. It is 

associated with cardiovascular and cardiopulmonary disease, lung cancer and 
respiratory disease. Children and the elderly are the most susceptible. A report 
published by the Mayor of London in August 2015 considered the impact of 
nitrogen dioxide on mortality across London. The research revealed that more 
Londoners have their lives cut short by air pollution than previously thought. It is 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



now thought that air pollution in London is responsible for the premature death 
of over 9,000 Londoners each year1 .  

2. The City Corporation has a statutory duty to assist the Mayor of London and the 
UK government in taking action to reduce levels of air pollution so that 
concentrations of pollutants do not exceed set limits. This duty is referred to as 
Local Air Quality Management. 

3. Since April 2013, the City Corporation has had responsibilities for improving 
public health. This was introduced by Health and Social Care Act 2012. Public 
Health England (PHE) has conducted a Health Impact Assessment of the 
effects of fine particles (PM2.5) on public health. PHE ranked air pollution as the 
5th out of 12 causes of mortality risk across London.  

4. The City of London Air Quality Strategy 2015 – 2020 outlines action that will be 
taken to fulfil the City Corporation’s statutory responsibility for Local Air Quality 
Management, and for reducing the health impact of air pollution on residents 
and workers.  

5. There are ten policy areas within the strategy. These are listed below. Appendix 
A details progress against each policy, with details of further work planned for 
the next 6 months.  

 Air quality monitoring 

 Political influence and commitment 

 Working with the Mayor of London 

 Working with other external organisations 

 Reducing emissions from transport 

 Reducing emissions from new developments 

 Leading by example 

 Recognising and rewarding good practice 

 Raising awareness 

 Air quality and public health 

 

  

                                                           
1
.  

Understanding the health impacts of air pollution in London, Kings College London, July 2015 

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/HIAinLondon_KingsReport_14072015_final_0.pdf 

 

Page 38



Current Position 
 
Specific details on actions of note 
 
6. Appendix A contains very brief information on action taken. Paragraphs 7 to 16 

provide further details on specific actions of note. 

7. Air quality is now on the Corporate Risk Register. A list of actions to 
demonstrate mitigation against the risk will be reported to the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee in March. 

8. The City Corporation has submitted a number of bids for funding from the next 
round of Mayor’s Air Quality Fund which runs from 2016 – 2019: 

 To investigate the feasibility and acceptability of different options to 
reduce emissions from diesel across the Square Mile. 

 To coordinate and roll out Cleaner Air Action Days across central 
London to deal with unnecessary vehicle engine idling. 

 To investigate the potential impact on air quality in central London of 
using standby diesel generators for ‘short term operating reserve’ in 
times of peak electricity demand, rather than just in emergency 
situations and for testing. 

In addition to the above 

 The City Corporation is part of a joint application to take action to deal 
with emissions from non road mobile machinery on construction sites. 

 The City Corporation is part of a joint application with Cheapside 
Business Alliance to reduce emissions of air pollutants in the zone. 

9. Work has commenced to look at options for establishing a Low Emission 
Neighbourhood in the area that runs from Golden Lane, down through the 
Barbican and south to include the area covered by the Cheapside Business 
Alliance. This follows engagement work with residents and businesses in the 
area, which revealed a great deal of support for action to improve air quality. 
Transport for London has awarded the City Corporation £25,000 to investigate 
options and a report with recommendations will be produced by April 2016.  

10. The City Corporation is supporting a piece of air quality research by the 
independent think tank, Policy Exchange. The work will consider a range of 
potential policy options to address London’s air quality problem. The options will 
be modelled quantitatively, and the report will identify the benefits in terms of air 
quality improvements and indicative costs. 

11. Drivers who leave engines idling continue to be educated and asked to turn off 
their vehicle engines whilst idling. Volunteers are being recruited to support this 
programme going forward, with specific idling engine action days planned for 
late November. Due to the success of the programme, the City Corporation has 

Page 39



applied for funding to roll it out across 8 central London authorities. The scheme 
has been shortlisted for the Air Quality Initiative of the National Fleet Hero’s 
Award. The City of London Corporation’s involvement in this programme was 
recently covered nationally on BBC One’s ‘The One Show’. 

12. As part of the Bank Area Improvement project, to assess the impact of traffic 
changes on local air quality, 20 tubes which monitor nitrogen dioxide have been 
placed on posts in the streets in and around Bank junction. A continuous, more 
accurate NOx analyser will be placed in Lombard Street, near to the junction in 
the New Year. Air quality monitoring is planned in this area for the next four 
years. 

13. Detailed air quality monitoring is also planned for the area covered by 
Cheapside Business Alliance. The members of the alliance have expressed an 
interest in understanding how local levels of pollution vary, and to locate any 
‘hot spot’ areas. 

14. The City Corporation continues to liaise with the Department for Environment 
Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) over air quality policy. A copy of the latest letter 
sent by the Chairman of Port Health and Environmental Services to the 
Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Environment and Rural Affairs, 
together with his response, is attached as Appendix B. A round table discussion 
with the Parliamentary Secretary of State and key City businesses that 
champion air quality has been organised for December 2015, at the Minister’s 
request. A response to Defra’s consultation on their draft Air Quality Plan has 
been submitted and is attached as Appendix C. 

15. The Mayor of London has introduced new air quality emission controls for 
equipment used on construction and demolition sites. The equipment is referred 
to as Non Road Mobile Machinery. These requirements are being enforced 
across the City via the planning process. The new legislative requirements have 
caused confusion amongst the industry so the City Corporation plans to hold an 
event in the January 2016 to explain the new controls to industry 
representatives.    

16. Air quality is being embedded into procurement policies. Addison Lee, the 
providers of the current corporate taxi contract, has agreed to use petrol hybrid 
vehicles as default for City employees, with a requirement that drivers switch 
the engines to electric mode if possible when driving in sensitive areas of the 
City.  

Beech Street 

17. Fine particles (PM10) and oxides of nitrogen (NOx) are monitored in Beech 
Street. Both the annual average and daily average limit values for PM10 are met. 
This is partly due to the washing regime detailed in paragraph 18.  The health 
based limits for both the daily average and annual average nitrogen dioxide 
(NO2) limit value are not met. The annual average NO2 level to date for 2015 is 

90g/m3, the limit value is 40g/m3. This is an increase on previous years. As 

of 6th November, 154 hours had exceeded the hourly limit of 200g/m3 in 2015, 
the limit is 18 hours in any one year. 

Page 40



18. Washing Beech Street helps to keep down levels of fine particles. Currently, 
washing takes place on Monday through to Friday between 06:30am and 
08:00am. In addition, the carriageway and footway are washed every Friday 
night. The walls, panels and signs are also washed twice per year. 

 
Corporate & Strategic Implications 
 
19. The work on air quality sits within Key Policy Priority 3 of the Corporate Plan: 

‘Engaging with London and national government on key issues of concern to 
our communities such as transport, housing and public health’ Working with the 
Mayor of London on air quality is specifically mentioned as an example. 

Implications 
 
20. Project work contained within the strategy is being funded using the following 

sources: the Mayor’s Air Quality Fund (MAQF), Local Implementation Plan 
funding and Section 106.   

21. The City Corporation has received £280,000 over three years (2013 – 2016) for 
air quality improvement work in the Square Mile and a further £100,000 over 
three years to work with Bart’s Health NHS Trust. It has also recently received 
£25,000 funding to investigate options for establishing a Low Emission 
Neighbourhood in the Square Mile. All three sets of funding are from the 
Mayor’s Air Quality Fund. 

 
Conclusion 
 
22. Improving air quality is an important priority for the City of London Corporation. 

Through its latest Air Quality Strategy, the City Corporation is involved in many 
local and strategic projects designed to improve air quality, and reduce the 
impact of air pollution on health, both in the Square Mile and across Greater 
London. 

 
Appendices 
 

 Appendix A – Progress with actions within the City of London Air Quality 
Strategy 2015 – 2020. 

 Appendix B – Letter from the Chairman of Port Health and Environmental 
Services to the Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Environment and 
Rural Affairs, together with his response. 

 Appendix C – City Corporation response to the Defra consultation on the 
national Air Quality Plan to be submitted to the European Commission. 
 

 
Background Papers 
 
The City of London Air Quality Strategy 2015 – 2020.  
 

Page 41



Ruth Calderwood 
Environmental Policy Officer 
Department of Markets and Consumer Protection 
 
T: 020 7332 1162 
E: ruth.calderwood@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 42

mailto:ruth.calderwood@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Air Quality Strategy 2015 – 2020.  Progress to date 

Air Quality Strategy Policy Action to date Planned Action – next 6 months 
1. The City Corporation will 
monitor air pollutants to assess 
compliance with air quality 
objectives, to evaluate the 
effectiveness of policies and to 
provide alerts when pollution 
levels are high. 

 Continuous NOx analysers  at Walbrook 
Wharf, Beech Street and Sir John Cass 
School 

 PM10 analysers in Beech Street and 
Upper Thames Street 

 PM2.5 analyser in Farringdon Street 

 Post mounted NO2 analysers in Liverpool 
Street and Smithfield 

 NO2 diffusion tubes in Mansell Street, 
Barbican, St Bart’s, Fleet Street 

 Detailed NO2 diffusion tube monitoring 
around the Barbican Estate, Mansell Street 
estate – Citizen Science 

 Detailed monitoring at  Sir John Cass 
School , part of school engagement 
programme 

 Install a PM2.5 analyser at Sir John 
Cass School 

 Detailed air quality monitoring 
around Bank junction 

 Detailed air quality monitoring 
around Cheapside BID 

2. The City Corporation will seek 
opportunities to influence air 
quality policy across London to 
secure lower levels of air pollution 
in the Square Mile. 

 The Chairman of PHES met Defra Minister 
for air quality, post meeting letter sent 

 The City Corporation provides the Chair for 
the London Air Quality Steering Group 

 Supporting research by Policy Exchange 
on actions required across London to meet 
air quality limit values 

 Various pieces of press coverage, evening 
standard and national papers  

 Regular reports have been submitted to 
the Town Clerk’s Supporting London 
Group which recognises the importance of 

 Round table discussion with Defra 
Minster and City business Air 
Quality Champions 

 Responding to national 
consultation on draft air quality 
action plan to be submitted to the 
European Commission 

 The issue is now on the Corporate 
Risk Register and updates will be 
provided on action taken 

 A presentation will be made to the 
Central London Forward Group to 

P
age 43



the issue  
 
 

consider how the issue can be 
tackled on a London-wide basis 

 

3.The City Corporation will work 
with the Mayor of London on air 
quality policy and action in order to 
improve air quality in both the 
Square Mile and across London 

 Responded to the Mayor of London on a 
consultation for changes to the statutory 
system Local Air Quality Management 

 Worked with the GLA to shape proposals 
for dealing with emissions from Non Road 
Mobile Machinery 

 Implement London Plan policy for air 
quality neutral developments 

 Implementing London Plan policy for 
minimising emissions from non-road 
mobile machinery 

 Implementing London plan policy for 
minimising emissions from CHP and 
biomass  

 Applied for funding from the Mayor’s Air 
Quality Fund to support air quality 
improvement work 

 Written commitment to signing up to 
Cleaner Air Borough criteria 

 

 Investigate options for minimising 
the impact of standby generators 
used for short term operating 
reserve in central London. 
Application for funding pending 

4. The City Corporation will work 
with a range of external 
organisations to encourage action 
to reduce emissions across the 
Square Mile and raise awareness 
of air quality and its potential 
impact on health. 

 Pioneered CityAir business engagement 
programme which has been rolled out 
across London 

 On-going support for City businesses, 
including recognising 20 CityAir business 
air quality champions 

 Working with Bart’s Heath NHS Trust:  
o working with clinicians to give advice to 

 Working with Cheapside BID on 
proposals for minimising impact on 
local air quality 

 Continued support for CityAir 
business air quality champions 

 Continue to work with Bart’s Health 
NHS Trust 

P
age 44



the most vulnerable patients on how to 
reduce their exposure to air pollution  

o working with Bart’s Health own fleet to 
reduce emissions through efficient 
driving behaviours   

o increasing green spaces at 3 Bart’s 
hospital sites, creating a Cleaner Air 
mural with NOx reducing paint.  

o engaging staff at Bart’s Health to switch 
from car journeys to active travel 

5. The City Corporation will seek 
opportunities for a significant 
reduction in emissions associated 
with road traffic in the Square Mile. 

 Extra street washing in Beech Street to 
reduce levels of particles 

 Assessment of air quality impact of 
changes to Aldgate Gyratory 

 20mph zone 

 Assess the impact of timed closure on 
local air quality 

 Various action to deal with idling engines: 
o Signs in hotspot areas 
o Letters sent to companies perceived to 

be causing a problem 
o CEOs ask drivers to turn engines off 
o Cleaner Air Action Days to encourage 

driver behaviour change 
o Business and construction / demolition 

site support 
 

 Feasibility study to look at options for 
significant reduction in emissions from 
diesel vehicles 

 Feasibility of establishing a Low 
Emission Neighbourhood in the City 

 Cleaner Air Action days rolled out to 
include volunteers across the City 

 Input into forthcoming Freight Strategy 

 Joint research project funded by DfT 
into transport emission reduction 

 Assess options for a trial of ‘City trees’ 

6.The City Corporation will ensure 
that new developments have a 
minimal impact on local air quality 
both during the development 
phase and when occupied. 

 Enforce City Code of Practice for reducing 
emissions from construction / demolition 

 Ensure construction / demolition sites 
comply with new GLA Non Road Mobile 
Machinery requirements 

 Update Construction Code of Practice 
to reflect best practice 

 Develop Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for Air Quality 

 Take part in King’s College London 

P
age 45



 Ensure new developments are air quality 
neutral 

 Ensure chimneys terminate at roof height 
and comply with the requirements of the 
Clean Air Act 

research project  - reducing emissions 
from construction 

 Host an event for construction and 
demolition companies to explain the 
new NRMM controls 

7.The City Corporation will assess 
the impact of its activities on local 
levels of air pollution in the Square 
Mile and take steps to minimise it 
wherever possible. 

 Ensure new vehicles are low emission 

 Work with City suppliers to encourage low 
emission vehicles  

 

 Develop a policy for air quality and 
procurement 

8.The City will promote, reward 
and disseminate best practice for 
tackling poor air quality through its 
award schemes 

 Annual Sustainable City Award for Air 
Quality 

 Annual Considerate Contractors 
Environment Award 

 Work with new partner for 
Sustainable City Award for air 
quality – Building and Engineering 
Services Association 

 

9.The City Corporation will take 
action to raise awareness amongst 
City residents and workers about 
air pollution and provide 
information on how to reduce 
exposure on days of high levels of 
pollution 

 Citizen science programmes for Barbican 
estate and Mansell Street estate residents 

 Sir John Cass School part of the GLA 
Clean Air for Schools programme 

 Develop free CityAir smartphone App 

 Provide information to Healthwatch for 
dissemination and support events 

 Update the CityAir smartphone App 

 Develop communications strategy 
for use on days of high air pollution 

10.Improving air quality and 
reducing public exposure will 
remain a key public health priority 
for the City Corporation until 
concentrations are at a level not 
considered to be harmful to health. 

 Assessment of how the urban realm can 
be designed to reduce exposure to air 
pollution 

 Report on how the health and wellbeing 
Board can assist with Air Quality Policy 

 Identify exposure hotspots with 
high footfall and high 
concentrations. 

 

P
age 46



   

Wendy Mead OBE 
Chairman 

Port Health and Environmental Services Committee 

 

 

Mr  Rory  Stewart MP 
Parliamentary Under-Secretary 
Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs 
Nobel House 
17 Smith Square 
London 
SW1P 3JR 

 Telephone 020 7332 1174 

Email wendy.mead 

@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

Date 24 September 2015 

Dear Mr Stewart 

Light duty diesel vehicle emissions 
 

 

City of London PO Box 270, Guildhall, London EC2P 2EJ 

Switchboard 020 7606 3030 

www.cityoflondon.gov.uk 

   

   
 

We at the City of London Corporation were alarmed at the news that Volkswagen has 
been installing software in 11 million diesel vehicles worldwide in order to manipulate the 
exhaust emission test for NOx. We understand that this is being investigated by the USA 
Environmental Protection Agency and that the German government has also launched an 
investigation into this issue. 

The matter of non-compliance of diesel exhaust emissions with Euro Standards has been 
known for a long time. The City of London Corporation supported research by King’s 
College London in the summers of 2012 and 2013 looking at the problem of real world 
emissions of NOx compared to Euro Standard requirements. This revealed a large 
difference in emissions of NOx from vehicles manufactured by different companies.  We 
appreciate that changes are being made to the current European emission testing regime 
to take into account real world emissions with the introduction of the Real Driving 
Emission test procedure. However we remain concerned that this new testing procedure 
could still be manipulated. 

Given the on-going non-compliance of NOx emissions from light duty diesel vehicles, we 
are very interested in investigations that will now be carried out in Europe to assess 
whether the current testing regime has been manipulated. This should include checks on 
vehicles other than those manufactured by the Volkswagen group. Could you advise if 
any specific checks will be made on light duty diesel vehicles on the road in the United 
Kingdom?  

We feel that this matter should be treated with urgency given the extent of non-
compliance with nitrogen dioxide limit values across central London, and the recent 
health evidence which attributes a high level of mortality to long term exposure to nitrogen 
dioxide. 

Page 47



Page 2 of 2 

The City of London Corporation takes the issue of improving air quality very seriously. In 
order for local policies to be effective, it is essential that there is adequate control of 
emissions of NOx from diesel vehicle exhausts. This is something that we are unable to 
influence at local level. The improved emission compliance test is unlikely to come into 
force before September 2017, so the impact of this will not be seen in central London for 
a number of years. We urge the Government to consider what additional action can be 
taken to reduce emissions from diesel vehicles in the short term and reduce the impact 
that air pollution is having on the health of Londoners. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Wendy Mead OBE 
Chairman of the Port Health and Environmental Services Committee 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Committee(s): Date(s): 

Port Health and Environmental Services Committee 24 November 2015 

Subject:  

43rd City of London Thames Fishery Research Experiment 
2015 

 

Public 

 

Report of: 

Director of Markets and Consumer Protection 

For Decision 

 
Summary 

The purpose of this report is to inform your Committee of the outcome of the 
43rd City of London Thames Fishery Research Experiment which took place on 
Saturday 10 October 2015 along the foreshore of the River Thames, downriver 
from the Port Health Lower Thames Office in Denton, Gravesend. 

 
Recommendation(s) 

Members are asked to: 
 

 Note the content of this report  

 Approve the 44th City of London Thames Fishery Research Experiment, 
to take place in 2016 

 
 

Main Report 

 
Background 

1. The Thames Fishery Research Experiment, which was first held in 1973, is an 
annual angling event held along the foreshore of the River Thames, one and a 
half miles downriver from the Port Health River Divisional Office, Denton, 
Gravesend. 

 
2. Your Committee has a long association with this event which is organised in 

collaboration with the Thames Angling Preservation Society (TAPS) and the 
Environment Agency. Financial contributions are received from the 
Fishmongers’ Company and the Port of London Authority (PLA) which 
supports the Schools’ Trophy. The Water Conservators’ Company donates a 
prize for the Biodiversity Award. 

 
3. The objective of the experiment is to establish the environmental condition of 

the Thames through the number and size of fish species caught as well as 
providing data to the Environment Agency, Thames Angling Preservation 
Society and members of the river and angling communities. 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



4. Judging is based on the greatest variety of fish caught and a scoring system 
originally devised by Dr Wheeler of the Natural History Museum which rates 
fish according to scarcity and significance in the context of a cleaner river. 

 
Current Position 

5. On Saturday 10 October 2015, 64 adult anglers representing eight teams 
competed for the Lady Howard Trophy which was awarded to the team with 
the highest score. Additionally, school teams consisting of four pupils each 
from the City of London Girls School, City of London School and Gravesend 
Grammar School competed for the School’s Trophy. Details of all the 
competing teams are shown in the summary of results at Appendix A. 

 
6. Prizes were also awarded for the largest/ best fish, best individual catch by an 

adult and by a member of a school team, and a biodiversity award for the 
overall catch which most demonstrated the continuing healthiness and 
improvement of the River Thames. 

 
7. Fishing began at 09:00 and finished at 13:00, followed by judging of the 

largest/best fish by the TAPS. Competitors and guests then gathered in a 
marquee for lunch and the presentation of awards by esteemed guests. 
Commemorative badges were presented to all newcomers by your Chairman. 

 
8. The event was attended by Alderman Sir David and Lady Valerie Howard; 

Alderman and Sheriff Charles Bowman; Sheriff Dr Christine Rigden; Mayor of 
Gravesham, Cllr John Wenban and Mayoress of Gravesham, Fiona Strike; 
Peter Hall, Master of the Water Conservators’ Company; and Julian Parkes, 
PLA Deputy Chief Harbour Master.  

 
Results 
 
9. 591 fish of 7 species were caught this year. This was higher than each of the 

previous three years (101 fish of 8 species in 2014; 99 fish of 5 species in 
2013 and 550 fish of 5 species in 2012).  

 
10. Details of the fish caught were recorded by stewards and points were 

awarded based on the recognised scoring system. 
 

Number 
Caught 

Species Minimum Size Maximum Size 

  cm inches cm inches 

8 Cod or Codling 44 17.3 60 23.6 

4 Sole 29 11.4 39 15.3 

2 Dab 22 8.6 28 11.0 

2 Eel 38 14.9 61 24.0 

14 Flounder 21 8.2 31 12.2 

17 Pouting 13 5.1 30 11.8 

537 Whiting 15 5.9 36 14.1 

 

Page 58



Feedback from stakeholders  
 
11. Representatives of the Environment Agency, the Institute of Fisheries 

Management and the recreational angling community have provided feedback 
on the Thames Fishery Research Experiment and its results. They 
acknowledge its importance especially in terms of providing valuable 
information about the environmental condition of the River Thames and in 
supporting river users. 

 
The Environment Agency 

12. This year’s results comprised a wide variety of typically caught marine and 
estuarine species. The conditions and tidal state were more favourable than 
they were in 2014 and this was potentially evident in the results. Many of the 
species follow the tidal cycle and feed much more readily as the build up to 
high water accelerates.  
 

13. It was very encouraging to see a number of Cod caught considering the mild 
weather.      

 
14. Sea bass were noticeably absent this year, but they have been present in a 

mixture of different year classes in the Environment Agency’s own fish 
surveys. 

 
15. This year did not see a massive influx of fresh water in the river, and the 

salinity data the Environment Agency recorded whilst conducting its own fish 
surveys was consistent with previous years.  

 
The Institute of Fisheries Management 

16. In 1992, the Environment Agency devised the modern Thames estuary fish 
survey programme, which became the national role model to meet the 
requirements of the Water Framework Directive. Historic data sets are 
invaluable in the context of understanding how fish ecology functions in highly 
dynamic places such as estuaries.  

 
17. Before that work began, the only historic data sets that existed in the Thames 

were from power station intakes, most now closed. The Thames Fishery 
Research Experiment, with its long and consistent history back to 1973, stood 
out as a best practice example.   

 
18. The Institute promotes and encourages more sustainable fisheries 

management. This has to be based upon a sound evidence base. Estuaries 
are some of the most productive ecosystems on the planet, supporting major 
marine fish nursery grounds as well as acting as vital migration corridors for a 
broad range of life stages and species. In that context, the Thames Fishery 
Research Experiment remains a best practice example for others to follow.  

 
The recreational angling community 

19. The 2013 and 2014 Thames Fishery Research Experiments saw poor fish 
landings, but this year there was a return to normal numbers of fish and 
species recorded, indicating that the river has indeed settled down following 

Page 59



three years of disruption from capital projects such as dredging, wind farms 
and cable laying.  

 
20. Good numbers of adult Flounders and Soles have been taken all summer 

from the shores both sides of the river and there has been a good show of 
Codling moving into the middle reaches as a reaction to the general recovery 
in North Sea Cod stocks. The Experiment provides a public confirmation of 
these recoveries and complements predictions that rivers can return to normal 
following capital works. 

 
21. The first phase of the Thames Tidal Tunnel will soon be commissioned and 

the results of future Experiments should reflect further changes in species and 
numbers of fish responding to improved water quality. This provides a positive 
impact for London and the works connected with improving the river 
environment. 

 
22. In 2012, Defra conducted a national survey on Recreational Sea Angling 

which found that in Essex alone, there are some 21,210 sea anglers. A recent 
PLA survey confirmed the huge amount of recreational activity taking place on 
the Thames. The Thames Fishery Research Experiment has the unique 
advantage of linking the recreational sector with conservation and scientific 
study.  

 
Proposals 

23. I propose that the continuation of this event, which provides valuable scientific 
information and supports the angling community, be approved by your 
Committee so that the 44th City of London Thames Fishery Research 
Experiment may take place in 2016. 

 
Corporate & Strategic Implications 

24. The City of London Thames Fishery Research Experiment encourages 
sustainability and conservation through the rules of the competition which 
require young and undersize fish to be returned immediately to the river once 
recorded. Eels are no longer to be taken away from the riverside due to the 
low numbers in the Thames. 

 
25. The continued support of your Committee has demonstrated the City’s 

commitment to supporting communities as The City Together Strategy. 
 

Implications 

26. Funding was provided through a grant of £4,700 from City’s Cash, together 
with anticipated contributions of £750 from the Fishmonger’s company and 
£200 from the Port of London Authority.  

 
27. The total cost of this year’s event was £9,149.72 and the projected cost to my 

local risk budget is therefore £3,499.72. These figures do not include staff 
costs or use of in-house resources.  

 

Page 60



Conclusion 

28. The 2015 City of London Thames Fishery Research Experiment was a 
successful event which was well supported and received by Members and 
guests. It again provided valuable data and information to associated 
organisations and the recreational angling community.  

 
Appendices 

 Appendix A – Summary of Results 

 

  
Jon Averns 
Port Health & Public Protection Director 
Department of Markets and Consumer Protection 
T: 020 7332 1603 
E: jon.averns@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 61

mailto:jon.averns@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 62



Appendix A 

 

43rd City of London Thames Fishery Research Experiment 

Summary of Results 
 

Lady Howard Trophy 

Place Team Fish Caught Points 

1 Kent Angling Team 125 660 

2 Essex County Anglers 101 511 

3 Thamesiders Angling Team 76 400 

4 PLA Angling Team 73 380 

5 Charles Stanley Angling Team 71 370 

6 Public Services Angling Team 58 295 

7 City of London Invitation Team 25 125 

8 Port Health and Environmental Services Committee 24 120 

 

Schools’ Trophy 

Place Team Fish Caught Points 

1 Gravesend Grammar School  14 70 

2 City of London School  10 50 

2 City of London School for Girls 7 35 

 

Adult Individual Competition 

Place Name Team Fish Caught Points 

1 Barry Graves Essex County Anglers 29 145 

2 Dave Mewburn Kent Angling 26 130 

3 Saul Page Kent Angling 23 120 

=4 Tim Fagg Kent Angling 20 105 

=4 Steve Swan Kent Angling 19 105 

 

Students Individual Competition 

Place Team Fish Caught Points 

1 Gravesend Grammar School 7 35 

2 Gravesend Grammar School 5 25 

3 Gravesend Grammar School 2 10 

 

Bio-diversity Award 

The catch, which in the judges’ opinion, best demonstrated the continuing 

healthiness and improvement of the River Thames was awarded to Barry Graves of 

Essex County Anglers. 

 

The Fishmongers’ Cup 

The best single fish was judged to have been a 60cm cod caught by Chris Northover 

of Thamesiders Angling Team. 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



Committee(s): Date(s): 

Port Health and Environmental Services – For Decision 

Health and Wellbeing Board – For Information 

24 November 2015 

27 November 2015 

Subject: 

City of London Contaminated Land Inspection Strategy 

2015 - 2020 

 

Public 

 

Report of: 

Director of Markets and Consumer Protection 

For Decision  

 

 

Summary 

 

The City of London Corporation published a Contaminated Land Strategy in 

2001 which was subsequently reviewed in 2004. 

The Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) produced 

additional refined statutory guidance in 2012 (the Guidance) which is legally 

binding and has been the catalyst for the revised strategy. 

A draft contaminated land inspection strategy for 2015 through to 2020 was  

produced in accordance with the Defra guidance and presented to this PHES 

committee on 10
th
 March 2015. It has been subject to consultation and the 

consultation comments included in the strategy where appropriate. 

 The strategy fulfils the City of London’s statutory obligation to set out its 

wider approach to contaminated land and its inspection duties within the 

Square Mile. 

Recommendations 

I recommend that your Committee approves the attached 

Contaminated Land Inspection Strategy subject to any comments 

received at your meeting. 

Main Report 

Background 

 

1. The City of London dates from Roman times and has a rich history. 

Although mainly non-industrial, there have been a wide range of historic 

land uses which could potentially have given rise to contamination. 

Page 65

Agenda Item 8



2. Historically, land contamination could be dealt with through the 

development management process, where development or a change of use 

of land provided the only opportunity to deal with contamination. 

3. In 2000, Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA) was 

introduced to enable the remediation of land which meets the definition of 

contaminated land, based on its current land use. 

4. The City of London Corporation as a regulator of Part 2A must: 

 Inspect the City to identify and categorise contaminated land. 

 Establish responsibility for the remediation of the land 

 Ensure that appropriate remediation takes place 

 Keep a public register detailing regulatory action taken to deal with 

contamination. 

5. In 2001, the City of London produced a Strategy outlining its approach to 

dealing with contaminated land in the ‘Square Mile’ using Part 2A. 

Key Policies and Proposals 

6. The 2001 strategy contained a timetable of activities. These were 

completed by 2004, and a review was undertaken. The review concluded 

that “no evidence of significant harm or pollution of controlled water is 

currently taking place, and there is no contaminated land in the City as 

defined by the legislation”. In light of the revised guidance this strategy 

review concludes there is scope for further ‘strategic inspection’ (desktop 

study) and documentation of the City’s exposed ground. Dependent on 

outcome of the revised ‘strategic inspection’ the City will proceed to 

‘detailed inspection’ should that become applicable and appropriate. 

7. The overall aim of this Strategy is to set out how the City of London will 

continue to address its duties under section 57 of the Environmental 

Protection Act 1990 (‘Part 2A’), in accordance with the Guidance. The 

overriding priorities of this Strategy are:  

o To protect human health 

o To protect controlled waters 

o To protect designated ecosystems 

o To prevent damage to property 

Page 66



o To prevent further contamination of land 

8. This revised Strategy ensures that the City of London’s approach continues 

to be suitable and appropriate taking into account new and revised 

guidance.  In order to address the City’s obligations, and in accordance 

with the Guidance the strategy includes: 

a) The Strategy’s aims, objectives and priorities, taking into account 

the characteristics of the City of London’s area 

b) A description of relevant aspects of the City of London 

c) The City of London’s approach to ‘strategic inspection’ of the City 

or parts of it 

d) The City of London’s approach to the prioritisation of ‘detailed 

inspection’ and remediation activity 

e) How the City’s approach under Part 2A ‘fits with its broader 

approach to dealing with land contamination’, so that sites do not 

become a capable of being determined ‘contaminated land’ under 

Part 2A in the future 

f) How the City of London will seek to minimise unnecessary 

burdens on the taxpayer, businesses and individuals. 

  

Proposals 

 

9. I propose that, subject to comments received at your meeting, the attached 

contaminated land inspection strategy is adopted.  

Financial Implications 

10. Strategic inspection (desk top study) work contained within the strategy 

will be funded using existing resources from within the Port Health and 

Public Protection Service. Assistance by way of information provision will 

be required from the Department of Open Spaces and the Department of the 

Built Environment (DBE). 

11. Should quantitative risk assessment as part of a detailed inspection be 

required costs (consultants fees / soil sampling / remediation) will be 

assessed based on the individual characteristics of the site and details of 

Page 67



land ownership in line with the core legislation and the Guidance. Costs 

and liability will be apportioned to the responsible individual or 

organisation. A further report will be made to this committee if the need for 

a quantitative investigation is identified involving a financial implication 

for the City. 

Corporate and Strategic Implications 

  

12. The work on contaminated land sits within Strategic Aim 1(SA1) of the 

Corporate Plan: ‘To support and promote The City as the world leader in 

international finance and business services’. 

Consultees 

 

13. Consultation has been carried out internally (Open Spaces, DBE, Town 

Clerks, Comptrollers) and the results of this have been considered.  

14. The strategy has undergone full external consultation e.g. Environment 

Agency, neighbouring boroughs until the 25 May 2015 and consultation 

comments have been incorporated into the final strategy where appropriate. 

15. A peer review was carried out on the strategy in September 2015 and these 

comments have been considered and included. 

Conclusion 

 

16. The City Corporation has produced an updated contaminated land 

inspection strategy designed to protect human health, controlled waters, 

designated ecosystems and prevent damage to property. Subject to 

comments received at your meeting, the contaminated land inspection 

strategy will be published. 

Background Papers:  

 

The City of London Contaminated Land Strategy 2001 and 2004 review.  

 

Appendix 1:  

 

Consultees 

 

Appendix 2:  

 

The City of London Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020. 

Page 68



Contact: 

Rachel Sambells 

0207 332 3313 

Rachel.sambells@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 69

mailto:Rachel.sambells@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 

Appendix 1 Consultees 

 

January 2014 - Internal Consultation with the following departments complete: 

 
 Environmental Enhancement 

 Legal 

 Development Management 

 Historic Environment 

 District Surveyor 

 Open Spaces 

 

 Transportation and Public Realm 

 Highways 

 Local Transportation 

 Community and Children’s Services 

 Town Clerk 

 Public Health 

 

 

March 2015: Port Health and Environmental Services Committee consultation 

approval  

 

June 2015: External Consultation with the following organisations and agencies: 

 
 Environment Agency 

 Department for Food & Rural Affairs 

 Food Standards Agency 

 English Heritage 

 Natural England 

 Greater London Authority 

 PHE 

 DWI 

 Thames Water 

 LB Camden 

 LB Westminster 

 LB Lambeth 

 

 LB Southwark 

 LB Croydon 

 LB Tower Hamlets 

 LB Hackney 

 LB Islington 

 Barbican Estate 

 Guinness Partnership  

 National grid 

 HSE 

 Temple 

 TFL 

 London Underground 

 

 

September 2015: Peer Review 

November 2015: Port Health and Environmental Services Committee approval 

sought 

 

Page 70



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

1 

 

CITY OF LONDON 

 

 

 

 

Contaminated Land  

Inspection Strategy 2015-2020 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 71



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

2 

 
This document has been prepared by the Pollution Control Team of 

the City of London Corporation Department of  

Markets and Consumer Protection. 

 

The Team can be contacted on 020 7606 3030 or by email: 

publicprotection@cityoflondon.gov.uk. 

 

 

 

Page 72



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

3 

 

Foreword 

 

In 2000, new contaminated land legislation came into force (Part 2A of the Environmental 

Protect Act 1990).  The legislation gave local authorities a number of statutory duties relating 

to the inspection and remediation of contamination.  

This draft strategy revises and updates the original 2001 strategy and its review in 2004. It 

contains information about the characteristics of the City and seeks to set out clearly the 

City‟s approach to dealing with contamination using Part 2A over the next 5 years. It also 

includes the City‟s wider approach to considering and regulating contaminated land through 

development management, whilst reflecting the uniqueness of the Square Mile. 

The strategy has been written to reflect the revised Statutory Guidance issued by Defra in 

April 2012, which provides clarity to regulators and reflects the experience since Part 2A was 

introduced. As well as fulfilling our statutory obligations to have a targeted approach, rather 

than a blanket approach, it is intended that this draft strategy will be a useful resource for 

developers and their consultants.  

The strategy supports other City policies and strategies and it is intended to support the City‟s 

Code of Practice for Deconstruction and Construction, which ensures the potential negative 

health implications of developments are mitigated. 

I hope you will find this strategy informative and useful. 

 

Wendy Mead CC  

Chairman of Port Health and Environmental Services Committee 

 

Page 73



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

4 

 

Contents 

FOREWORD ..................................................................................................................................................... 3 

CONTENTS ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ..................................................................................................................................... 6 

SECTION 1: BACKGROUND TO THE REGULATION OF LAND CONTAMINATION ................................................. 8 

AND THE CITY’S APPROACH ............................................................................................................................. 8 

1.0 BACKGROUND TO DEALING WITH CONTAMINATION .............................................................................................. 8 

1.1 ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT 1990 – PART 2A - LEGISLATIVE REQUIREMENTS ................................................. 8 

1.2 PART 2A DEFINITION OF CONTAMINATED LAND .................................................................................................. 9 

1.3 POLLUTANT LINKAGE ...................................................................................................................................... 9 

1.4 CATEGORIES OF LAND .................................................................................................................................. 10 

1.5 ROLE OF THE ENVIRONMENT AGENCY .............................................................................................................. 11 

1.6 DEFRA GUIDANCE 2012 ............................................................................................................................... 11 

1.7 THE ENVIRONMENTAL DAMAGE (PREVENTION AND REMEDIATION) REGULATIONS 2015 .......................................... 12 

1.8 INTRODUCTION TO THE CITY OF LONDON STRATEGY ........................................................................................... 12 

1.9 THE CITY’S STRATEGY AIMS, OBJECTIVES AND PRIORITIES ................................................................................... 13 

SECTION 2: CHARACTERISTICS OF THE CITY OF LONDON ................................................................................ 16 

2.0 INTRODUCTION TO THE CITY .......................................................................................................................... 16 

2.1 POTENTIAL RECEPTORS WITHIN THE CITY OF LONDON ......................................................................................... 16 

2.2 HUMAN AND ECOLOGICAL RECEPTORS IN THE CITY ............................................................................................ 17 

2.3 BUILDINGS AS A RECEPTOR (ARCHAEOLOGY AND BUILT HERITAGE) ....................................................................... 19 

2.4 CONTROLLED WATERS ................................................................................................................................. 20 

2.5 LIAISON WITH THE EA .................................................................................................................................. 22 

2.6 POTENTIAL SOURCES OF CONTAMINATION - HISTORIC AND CURRENT LAND USE ..................................................... 23 

2.7 BACKGROUND LEVELS OF CONTAMINATION ....................................................................................................... 28 

2.8 SUMMARY ................................................................................................................................................. 29 

SECTION 3: CITY OF LONDON INSPECTION STRATEGY .................................................................................... 30 

3.0 BACKGROUND TO THE CITY OF LONDON’S INSPECTION STRATEGY ......................................................................... 30 

3.1 STRATEGIC INSPECTION – (STAGES 1-4) ........................................................................................................... 31 

3.2 DETAILED INSPECTION (STAGES 5 AND 6) ......................................................................................................... 34 

3.3 SITE CATEGORISATION (DEFRA GUIDANCE - CHAPTER 4) ..................................................................................... 35 

Page 74



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

5 

3.4 DETERMINATION OF CONTAMINATED LAND (DEFRA GUIDANCE - SECTION 5) ......................................................... 35 

3.5 SPECIAL SITES ............................................................................................................................................. 36 

3.6 REMEDIATION (DEFRA GUIDANCE - SECTION 6) ................................................................................................ 36 

3.7 LIABILITY AND RECOVERING COSTS (SECTION 7 AND 8 OF THE GUIDANCE) .............................................................. 37 

3.8 MINIMISING BURDEN ................................................................................................................................... 37 

3.9 OVERVIEW OF STRATEGIC AND DETAILED ASSESSMENT PROCESS ........................................................................... 39 

SECTION 4: CITY OF LONDON’S BROADER APPROACH TO LAND CONTAMINATION ................................... 40 

4.0 INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................................... 40 

4.1 OTHER LEGISLATION .................................................................................................................................... 40 

4.2 BUILDING CONTROL AND BUILDING REGULATIONS 2010 (AS AMENDED) ............................................................... 42 

4.3 TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 .................................................................................................... 42 

4.4 CODE OF PRACTICE FOR DECONSTRUCTION AND CONSTRUCTION AND SPD ............................................................ 43 

4.5 ENVIRONMENT AGENCY ............................................................................................................................... 43 

4.6 PROVIDING INFORMATION REGARDING CONTAMINATION IN THE CITY.................................................................... 43 

REFERENCES ........................................................................................................................................................ 45 

APPENDIX A - DEFINITION OF HARM, SIGNIFICANT HARM AND CURRENT USE ..................................................................... 46 

APPENDIX B – GREEN OPEN SPACES AND SCHEDULED ANCIENT MONUMENTS ................................................................. 47 

APPENDIX C - BACKGROUND LEVEL OF CONTAMINANTS ................................................................................................ 48 

APPENDIX D – GENERAL ASSESSMENT CRITERIA, ........................................................................................................ 49 

CATEGORY 4 SCREENING LEVELS AND SOIL GUIDELINE VALUES ...................................................................................... 49 

APPENDIX E - BUILDING CONTROL REGULATIONS 2010 (PART C) .................................................................................. 51 

APPENDIX F - NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK ............................................................................................. 53 

APPENDIX G CONSULTEES ...................................................................................................................................... 55 

 
 
 
 

Page 75



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

6 

 

Executive Summary 

 

Historically, land contamination could be dealt with through the development management 

process, where development or a change of use of land provided the opportunity to deal with 

contamination. In 2000, Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA) was 

introduced. The legislation gave local authorities a number of statutory duties relating to the 

inspection and remediation of contamination, based on its current land use, i.e. it facilitates 

remediation outside the development and management process or other legislation. Other 

legislation continues to be applicable and may still be used and take precedence over Part 2A, 

for example approved document C of the Building Regulations 2010 (paragraphs 0.90, 0.10 

and 0.11). 

 

The City of London Corporation as a regulator of Part 2A must: 

 Inspect the City to identify and categorise contaminated land 

 Establish responsibility for the remediation of the land 

 Ensure that appropriate remediation takes place 

 Keep a public register detailing regulatory action taken to deal with contamination 

 

In 2001, the City of London produced a Strategy outlining its approach to dealing with 

contaminated land in the „Square Mile‟ using Part 2A. This document supersedes the 2001 

Strategy and 2004 review, taking into the account Defra Guidance produced in 2012 („the 

Guidance‟). 

 

The Guidance recognises two types of inspection: „strategic inspection‟ (desk-top study) and 

„detailed inspection‟ (should it be required) to establish if the „contaminant-pathway-

receptor‟ models exist. This Strategy considers the City‟s approach to these two types of 

inspection. This Strategy also details the City‟s broader approach to contaminated land 

through the development management process. 

 

The high concentration of buildings and hard cover means the direct contact with soil and 

inhalation of soil dust pathways will be largely interrupted. It is further considered that some 

Page 76



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

7 

contamination will have been removed as a result of the development management process 

(to form basements etc.). 

 

The City is not aware of any changes in circumstance since the original Strategy and review; 

however, in light of the revised guidance, this Strategy review concludes there is scope for 

further „strategic inspection‟ (desktop study) to provide a more robust assessment in 

accordance with the Guidance.   

 

It is noted that the strategic inspection may identify sites requiring more detailed inspection. 

Any decision to progress sites to the detailed inspection stage would be taken following a 

prioritised approach in accordance with the published Guidance and internal resources 

available to manage the process.  

Page 77



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

8 

 

Section 1: Background to the regulation of Land Contamination  

and the City’s approach 

 

1.0 Background to dealing with contamination 

Development or a change of land use provides an opportunity to deal with land 

contamination. Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 („EPA‟) was introduced in 

2000 to enable the remediation of land which meets the definition of contaminated land, 

based on its current land use, and outside the development management process. Other 

legislation continues to be applicable and may still be used and may take precedence over 

Part 2A: 

 Building Regulations 2010 (as amended) 

 Environmental Permitting Regulations 2010 

 Environmental Damage (Prevention and Remediation) Regulations 2009 

 Water Framework Directive 2000 

 Private Water Supply Regulations 1999 

 Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999 

 Water Resources Act 1991 

 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

 Radioactive Substances Act 1993 

 Waste Management Licencing (Part II of the Environmental Protection Act 1990) 

 Statutory Nuisance (Part III of the Environmental Protection Act 1990) 

 

As the Part 2A regime is one of several ways in which land contamination can be addressed, 

the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) Guidance („the Guidance‟) 

published in April 2012 states that “enforcing authorities should seek to use Part 2A only 

where no appropriate alternative solution exists” (Defra Guidance 1.5).  

 

1.1 Environmental Protection Act 1990 – Part 2A - Legislative Requirements 

Section 57 of the Environment Act 1995 created Part 2A of the EPA and together with the 

Contaminated Land (England) Regulations 2006 is the legislative framework for the 

Page 78

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/contaminated-land-statutory-guidance


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

9 

contaminated land regime. The regime places responsibility on the City of London as a 

regulator to: 

 Identify any contaminated land within its boundaries (EPA s78B) 

 Require remediation of contaminated land (EPA s78E – unless deemed a „Special 

Site‟, in which case the Environment Agency becomes the enforcing authority) 

 Establish responsibility for the remediation of contaminated land (EPA s78F) 

 Ensure that any necessary remediation action takes place, either by agreement or 

enforcement action 

 Determine liability for the costs of any remediation 

 Maintain a public register of contaminated land matters as may be prescribed (s78R of 

EPA 1990). 

 

1.2 Part 2A Definition of Contaminated Land 

Although a site may contain contaminants, it will not necessarily be categorised as 

„contaminated land‟ under Part 2A. This decision is based on the potential which any 

contamination has to cause harm, under the current use of the land. The EPA s78A (2) 

defines „contaminated land‟ as …. any land which appears to the local authority in whose 

area the land is situated to be in such a condition, by reason of substances in, on or under the 

land, that (a) significant harm is being caused or there is a significant possibility of such 

harm being caused; or (b) significant pollution of controlled waters is being caused, or 

there is a significant possibility of such pollution being caused. 

 

The terms „current use‟, „harm‟, ‟significant harm‟ and „significant possibility of such harm‟ 

(SPOSH) have specific meanings explored in the statutory Guidance issued by Defra and 

summarised in Appendix A. 

 

1.3 Pollutant Linkage 

The Guidance defines what is meant by a „contaminant linkage‟. This linkage must occur for 

the land to be defined as „contaminated land‟ under Part 2A and all three elements must exist 

in relation to a particular area of land: 

1. A contaminant – defined as „a substance which is in, on or under the land and which 

has the potential to cause significant harm to a relevant receptor, or to cause 

Page 79



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

10 

significant pollution of controlled waters‟. There must be evidence of the actual 

presence of contaminants. 

2. A pathway – defined as „a route by which a receptor is or might be affected by a 

contaminant‟. 

3. A receptor – defined as „something that could be adversely affected by a 

contaminant, for example a person, an organism, an ecosystem, property or 

controlled waters‟. 

 

1.4 Categories of Land 

It is the responsibility of the City of London Corporation (the City of London) to decide, in 

accordance with the Guidance, whether land in the City is „contaminated land‟. Where the 

potential receptors are humans or controlled waters, the Guidance requires the City of 

London to use 4 categorisations: 

 

Categories 1 and 2 „encompass land which is capable of being determined as contaminated 

land on grounds of significant possibility of significant harm to human health‟, or „cases 

where the authority considers that a significant possibility of significant pollution of 

controlled water exists‟. 

 

Categories 3 and 4 „encompass land which is not capable of being determined on such 

grounds‟ (human health), or „cases where the authority considers that a significant 

possibility of such pollution does not exist‟. 

 

Part 2A makes this decision a “positive legal test”, and so the starting assumption should be 

that land is not contaminated unless there is reason to consider otherwise (rather than 

assuming that all land is contaminated and then demonstrating that it is not). 

 

Where the potential receptors are ecological systems or property, the Guidance does not 

require 4 categorisations. It does however clarify what receptor types are relevant, and what 

should be considered „significant harm‟ or „significant possibility of significant harm‟. 

 

Page 80



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

11 

1.5 Role of the Environment Agency 

When contaminated land is identified, the Local Authority must ensure it is managed and 

dealt with in an appropriate manner, other agencies and authorities can also have a role. In 

certain cases, the Environment Agency (EA) will provide site-specific guidance to Local 

Authorities on land contaminated and assist in identifying contaminated land where there is a 

risk of pollution of controlled water.  

 

The EA can take over as the enforcing authority where the Local Authority identifies a 

„Special Site‟, as defined in the legislation. These can be described as sites which are likely to 

present the greatest threat to controlled waters, health or the environment. 

 

1.6 Defra Guidance 2012 

Section 78B (2) of the EPA 1990 states that in performing functions under s78B (1) a Local 

Authority shall act in accordance with any Guidance. The Guidance is therefore legally 

binding on enforcing authorities.  

 

The revised Guidance sets out a number of changes, reflecting national experience since the 

introduction of Part 2A in 2000. The main legislative requirements have not changed and the 

requirement for local authorities to identify contaminated land still exists. There are 

requirements for how Local Authorities should carry out their inspection duties, and this 

Strategy is designed to address those requirements. The Guidance states Local Authorities 

should: 

 Take a „strategic approach‟ to carrying out their inspection duties (Defra Guidance 

2.3) and this approach should be „rational, ordered and efficient‟, and should „reflect 

local circumstances‟. Where there is a reasonable possibility that a significant 

contamination linkage (as defined) exists, move to a more „detailed inspection‟, 

giving priority to particular areas of land that are most likely to pose the greatest risk 

to human health or the environment. The Guidance provides for the categorisation of 

land into one of the four categories following „detailed inspection‟. 

 The approach taken should be set out as a written strategy, formally adopted and 

published to a timescale to be set by the authority. Strategies produced in accordance 

with the previous Guidance should be updated or replaced to reflect the current 

Guidance (Defra Guidance 2.4).  

Page 81



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

12 

 The written strategy should be kept under periodic review to ensure it remains up to 

date, at a frequency that the authority deems appropriate (Defra Guidance 2.5). 

 The Strategy should include those items detailed in sections 2.6 (a-f) of the Guidance. 

Those items set the framework for this document and the next five years (see sections 

2 and 4 and subsections 1.9, 3.1, 3.2 and 3.8). 

 

The City of London will adopt the inspection strategy detailed in Section 3 of this Strategy. If 

required, the City of London would then, in accordance with the Guidance and this Strategy, 

determine whether the site is contaminated land. 

 

1.7 The Environmental Damage (Prevention and Remediation) Regulations 2015 

The Environmental Damage Regulations replace Part 2A of the Environmental Protection 

Act 1990 for any incidence of contamination, or environmental damage to land, controlled 

waters, etc. which take place on or after 1 March 2009. In accordance with the regulations, 

the City of London provides an annual return regarding incidents. Since the introduction of 

the initial regulations in 2009, no incidents have been declared. 

 

1.8 Introduction to the City of London Strategy  

The City published a Contaminated Land Strategy in May 2001. This Strategy was adopted 

by the Port Health and Environmental Services Committee in July 2001. It set out the City‟s 

duties and responsibilities and the approach it takes in relation to contaminated land. The 

main objectives of the strategy were to: 

a) Identify and record all sensitive receptors; 

b) Identify and record sites that have the potential to be contaminated; 

c) Assess whether a pathway exists between the potential contaminant and receptor; 

d) If a potential pathway exists carry out a further detailed inspection of the site. 

 

The 2001 strategy contained a timetable of activities. These were completed by 2004, and a 

review was undertaken. In light of the revised guidance this strategy review concludes there 

is scope for further „strategic inspection‟ (desktop study). Depending on the outcome of the 

revised „strategic inspection‟, the City may need to proceed to „detailed inspection‟ should 

that become applicable and appropriate. 

 

Page 82



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

13 

This revised Strategy ensures that the City of London‟s approach to fulfilling its statutory 

duties and the management of contaminated land continues to be suitable and appropriate.  In 

order to address the City‟s obligations, paragraph 2.6 of the Guidance lists what a strategy 

should include: 

a) The Strategy‟s aims, objectives and priorities, taking into account the characteristics 

of the City of London‟s area 

b) A description of relevant aspects of the City of London 

c) The City of London‟s approach to „strategic inspection‟ of the City or parts of it 

d) The City of London‟s approach to the prioritisation of „detailed inspection‟ and 

remediation activity 

e) How the City‟s approach under Part 2A „fits with its broader approach to dealing with 

land contamination‟, so that sites do not become a capable of being determined 

„contaminated land‟ under Part 2A in the future 

f) How the City of London will seek to minimise unnecessary burdens on the taxpayer, 

businesses and individuals. 

 

This Strategy is structured to address the items specified above.  Consultation has been 

undertaken (as detailed in Appendix G) and Committee approval has been sought. This 

Strategy is published online. 

 

1.9 The City’s Strategy Aims, Objectives and Priorities 

 

 Defra Guidance 2.6(a): The local Authority should include in its Strategy its aims, objectives 

and priorities, taking into account the characteristics of its area. 

 

The overall aim of this Strategy is to set out how the City of London will continue to address 

its duties under section 57 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 („Part 2A‟), in 

accordance with the Guidance. The overriding priorities of this Strategy are: 

 To protect human health 

 To protect controlled waters 

 To protect designated ecosystems 

 To prevent damage to property 

 To prevent further contamination of land 

Page 83



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

14 

 

The City of London has a number of strategies and plans which support and require the 

Contaminated Land Strategy to achieve their aims. These documents can be found on the 

City of London website. 

 

1.9.1 The City’s Corporate Plan: 

The City of London‟s Corporate Plan is supported by a series of other plans and is the City‟s 

main strategic planning document which provides a framework for the delivery of services 

and is a clear statement of the City‟s Vision, Strategic Aims and Key Policy Priorities (KPP). 

The work on contaminated land sits within Strategic Aim 1 (SA1) of the Corporate Plan: „To 

support and promote The City as the world leader in international finance and business 

services‟. KPP1 is „Supporting and promoting the international and domestic financial and 

business sector‟. To do this the City encourages quality developments in the built 

environment that support the Square Mile as a location for financial and business services and 

as a place to live and work. 

 

1.9.2 The City Together Strategy: 

The City Together Strategy is the sustainable community strategy for the Square Mile. It 

contains five themes, for the City, including: to protect, promote and enhance our 

environment. The City does this by continuing to minimise noise, land and water pollution 

and improve air quality where this is possible. The Contaminated Land Strategy supports this 

theme (together with the Open Spaces Strategy). It also crosses into the theme of ensuring the 

City is safer and stronger, by continuing to ensure the City is a safe place to do business, 

work, visit, and live. Under the theme of Promoting Opportunity, the City of London has an 

adopted Local Plan. Policy DM15.8 in the Plan deals with contaminated land: 

 

Policy DM 15.8 Contaminated Land and Water Quality 

Where development involves ground works or the creation of open spaces, developers will be 

expected to carry out a detailed site investigation to establish whether the site is contaminated 

and to determine the potential for pollution of the water environment or harm to human 

health and non-human receptors. Suitable mitigation must be identified to remediate any 

contaminated land and prevent potential adverse impacts of the development on human and 

non-human receptors, land or water quality. 

Page 84

http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/about-the-city/how-we-work/corporate-governance/Pages/strategies-and-plans.aspx
http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/about-the-city/working-with-and-for-others/Pages/local-strategic-partnership.aspx


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

15 

 

1.9.3 Health and Wellbeing Strategy: 

The contaminated land strategy also supports the Health and Wellbeing Strategy‟s 

overarching aims to promote the health and wellbeing of residents and workers in the City. 

 

Page 85



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

16 

Section 2: Characteristics of the City of London 

 

 

Defra Guidance 2.6(b): A description of the relevant aspects of the City of London 

 

2.0 Introduction to the City 

The City of London is located in the historic heart of London, to the north of the Thames. It 

provides local authority services for a relatively small area, known colloquially as the „Square 

Mile‟. It has approximately 9,000 residents and a working population of approximately 

400,000. It is a commercial area with a rich history and iconic London landmarks, attracting 

thousands of tourists per annum. The City of London Corporation also owns, leases and 

manages property and land within and outside the Square Mile. 

 

2.1 Potential receptors within the City of London 

The Guidance specifies sensitive receptors which should be protected from harm. These 

sensitive receptors are then considered during the inspection prioritisation process. The 

sensitive receptors are summarised below (tables 1 and 2 of the Guidance provides more 

detail). 

 

Humans / Ecological Systems 

 Open spaces (including recreational / parks / playing fields)  

 Allotments  

 Residential with and without Gardens  

 Sensitive receptors: (schools / Nurseries / Playgrounds / Hospitals / Surgeries with 

soft landscaping)  

 SSSIs  

 Nature Reserve (National / Local) 

 

Controlled Waters 

 private drinking water abstraction  

 surface water  

 source protection zones  

 groundwater 

Property (buildings) 
 

 Listed Buildings 

 Conservation areas 

 Ancient monuments 

 

Page 86



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

17 

2.2 Human and Ecological Receptors in the City 

The distribution of residential accommodation, at the time of publishing, is shown on the 

following map: 

 

  

© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100023243. 

 

Map 1: City of London residential properties, including hotels 

 

The majority of residential properties in the City are flats and are concentrated in particular 

areas: The Barbican Estate, Golden Lane Estate, Middlesex Street Estate and Mansell Street. 

Much of the open space around the estates is hard-standing, with raised planter beds; pockets 

of managed green open space also exist in some areas. 

 

There are a number of properties within the City which are detached, semidetached and 

terraced. Some of these properties and flats have private and communal gardens which would 

create a direct contact or inhalation pathway for exposure if contaminants are present.  

 

Page 87



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

18 

There are a number of managed public spaces and gardens throughout the City which could 

be utilised by the 400,000 worker population and residents; these are shown below in Map 2 

and on the City‟s interactive map.  Some of these areas contain soft landscaping and others 

are hard standing and contain raised planter beds. There are no nature reserves or SSSIs 

within the Square Mile. See Appendix B for a summary of the City‟s green open spaces. 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100023243. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Map 2: City of London Open Spaces 

 

Page 88

http://www.mapping2.cityoflondon.gov.uk/public/compass.html?layersHVA=Transport:h;Political_boundaries:h;Driving_and_cycling:h;Planning:ahhhhhhhhhhhhhhh;General_City_Information:h;conservation:h;Environmental_Information:h;Winter_Maintenance:h;Partnership_Mapping:h;City_Property_Advisory_Team:h;Sculpture_in_the_City:h;Recycling_and_Cleansing:h;City_and_Community_Toilets:H;St_Pauls_Heights:H;Public_Access:H;Hampstead_Heath_Ponds_Project:H
http://www.mapping2.cityoflondon.gov.uk/public/compass.html?layersHVA=Transport:h;Political_boundaries:h;Driving_and_cycling:h;Planning:ahhhhhhhhhhhhhhh;General_City_Information:h;conservation:h;Environmental_Information:h;Winter_Maintenance:h;Partnership_Mapping:h;City_Property_Advisory_Team:h;Sculpture_in_the_City:h;Recycling_and_Cleansing:h;City_and_Community_Toilets:H;St_Pauls_Heights:H;Public_Access:H;Hampstead_Heath_Ponds_Project:H


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

19 

2.3 Buildings as a Receptor (Archaeology and Built Heritage) 

The City has a rich historical heritage and land use and there are more than six hundred listed 

buildings and other structures in the City. Map 3 which follows is an interactive map on the 

City of London website and details conservation areas, listed buildings and scheduled ancient 

monuments within the Square Mile. It demonstrates that much of the City is covered in areas 

which are protected. See Appendix B for the list of scheduled ancient monuments. 

 

 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100023243. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Map 3: City of London Listed Buildings and Structures 

  

Page 89

http://www.mapping2.cityoflondon.gov.uk/public/compass.html?layersHVA=Transport:h;Political_boundaries:h;Driving_and_cycling:h;Planning:h;General_City_Information:h;conservation:aaaa;Environmental_Information:h;Winter_Maintenance:h;Partnership_Mapping:h;City_Property_Advisory_Team:h;Sculpture_in_the_City:h;Recycling_and_Cleansing:h;City_and_Community_Toilets:H;St_Pauls_Heights:H;Public_Access:H;Hampstead_Heath_Ponds_Project:H
http://www.mapping2.cityoflondon.gov.uk/public/compass.html?layersHVA=Transport:h;Political_boundaries:h;Driving_and_cycling:h;Planning:h;General_City_Information:h;conservation:aaaa;Environmental_Information:h;Winter_Maintenance:h;Partnership_Mapping:h;City_Property_Advisory_Team:h;Sculpture_in_the_City:h;Recycling_and_Cleansing:h;City_and_Community_Toilets:H;St_Pauls_Heights:H;Public_Access:H;Hampstead_Heath_Ponds_Project:H


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

20 

The City of London is the historic core from which the rest of London developed. All of the 

City is considered to have archaeological potential except where there is evidence that 

remains have been lost and archaeology is a material consideration of the planning process. 

The archaeological potential of a site is considered as part of development management 

process.  

 

Where a development affects a monument or archaeological remains, assessment and 

evaluation are required which may lead to modifications to a development to avoid 

archaeology. Any protection measures, investigation and recording would be required as a 

condition of the planning permission. This would ensure the preservation in-situ of important 

archaeological remains and that a record of the remains is made in a programme of 

archaeological work and recording carried out as an integrated part of the 

development. Contaminated land matters are also a material consideration of the development 

management process and are dealt with in parallel to archaeology matters. 

 

2.4 Controlled Waters 

2.4.1 Geology, hydrology and hydrogeology 

The superficial geology across the City includes a mixture of alluvium, silts and River 

Terrace Deposits. The thickness of the gravels and alluvium varies across the City and during 

the development management process, the excavation and construction of basements has 

resulted in the removal of superficial deposits in many areas. 

 

The City‟s Strategic Flood Risk Assessmnet demonstrates that the solid geology of the City 

of London comprises London Clay overlying the Lambeth Group, a mixture of sands, silts 

and clays. The Thanet Sand Formation and Upper Chalk underlie the Lambeth group. 

Borehole logs indicate the London Clay is approximately 35m thick and the Upper Chalk is 

encountered at approximately 60-70m below ground level. In addition to the creation of 

basements in the superficial geology, there has also been an increase in the number of 

developments where the bored pile foundations extend down to the Thanet Sands.  

 

There are two historic rivers flowing through the City, The Fleet and the Walbrook. Both 

rivers are now canalised and are incorporated into the sewer system, reducing the risk from 

contamination. 

Page 90



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

21 

An aquifer is defined by the EA as „underground layers of water-bearing permeable rock or 

drift deposits from which groundwater can be extracted‟. As well as maintaining the flow in 

some rivers, the EA states that groundwater provides a third of England and Wales‟ drinking 

water and the EA ensure it remains protected from contamination. Groundwater vulnerability 

zones are classified by the EA as high, intermediate or low vulnerability. More detail 

regarding aquifers can be found on the EA website.  

 

With reference to the aquifer and groundwater vulnerability data on the EA website, much of 

the City is classified as having a „Secondary A aquifer (High)‟ status (formally minor 

aquifer). A „Secondary A aquifer‟ is defined as “permeable layers capable of supporting 

water supplies at a local rather than strategic scale, and in some cases forming an important 

source of base flow to rivers”. The classification of much of the City as „High‟ vulnerability 

means that ensuring contamination in soil which could find its way into the surface 

groundwater and contaminate rivers should remain a priority through the development 

management process. 

 

With respect to the Secondary A aquifer, where groundwater is in hydraulic continuity with 

the River Thames, where contamination is found the EA would expect the developer to 

investigate, assess and if appropriate remediate.  Please see the EA‟s Groundwater Protection: 

Principles and Practice (in particular part J) for further information. 

 

The risk to groundwater beneath the London Clay is reduced due to the significant thickness 

of London Clay underlying the City.  Where the London Clay is fully penetrated (for example 

high buildings requiring deep piled foundations and/or ground source heat pump 

installations), the risk to the groundwater beneath the London Clay is increased. 

 

2.4.2 Groundwater Source Protection Zones 

To ensure groundwater water is safe to drink, the EA define Source Protection Zones (SPZ) 

and have done so for 2000 groundwater sources (wells, boreholes and springs) used for 

public drinking water supply. 

 

By defining the zone, the EA monitor the risk of contamination from any activities that might 

cause pollution in those areas. The closer the activity is, the greater the risk. Pollution 

Page 91

http://apps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/117020.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/groundwater-protection-principles-and-practice-gp3
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/groundwater-protection-principles-and-practice-gp3


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

22 

prevention measures are put in place and activities of the potential pollution source are 

monitored. 

Within the City of London boundary there are no SPZs. Further to this with reference the EA 

on-line data, the following areas and zone are not present in the City of London: 

 Surface Water Drinking Water Protected Area 

 Surface Water Safeguard Zone 

 Groundwater Drinking Water Proetced Area 

 Groundwater Safeguard Zones 

 Water Protection Areas 

 

 

2.4.3 Groundwater abstraction and Private Water Supplies 

Numerous premises within the City are licenced by the EA to abstract groundwater. At the 

time of writing, none of the identified premises use treated groundwater for drinking 

purposes, but some sites use the water for domestic puposes (e.g. flushing toilets). The 

location and information relating to the private water supplies in the City is periodically 

reviewed and updated and is shown on the City‟s online interactive map. 

The impact of ground water contamination is reduced due to the lack of SPZ‟s in the City or 

premises which use borehole water for drinking purposes. Notwithstanding this, there is still 

a requirement to ensure groundwater is protected. 

 

2.5 Liaison with the EA 

There is guidance with regard to which planning applications the EA wish to be consulted 

upon; this includes those which relate to contamination from past or future land use which 

may affect groundwater.  

 

The EA would automatically be consulted upon all developments which are large enough to 

require an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and the EA would potentially use an 

informative for developments to ensure piling does not cause contamination to be taken into 

the groundwater. The EA would also be consulted with regard to applications within 20m of 

the River Thames, ensuring that surface water is protected from potential contamination. The 

EA is also consulted in the preparation of statutory development plans, including the City‟s 

Local Plan. 

Page 92

http://apps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/default.aspx
http://apps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/default.aspx
http://www.mapping2.cityoflondon.gov.uk/public/compass.html?layersHVA=Transport:h;Political_boundaries:h;Driving_and_cycling:h;Planning:h;General_City_Information:h;conservation:h;Environmental_Information:ahhh;Winter_Maintenance:h;Partnership_Mapping:h;City_Property_Advisory_Team:h;Sculpture_in_the_City:h;Recycling_and_Cleansing:h;City_and_Community_Toilets:H;St_Pauls_Heights:H;Public_Access:H;Hampstead_Heath_Ponds_Project:H


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

23 

2.6 Potential Sources of Contamination - Historic and Current Land Use 

The City of London dates from Roman times, and has a rich history. Although predominantly 

non-industrial, there have been a wide range of historic land uses, which could potentially 

have given rise to contamination. 

 

2.6.1 Historic Land Use 1875 to 1971 

Map 4 which follows was generated as part of the original contaminated land strategy and 

review using historic land use maps from 1875, 1894, 1914 and 1938 (scale 1:1056) and 1951 

and 1971 (scale 1:1250). It is available on the City‟s interactive map.  

 

The identified sites are unlikely to be exhaustive and additional, as yet unidentified historical 

land uses are likely to have been present, but not shown in the maps reviewed to date. This 

Strategy review provides an opportunity to consider whether additional or alternative maps 

would provide further information. 

 

Please note that the information in the historic land use and war damaged interactive maps 

have been compiled from information available in the City‟s records and information 

supplied by third parties and the Corporation cannot guarantee the accuracy or 

completeness of the data. 

 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100023243. 

 

Map 4: City of London Historic Land Uses 

Page 93

http://www.mapping2.cityoflondon.gov.uk/public/compass.html?layersHVA=Transport:h;Political_boundaries:h;Driving_and_cycling:h;Planning:h;General_City_Information:h;conservation:h;Environmental_Information:hhah;Winter_Maintenance:h;Partnership_Mapping:h;City_Property_Advisory_Team:h;Sculpture_in_the_City:h;Recycling_and_Cleansing:h;City_and_Community_Toilets:H;St_Pauls_Heights:H;Public_Access:H;Hampstead_Heath_Ponds_Project:H
http://www.mapping2.cityoflondon.gov.uk/public/compass.html?layersHVA=Transport:h;Political_boundaries:h;Driving_and_cycling:h;Planning:h;General_City_Information:h;conservation:h;Environmental_Information:hhah;Winter_Maintenance:h;Partnership_Mapping:h;City_Property_Advisory_Team:h;Sculpture_in_the_City:h;Recycling_and_Cleansing:h;City_and_Community_Toilets:H;St_Pauls_Heights:H;Public_Access:H;Hampstead_Heath_Ponds_Project:H


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

24 

 

The map can be used to focus on specific sites to create a pop-up of site use and the year: 

 

 

Identified historic land uses in the square mile include: 

 Wharves and docks 

 Rail stations and railways infrastructure 

 Almshouses and hospitals 

 Warehouses and depots 

 Bookbinding and printing works 

 Breweries and distilleries 

 Foundries & smithies 

 Burial grounds and graveyards 

 Telephone exchanges and electricity substations 

 Tobacco and snuff manufacture 

 Colourworks and hat manufacture 

 Garages and petrol stations 

 Gasometers and gas works 

 Glass foundry 

 Gun factory 

 Chimneys 

 The City Mortuary 

 Mustard factory 

 Wire works 

 Chemical works 

 Markets 

 

 

Although some of the above land uses remain (e.g. markets and railway stations), the major 

industrial processes have ceased operating in the City, with the last industry group (the 

newspaper printers) leaving in the late 1980‟s. The identified land uses listed could present a 

risk to controlled water and human health, even if total hard cover is present, due to organic 

and volatile vapour contamination. The role of the local authority under Part 2A is to 

prioritise sites for consideration and to ascertain if a significant contaminant linkage exists. 

 

The City of London is constantly changing and there has been extensive redevelopment of the 

City during its history. Due to war damage and subsequent redevelopment, evidence of the 

historic land use may not be evident above ground. New developments have often maximised 

space by creating deep basements and as part of the construction process, it is considered that 

a large proportion of the near surface (most likely contaminated materials) would have been 

Page 94



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

25 

excavated and disposed of off-site to make way for development. Projects have also 

identified historic land uses which were unknown to the City, such as Crossrail which has 

identified unknown burial grounds.  

 

Where there is a building, unless there is evidence of complete contaminant-pathway-receptor 

linkage there is no way of confirming the presence of contamination without digging beneath 

the building. This would only be necessary if there was evidence of the complete 

contaminant-pathway-receptor linkage and evidence of significant harm or significant 

possibility of significant harm to humans or the environment. 

 

2.6.3 War Damaged Sites 

Due to the City‟s position, historic maps indicate the extensive areas of the City that were 

damaged during war time bombing (see Map 5 overleaf and interactively online). Historic 

land uses which may have led to contamination prior to this time will have been destroyed in 

part during the bombing. Thereafter, post bombing site redevelopment would have created 

areas of made ground of significant thickness locally and the composition of this made 

ground is unknown (see 2.6.4 below). Material may also have been removed or redistributed 

within the City during the post war redevelopment and thereafter; this would all be 

undocumented.  

 

Due to the intensive bombing across the City, unexploded ordinance (UXO) have been found 

during excavations. Buried UXO therefore remain a risk and this risk should be managed 

during excavations. 

 

Page 95

http://www.mapping2.cityoflondon.gov.uk/public/compass.html?layersHVA=Transport:h;Political_boundaries:h;Driving_and_cycling:h;Planning:h;General_City_Information:h;conservation:h;Environmental_Information:hhha;Winter_Maintenance:h;Partnership_Mapping:h;City_Property_Advisory_Team:h;Sculpture_in_the_City:h;Recycling_and_Cleansing:h;City_and_Community_Toilets:H;St_Pauls_Heights:H;Public_Access:H;Hampstead_Heath_Ponds_Project:H


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

26 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100023243. 

 

Map 5: War Damaged Sites 

 

2.6.4 Landfill sites, made ground and ground gas 

The City of London does not have any documented landfill sites within its area. A review of 

the data held by the EA confirms this and indicates that the closest disused landfill site is to 

the SE of the City in the Wapping Basin, as indicated in their online interactive map.  

 

Notwithstanding this, until the latter part of the 20
th

 Century, particularly before the mid 

1970‟s, backfill and hardcore was used for both road and building works and reclaiming land, 

for example along the River Thames. The content of the backfill and hardcore was not 

specified or controlled and as a result, poor quality backfill and made ground will exisit in the 

City, especially as a result of bomb damage. There is therefore residual risk if such materials 

are distrurbed, during maintenance or redevelopment. All land in the City has been subject to 

some form of development and it can be assumed that made ground exists at varying depths 

throughout the City, which will have an unknown composition. 

 

Ground gas and vapour can build up or be released where organic or volatile vapour 

contamination is found in the ground, for example, methane produced as a result of landfill 

Page 96

http://www.mapping2.cityoflondon.gov.uk/public/compass.html?layersHVA=Transport:h;Political_boundaries:h;Driving_and_cycling:h;Planning:h;General_City_Information:h;conservation:h;Environmental_Information:hhha;Winter_Maintenance:h;Partnership_Mapping:h;City_Property_Advisory_Team:h;Sculpture_in_the_City:h;Recycling_and_Cleansing:h;City_and_Community_Toilets:H;St_Pauls_Heights:H;Public_Access:H;Hampstead_Heath_Ponds_Project:H
http://apps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/default.aspx


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

27 

degradation. Although there are no documented landfills in the City, the unknown 

composition of made ground, particularly associated with bomb damaged areas, means there 

is a residual risk.  A large percentage of the City‟s land area is built on or is hard standing, 

minimising direct contact exposure via the contaminant-pathway-receptor model; however, 

hard standing would not necessarily prevent gas and vapour inhalation. 

 

Further to the above, gasses can build up in confined spaces and the possible explosive, as 

well as flammable consequences, mean that during the development management process 

ground gas levels are often monitored. Where required, gas protection measures can then be 

put in place.  

 

It has been identified as part of this review that in order to inform the „strategic inspection‟ 

process, data needs to be collated with regard to the ground gas occurrence and monitoring 

conducted in the City as part of the development management process and reviewed. 

 

2.6.5 Current Industry 

The final printing process left the City in the 1980‟s and the only „industrial‟ processes which 

remain in the City of London boundary are three premises authorised under the Environmental 

Permitting Regulations 2010, which are all dry cleaners and are regulated by the City of 

London. The location of these premises is shown on the City‟s interactive map under 

„environmental information‟ and are located at: 

 34-36 Lime Street, London, EC3M 7AT 

 57-60 Aldgate High Street, London, EC3N 1AL 

 24 Goswell Road, London,  EC1M 7AA 

 

Registered users of radioactive materials are also present in the City of London, for example 

St Bartholomew‟s Hospital, such uses are regulated by the EA. There is one Waste Transfer 

Station which is also regulated by the EA. 

 

There is the potential for other sources of contamination to exist within the City, such as 

above and below ground storage tanks which have the potential leak into the ground. The risk 

from this type of activity can be identified through regular building and maintenance checks 

or identified at the development management stage. 

Page 97

http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/maps/Pages/COMPASS.aspx


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

28 

 

2.6.6 Airborne contamination and cross boundary issues 

Despite the lack of recent industrial use, being at the heart of the City, localised and 

transboundary air pollution from traffic and historical industry will have been deposited on 

soil throughout the years. It has been documented that traffic and industry have been 

significant sources of lead and PAHs (poly aromatic hydrocarbons) in soils across London 

and as such, background levels of contaminants in the urban area are a factor when 

considering risks from contaminated land. 

 

The City of London shares a boundary with the London Boroughs of Hackney, Lambeth, 

Camden, Tower Hamlets and the City of Westminster. The migration of airborne 

contamination does not adhere to local authority boundaries and as such liaison between 

authorities is key when considering contamination issues which may affect neighbouring 

authorities. All neighbouring authorities have produced a Contaminated Land Strategy and 

have been consulted with regarding this revised strategy.  

 

2.7 Background levels of contamination 

The „normal‟ presence of contaminants is the natural presence of contamination in soil as a 

consequence of common human activity (other than specific industrial processes) and local 

geology. In late 2011, early 2012, The British Geological Society (BGS) was commissioned 

by Defra to provide guidance on normal levels of contaminants in English soils. The 

following eight contaminants were tested: arsenic, asbestos, benzo[a]pyrene (BaP), lead, 

cadmium, copper, mercury and nickel. 

 

Normal background concentrations (for contaminant domains) define what is the upper limit 

of 'normal' levels of contaminants in soil as described in the Guidance. When considering 

results from intrusive investigations and when making any determination decisions, „normal 

presence of contaminants‟ within the urban environment would need to be considered, in 

accordance with appropriate methodologies and Guidance. See Appendix C for details. 

 

The disparity between Defra‟s Category 4 Screening Level for lead and the urban background 

level determined by the BGS is noted. The City‟s „normal‟ presence of contaminants will be 

Page 98



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

29 

considered as part of the City‟s „strategic inspection‟ process over the next 5 years (as 

detailed in Section 3). 

 

2.8 Summary 

This section has detailed that sensitive receptors (as defined by Defra) do exisit in the Square 

Mile. The City of London has had a rich, historic land use and some of this may have led to 

land contamination. Due to the constant redevelopment of the City and the need to maximise 

space through the creation of basements, it is likely that some contamination would have 

been removed over the years during re-development, thus interupting the contaminant-

pathway-receptor model. Due to made ground associated with bomb damage and the use of 

backfill and rubble prior to the latter part of the 20
th

 Century, this means residual issues could 

remain and this review provides an opportunity for further strategic inspection (desktop 

study) and detailed inspection (as required), as detailed in Section 3. 

Page 99



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

30 

 

Section 3: City of London Inspection Strategy 

 

3.0 Background to the City of London’s Inspection Strategy 

As part of the 2001 Strategy development the City of London set about strategically 

investigating the Square Mile. The City of London: 

 identified and recorded sensitive receptors; 

 identified and recorded current potential sources of contamination 

 assessed all information provided by the EA for the identification of potentially 

contaminated land 

 assessed geological data for the City; 

 reviewed groundwater quality from private well abstraction points within the City 

 developed a GIS system of data management; 

 developed procedures for:  

o site inspections in the event of contaminated land being suspected; 

o dealing with pollution incidents or spillages 

o dealing with complaints or concerns about potentially contaminated land 

 assessed Corporation owned and leased land; 

 

Following the 2001 Strategy and review in 2004, there was no strong evidence suggesting 

contamination (as defined by the legislation). The requirement to „periodically review‟ (Defra 

Guidance section 2.5) enables the City to consider whether the City‟s approach is sufficient 

and whether any new information is available, for example re-assessing City of London 

owned and leased land, reviewing additional historic maps and the location of current 

sensitive receptors. 

 

Page 100



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

31 

3.1 Strategic Inspection – (stages 1-4)  

 

Defra 2.6(c). Design and describe an appropriate approach to „strategic inspection‟,  

of the City of London, including a description of what might trigger  

detailed inspection. 

 

The aim of „strategic inspection‟ is to establish if there is likely to be any significant 

contaminant linkages. This is dependent on the nature of the current land use. Based on the 

„strategic inspection‟ (desk top study) the City of London is able to decide which sites might 

require a more detailed inspection. The City‟s „strategic inspection‟ involves four stages: 

1 – Identification of potentially contaminated sites  

2 – Identification of sensitive receptors 

3 – Identification of a potential contaminant-pathway-receptor 

4 – Preliminary risk assessment in accordance with section 2.2 of CLR11 

 

3.1.1 Stage One – Information regarding the presence of contamination 

The first stage of strategic inspection was the City-wide identification of potential „sources‟. 

Potential sources of contamination were identified by a desktop study as part of the 2001 

Strategy. As detailed in section 2, this involved the analysis of historic land use directories 

(Kelly Directories) and historic land use maps. 

 

The Strategy review has identified the limitations of the Kelly‟s directory information (due to 

Road renaming and street number changes) and that there is scope to review the information 

obtained from historic maps consulted as part of the 2001 Strategy. The review also provides 

an opportunity to ascertain if there is new local knowledge or additional information relating 

to potential contamination. This information may have been received through intrusive 

investigations and reports received as part of the development management process. 

Conducting a desk based review of existing, and identifying new information, therefore forms 

part of the „strategic inspection‟ process over the next 5 years. The information feeds into 

Stage Three of the City‟s approach. 

 

Page 101



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

32 

3.1.2 Stage Two –Identification of Receptors 

The Guidance specifies sensitive receptors which should be protected from harm. These 

sensitive receptors are then considered during the „strategic inspection‟ process, to see if sites 

require „detailed inspection‟. The sensitive receptors identified in the City are detailed in 

section 2, which include residents, workers, visitors, controlled waters, ecological systems 

and property. Sensitive receptors have been identified and mapped on the Corporation‟s GIS 

system. 

 

The Strategy review has identified that there is scope to review the presence and location of 

existing sensitive receptors. Conducting a desk based review of existing, and identifying new 

information, therefore forms part of the „strategic inspection‟ process over the next 5 years. 

This information will feed into Stage Three of the City‟s approach. 

 

3.1.3 Stage Three – Potential Pathways for Contamination - PRIORITISATION 

The third stage is the consideration of land where receptors could potentially be exposed to 

contamination. The City will prioritise sites for inspection based on the reviewed contaminant 

potential (historic land use and knowledge) and reviewed current receptor information. 

 

By assigning a sliding scale score to each receptor type and historic land use type, the City is 

able to determine the priority with which a site is given for further consideration. For 

example, a residential property with a garden, with a historic contaminative use, will be 

ranked higher than a commercial site with no outside soft landscaping, which has a similar 

historic use. 

 

The deliverable is a list of sites which merit further consideration under stage 4. If there is an 

unknown associated with a site or if at any stage additional information comes to light the 

City of London will re-visit the decision in order to decide if a site should move to stage 4. 

 

Sites will be considered in order of priority, according to the ranked lists. Higher ranking 

sites will be investigated first.  

This prioritisation approach would be reviewed on an on-going basis to ensure it remains 

suitable for use. 

 

Page 102



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

33 

3.1.4 Stage 4: Preliminary Risk Assessment 

The fourth stage considers whether the current land use might satisfy a full contaminant 

linkage (contaminant-pathway-receptor). 

 

Stage 4 involves conducting a site reconnaissance visit(s) to establish possible signs of 

contamination and gain additional information regarding receptors or pathways and to see if 

there is any reason why the site can be excluded. If it is excluded, then this is recorded.  

During the reconnaissance visit preliminary evidence such as photographs and site plan 

would be obtained. To inform the decision to move to „detailed inspection‟, soil samples may 

be sampled and tested if applicable (in accordance with relevant British Standards) and with 

reference to 3.2.2. 

 

A preliminary risk assessment would be conducted based on section 2.2 of the EA‟s „Model 

Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (CLR11)‟ to decide if the site should 

move to detailed inspection. The site would then be categorised under the following: 

 

Category A: This category of site would move to detailed inspection. This is land where a 

past or present contaminative use has been identified and where there is a possibility that it 

might affect a receptor based on visual or documentation supporting a potential 

contaminative source in the past or at present. The given site could be subdivided into the 

following priority areas: high, medium and low where applicable. 

Category B: Current or past land use may have led to contamination, but there is not a 

complete contaminant-pathway-receptor link. This category of site is considered suitable for 

its current use and any contamination found at a later date would be dealt with through the 

development management process. 

Category C: This is land where no pollution linkage has been identified. It would be difficult 

in the City to say that no contamination is present at any site, due to the lack of virgin soil 

within the Square Mile.  

 

The next section considers the approach should „detailed inspection‟ be required following 

stages 1-4. 

 

Page 103

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/managing-land-contamination
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/managing-land-contamination


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

34 

3.2 Detailed Inspection (Stages 5 and 6) 

 

Defra 2.6 (d) Describe the City of London‟s approach to prioritisation of „detailed 

inspection‟, and remediation activity should the need arise. 

 

3.2.1 Detailed Inspection Procedure 

Where the „strategic inspection‟ indicates that a site may be at risk of being considered 

„contaminated land‟, then that site will be assessed in greater detail; so desk studies (strategic 

inspection) will always be conducted in the first instance. With regard to the „detailed 

inspection‟ phase, as per the Guidance: 

1) Inspection would be in accordance with a  prioritisation list 

2) The City of London would consult with the land owner before inspecting land 

3) If powers of entry are required the City of London will be satisfied that there is a 

reasonable possibility that a significant contaminant linkage may exist. 

4) Any intrusive investigations will be undertaken with due regard to best practice and 

British Standards, such as BS 10175:2011 (or subsequent revisions). 

 

3.2.2 Intrusive investigations 

Where there is no chemical analysis of soil, initial and limited site work can be undertaken by 

the City with reference to relevant British Standards and an accredited laboratory for analysis. 

The City will utilise the Category 4 Screening Levels (C4SL), Soil Guideline Values (SGVs) 

and other screening values as appropriate, to conduct risk screening to see if additional site 

specific risk assessments are required. During „detailed inspection‟, the most up to date 

screening values will be used. See Appendix D for information relating to screening values, 

SGVs and C4SLs. 

 

3.2.3 Stage 5 – Generic Quantitative Risk Assessment  

Where the preliminary risk assessment conducted during stage 4 indicates more information 

is required a generic quantitative risk assessment will follow based on section 2.3 of CLR11. 

At the end of this stage, there are number of options and the decision made will be recorded:  

 no further investigation, site categorised as 1,2,3 or 4 

 options for appraisal considered 

 move to „detailed quantitative risk assessment‟(stage 6) 

Page 104



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

35 

3.2.4 Stage 6 – Detailed Quantitative Risk Assessment 

A „detailed quantitative risk assessment‟ will be carried out in accordance with section 2.4 of 

CLR11. Qualified consultants would be employed in order to conduct this stage of the 

investigation. At the end of this process, the following will be decided: 

 no further investigation, site categorised as 1,2,3 or 4 

 options for appraisal considered 

 

3.3 Site Categorisation (Defra Guidance - Chapter 4) 

If a contaminant linkage is established, the City will need to decide whether the linkage is 

„significant‟.  The Guidance has identified four categories of possible contamination: 

 Category 1 - a high probability that harm would occur if no action was taken 

 Category 2 - there is a strong case that there is a significant possibility of significant 

harm and benefits of remediating the site outweigh the potential risks of remediation. 

 Category 3 - there not is a strong case that there is a significant possibility of 

significant harm 

 Category 4 - a low probability of risk 

 

The City would therefore, in accordance with the Guidance and consultation with appropriate 

bodies, determine whether the site can be classified as a Category 1, 2 3 or 4 site.  

 

3.4 Determination of Contaminated Land (Defra Guidance - Section 5) 

The City of London has not determined any sites within the square mile as contaminated land 

under Part 2A. The Guidance states that the “local authority is likely to inspect land that it 

then considers is not contaminated land” and that “the authority should issue a statement to 

that fact” This means that should a site in the City of London be subject to „detailed 

inspection‟, then in order to minimise potential blight associated with conducting the 

investigation, the City of London will come to a formal decision with regard to the land and 

issue a statement. The City will also keep records of its decision (Defra Guidance 5.4). 

 

With Part 2A, the starting point is that land is not contaminated unless there is a reason to 

consider otherwise and as such, following „strategic‟ and „detailed assessment‟, if the City 

determines that there are one or more significant contaminant linkage(s) then the City will 

Page 105



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

36 

refer to the Guidance to determine the physical extent of land to determined, informing 

interested parties and record keeping. 

 

With reference to paragraph 5.15 of the Guidance, determination can be postponed if the 

problem will be dealt with without determination, for example through voluntary action or if 

the significant contamination linkage would only exist if the land use were to change in the 

future. 

 
A site would only be determined as contaminated under Part 2A once the City had sufficient 

evidence to be satisfied that „significant harm (to a human / relevant non-human receptor) or 

pollution of controlled waters‟ is being caused or there is a „significant possibility of such 

harm (to a human or relevant non-human receptor) or pollution of controlled waters‟ being 

caused. 

 

3.5 Special Sites 

Where a site meets the definition of contaminated land the City must determine whether the 

land constitutes a „Special Site‟.  The categories of special sites are: 

 contamination affecting water 

 contamination by acid tars 

 land used for the manufacture of petroleum or explosives 

 land regulated by the EA under Schedule A of the EPA 

 land used by a nuclear facility or the military 

 land contaminated by radioactivity 

Where a site is identified as a Special Site the EA becomes the enforcing authority.   

 

3.6 Remediation (Defra Guidance - Section 6) 

If through the Part 2A process, land is determined as contaminated and it is not declared a 

„Special Site‟, the City of London retains control and must consider how the land should be 

remediated and issue a remediation notice (if required). 

 

As per 6.4 of the Guidance, the City of London will have regard to the Guidance when: 

a) deciding what remediation action it should specify in a remediation notice as being 

required to be carried out; 

Page 106



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

37 

b) satisfy itself that appropriate remediation is being, or will be, carried out without the 

service of notice ; or 

c) deciding what remediation action it should carry out itself 

 

The City of London will also seek advice from a suitably qualified experienced practitioner 

where required and refer to the Guidance when deciding: 

a) Remediation techniques 

b) Securing remediation without a remediation notice 

c) Standard of remediation  

d) Reasonableness of remediation 

e) Revision of remediation notices 

f) verification 

 

3.7 Liability and Recovering Costs (Section 7 and 8 of the Guidance) 

Where the City of London has determined a site as contaminated, there would be liability and 

cost recovery considerations. The City will refer to the core legislation and the Guidance to 

identify which individuals or organisations would need to be excluded from liability and 

costs and to apportion liability and costs to those responsible. The City of London should also 

seek to recover costs where appropriate in line with s78P (2) of EPA 1990. 

 

3.8 Minimising Burden 

 

Defra 2.6(f) Set out how the City will seek to minimise unnecessary burdens on the taxpayer, 

businesses and individuals. 

 

Where contaminated land is identified, there are a number of burdens on a range of 

stakeholders, including landowners, the City of London itself, and neighbouring landowners. 

The City of London can minimise unnecessary burdens by always encouraging voluntary 

action to deal with contamination issues in the first instance, by ensuring that any 

determinations made are robust and evidence based, and by being as decisive as possible (i.e. 

not compiling or issuing lists of „potentially contaminated‟ sites).  

 

Page 107



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

38 

Further to the above, in accordance with the Guidance, the City can only require remediation 

action if the City „is satisfied that those actions are reasonable‟. When deciding what is 

reasonable, the City will therefore consider (as defined in the Guidance) the: 

a) practicality, effectiveness and durability of remediation 

b) health and environmental impacts of the chosen remediation options 

c) financial cost  

d) benefits of remediation with regard to seriousness of the harm or pollution of 

controlled waters. 

 

In accordance with 6.21, the City will consider remediation action as reasonable if it is 

satisfied that the benefits of remediation are likely to outweigh the cost of remediation and 

will choose the „best practicable technique‟, whilst having regard to the above factors. 

Page 108



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

39 

3.9 Overview of Strategic and Detailed assessment process 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Consideration of information to identify potential „contaminant-pathway-receptor locations 

Historic land use GIS 

Layer 

Current Land use GIS 

layers 

British Geological 

Society (BGS) data  

Environment Agency 

(EA) data   

2015-2020 Strategy 

Is there evidence that an unacceptable risk could reasonably exist? 

 

No Part 2A sites determined as part of the 2001 Strategy and 2004 review. 

2001 Strategy / 2004 Review 

 

No Further action 

under Part 2A, any 

contamination dealt 

with through the 

development 

management 

process  

Stage 4 Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

Category A site and „detailed inspection‟ 

Category B or C site 

Yes 

Does unacceptable risk remain? 

 

Does unacceptable risk remain? 

 

Stage 5 Quantitative Risk Assessment 

 

Stage 6 Detailed Risk Assessment 

 

No 

Yes 

Assign as 

Category 

1, 2, 3 or 4  

Consider 

Remediation 

Strategy  
Yes 

Review of the above information to ascertain if additional 

information is available to form „strategic inspection‟ 

(desk top study) Stages 1, 2, 3 

 

No 

No 

Page 109



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

40 

 

Section 4: City of London’s broader Approach to Land Contamination 

 

Defra 2.6 (e) set out how the City of London‟s approach to Part 2A fits with its broader 

approach of dealing with land contamination 

 

4.0 Introduction 

Paragraph 1.5 of the Guidance states that “Enforcing Authorities should seek to use Part 2A 

only where no appropriate alternative solution exists. The Part 2A regime is one of several 

ways in which land contamination can be addressed. For example, land contamination can 

be addressed when land is developed (or redeveloped) under the planning system, during the 

building control process, or where action is taken independently by landowners….” The City 

of London has historically dealt with land contamination issues through these alternative 

means where possible, will continue to do so in favour of using Part 2A. 

 

4.1 Other Legislation 

Section one of this document details the legislation outside the Part 2A regime which can 

ensure that land contamination is dealt with. The City of London may therefore receive or 

request information about the condition of land within the City in several ways, this will 

inform the decision making process. This also means a developer has numerous opportunities 

to ensure they are aware of the land condition. By utilising the legislation in section one, sites 

are preventing from being declared under the Part 2A regime in the future. 

 

The following flow diagram summarises how the City of London deals with land which is 

contaminated and where Part 2A regime sits: 

Page 110



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

41 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*NOTE: where a developer chooses to utilise the services of an alternative Building Control 

Body, an „Approved Inspector‟, the City has NO control through the Building Control 

Regulations; however, guidance refers to „notifying other authorities‟. 

Environmental 

Protection Act 1990 

Part 2A 

Detailed Inspection  

(if required following 

Strategic Inspection) 

Application under: 

Building Control Regulations 

2010 (as amended)* 

Dealing with land contamination in the City of London 

Application under: 

Town & Country  

Planning Act 1990 

 

Strategic Inspection 

of the City with 

reference to local 

knowledge and 

historic land use which 

may have led to 

contamination and 

current land use 

Remediation  

(if required following 

„detailed inspection‟) 

to ensure significant 

harm or significant 

possibility of 

significant harm does 

not exists 

Other legislation 

(used as required) 

Part C (amended 

in Oct 2013) of the 

Building Control 

Regulations 2010 

covers the 

requirements with 

respect to site 

preparation and 

resistance to 

contaminants and 

moisture. 

 

Development Management 

 

Use of legislation 

relating to: 

Waste 

Management, 

Radioactivity, 

Nuisance, 

Environmental 

Damage and 

Water Resources 

Remediation  

(if required) to 

ensure no damage 

to human health 

or buildings occur 

As a result of policy, 

local knowledge and 

maps, condition 

where appropriate for 

a desk top study with 

regard to 

archaeological 

remains and 

contamination and if 

required intrusive 

investigations. 

Remediation  

(if required) to 

ensure no damage to 

human health or 

eco systems occur 

Investigation and remediation ensures site does not need to be declared as 

contaminated land under Part 2A 

 

Page 111



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

42 

4.2 Building Control and Building Regulations 2010 (as amended) 

Through Part C of the Building Control Regulations, the building must be suitable for the 

ground conditions and to ensure the health of future occupants are protected. Through the 

building control process conditions, such as that detailed in Appendix E, should be added to 

the consent by the Building Control Body. The geotechnical reports submitted should include 

soil sampling results obtained from investigations carried out in accordance with industry 

best practice, which informs their Environmental Risk Assessment. Should the ground 

conditions not be deemed suitable, Environmental Health should be informed and additional 

investigations and a remediation strategy can be requested. The Building Control functions 

available through the City of London District Surveyor can be viewed here. 

 

4.3 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) makes clear reference to dealing with land 

contamination (see Appendix F). Further detailed guidance on the implementation of the 

NPPF is set out in the online national Planning Practice Guidance. 

 

The City of London is able to specify planning conditions which relate to the investigation 

and management of contamination. Planning conditions have been developed by the City of 

London in line with the requirements of Local Plan policy DM15.8. The first condition 

requires the developer to contact the Local Planning Authority if they become aware of any 

contamination during their development and the second „full‟ condition requires a desk based 

and if required, intrusive site investigation, (prior to the breaking of the basement slab, if 

applicable). Both conditions require the developer to conduct the investigations in accordance 

with CLR 11. A condition also exists for the protection of groundwater, which can be used 

where deep piling is planned.  

 

The requirement to investigate a site is currently applied to any development for a sensitive 

end use, such as the inclusion of open space or residential gardens. The conditions are used 

where there may have been a contaminative historic land use (as indicated by the historic 

land use GIS layer) and war damaged sites, due to the potential for deep made ground. As a 

result of the strategic inspection process, alternate sites may also be included. 

 

Page 112

http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/districtsurveyor
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/making-the-planning-system-work-more-efficiently-and-effectively/supporting-pages/national-planning-policy-framework
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/land-affected-by-contamination/land-affected-by-contamination-guidance/


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

43 

 

4.4 Code of Practice for Deconstruction and Construction and SPD 

The City of London has a Code of Practice document which sets out acceptable site practice 

on Deconstruction and Construction Sites in its area. This document sets out a number of 

requirements for management of land contamination: 

 Contractor(s) should review records and ensure that they have undertaken a thorough 

risk assessment, with a view to both the receptors identified in the Part 2A regime, 

and operational risks such as unexploded ordnances 

 The City of London should be notified where issues are identified 

 The above documents are requested through the „Scheme of Protective Works‟ which 

is requested to discharge the planning condition requiring compliance with the code. 

 

In addition to Town and Country and Building Regulation approvals, Section 80 of the 

Building Act 1984 requires the City of London to be notified prior to the demolition of any 

building in the City. See the District Surveyor webpage and Code of Practice further advice 

on demolition control. 

 

The City of London is currently drafting a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to be a 

reference point for developers. Within this document will be the contaminated land 

considerations that should form part of the planning application. 

 

4.5 Environment Agency 

The Environment Agency has clear guidance with regard to which planning applications they 

wish to be consulted upon. During the consultation process they are able to add conditions or 

informatives to ensure controlled waters are protected; however, as detailed in section one, 

the City of London does not contain any SPZs. The proximity to the River Thames means the 

EA would want to comment on any applications within 20m of the river. 

 

4.6 Providing Information regarding Contamination in the City 

To facilitate access to information regarding contaminated land, the City of London is 

developing a database of environmental and intrusive investigation reports submitted. At 

present, all Environmental Impact Assessments and environmental reports submitted as part 

of the planning process are available on the City of London Planning Portal.  

Page 113

http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/business/environmental-health/environmental-protection/Documents/Code-of-practice-for-deconstruction-and-construction.pdf
http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/districtsurveyor
http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/business/environmental-health/environmental-protection/Documents/Code-of-practice-for-deconstruction-and-construction.pdf
http://www.planning2.cityoflondon.gov.uk/online-applications/


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

44 

 

The City‟s Historic Land use GIS layer is available via the City‟s website at 

cityoflondon.gov.uk/contaminatedland. This page is also used to provide a copy of the City‟s 

Contaminated Land Strategy. From time to time Consultants contact the City with regard to 

„Contaminated Land Searches‟. The City refers consultants to this page in the first instance 

and if further information is required, then it is dealt with on a case by case basis. Should 

further information become available as a result of the inspection process, (for example a site 

is determined as contaminated under the Part 2A regime), this information will also be made 

available on the website. 

Page 114

http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/contaminatedland


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

45 

References 

 

Defra Statutory Guidance (‘the Guidance’) 

Environmental Protection Act 1990: Part 2A Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance, Defra, 

April 2012 

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/contaminated-land-statutory-guidance 

 

CLR11 

Defra and the Environment Agency‟s „Model Procedures for the management of Land 

Contamination, CLR 11‟ 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/managing-land-contamination 

 

Page 115

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/contaminated-land-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/managing-land-contamination


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

46 

 

Appendix A - Definition of harm, significant harm and current use 

 

EPA s78A(4): „Harm‟ means: harm to the health of living organisms or other interference 

with the ecological systems of which they form part, and in the case of man, includes harm to 

his property. 

 

Significant Harm: The EPA provides for statutory guidance to elaborate on what is meant by 

„significant harm‟, and to assist local authorities in deciding whether there is a „significant 

possibility of significant harm‟. See sections 4.1 to 4.3 of the Guidance. 

 

Current Use: All risks should be considered in relation to the current use of land. „Current 

use‟ is defined to mean:  

a) “The use which is being made of the land currently.” 

b) “Reasonably likely future uses of the land that would not require a new or amended 

grant of planning permission” 

c) “Any temporary use to which the land is put, or is likely to be put, from time to time 

within the bounds of current planning permission.” 

d) “Likely informal use of the land, for example children playing on the land, whether 

authorised by the owners or occupiers, or not.” 

 

 

Page 116



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

47 

 

Appendix B – Green Open Spaces and Scheduled Ancient Monuments 

 

The City of London has pockets of Green Open Space, including: 

 Staple Inn 

 Statue, Fetter Lane 

 St Dunstan's House 

 Hare Court 

 Brick Court 

 Middle Temple  

 Inner Temple  Garden 

 King‟s Bench Walk  

 Tower Gardens 

 

 

 

 St Paul's Cathedral 

 Postman‟s Park 

 Finsbury Circus 

 Custom House Walk 

 Seething Gardens 

 Barbican: Lambeth Jones Mews / 

Brandon Mews / Bunyan Court / Day 

Nursery 

The City of London has over 60 ancient scheduled monuments, including: 

 London Wall (various sections) 

 Monument 

 Fishmongers' Hall 

 Roman Amphitheatre, Guildhall Yard 

 Queenhithe dock 

 Armourers' and Brasiers' Hall 

 Tallow Chandlers ' Hall 

 below Billingsgate Market (archaeological interest) 

 Roman wall in Basement of 90 Gracechurch St 

 Remains of St Pancras Church, Pancras Lane 

 The London Greyfriars, site of, Newgate St, 

Farringdon 

 Roman Hypocaust and building on site of Coal 

Exchange 

 Watermen‟s' Hall: 17 & 18 St Mary at Hill 

 Vintners' Hall 

 Roman governor‟s palace (site of) 

 Huggin Hill Roman Baths 

 Barnard's Inn Hall (Mercers' 

School) 

 Skinners Hall 

 Smiths' Wharf 

 Baynard's Castle 

 Merchant Taylors' Hall 

 Goldsmiths' Hall 

 Innholders' Hall 

 Painters Stainers' Hall 

 Inner Temple Hall Buttery 

 Apothecaries' Hall 

 Dyers' Hall 

 

 

Page 117



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

48 

 

Appendix C - Background level of contaminants 

 

Summary of domain normal background concentrations (NBCs) for the contaminants studied 

in the BGS project. See www.bgs.ac.uk for more details with regard to this project. 

 

A series of technical guidance sheets (TGSs) have been developed for contaminants where 

NBCs could be determined. 

 

 

 

Ref: www.bgs.ac.uk/gbase/NBCDefraProject.html 

 

Page 118

http://www.bgs.ac.uk/
http://www.bgs.ac.uk/gbase/NBCDefraProject.html


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

49 

 

Appendix D – General Assessment Criteria,  

Category 4 Screening Levels and Soil Guideline Values 

 

Screening Values 

In order to determine whether a site needs to be investigated further, the results from intrusive 

investigations can be „screened‟ against available assessment criteria (soil screening values). 

Progression to further investigation may be based on the outcome of the „screening process‟. 

The values are derived with various assumptions and the applicability of use of the screening 

values should be considered on a site specific basis, by a competent person, along with the 

technical guidance associated with developing the value. Specialist environmental 

consultancies for example, may develop their own set of screening values using the CLEA 

framework and Defra and the EA have developed a set of screening values called Soil 

Guideline values (SGVs). 

 

The revised Statutory Guidance presents a four category system for classifying land under 

Part 2A: from „Category 4‟, where the level of risk posed is acceptably low, to „Category 1‟, 

where the level of risk is unacceptable. Defra have prepared a methodology for developing 

screening values which can be used to decide that land is suitable for use and definitely not 

contaminated land; these are referred to as Category 4 Screening Levels (C4SLs). 

 

Category 4 Screening levels  

The methodology allows for the development of a C4SL by other parties, but Defra‟s work 

initially has produced C4SL for 6 substances (benzo(a)pyrene, benzene, arsenic, chromium 

(VI), cadmium and lead), under a range of exposure parameters: 

 Residential (with home grown produce) 

 Residential (without home grown produce) 

 Allotments 

 Commercial 

 Public Open Space - residential 

 Public Open Space - park 

 

The values can be used in assessments of sites being considered both under Part 2A and also 

in a redevelopment context, but with reference to the technical guidance. See:  

http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Module=More&Location=None&ProjectID=18341 

Page 119

http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Module=More&Location=None&ProjectID=18341


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

50 

Soil Guideline Levels 

Soil Guideline Values (SGV) (and supporting technical guidance) are non-statutory technical 

guidance values developed by the DEFRA / Environment Agency which are used to help 

assess the long-term risk to human health from exposure to chemical contamination in soil.   

The SGVs for the chemical substances they are available for varies with land use and the 

ways in which people are exposed to soil contamination:  

 residential properties with gardens  

 residential properties without gardens  

 allotments  

 commercial/industrial sites 

Using human toxicity data, they estimate the amount of a substance that would be taken in 

through exposure to the soil relevant to Health Criteria Values (HCV). SGVs give an 

indication of “representative average levels of chemicals in soil below which the long-term 

health risks are likely to be minimal” (EA) and they are 'trigger values' for screening-out low 

risk areas of land contamination. Further investigation and evaluation may be required if the 

SGV is exceeded, but it does not necessarily mean the site requires remediation. 

The EA states that SGV cannot be used: 

 if they are not representative of the site under investigation.   

 to assess other types of risk to human health or short-term and acute exposures 

 to assess risks to controlled waters, property, pets and livestock, or ecological 

receptors. 

 

SGVs do not have to be used and can be used to assess other chemicals using certain 

procedures and software e.g. CLEA. A guide to soil guideline values can be found: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/contaminated-soil-assessing-risks-on-human-

health 

 

Soil Guideline values for individual contaminants can be found at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-soil-guideline-values-sgvs 

 

 

Page 120

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/contaminated-soil-assessing-risks-on-human-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/contaminated-soil-assessing-risks-on-human-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-soil-guideline-values-sgvs


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

51 

 

Appendix E - Building Control Regulations 2010 (Part C) 

 

Preparation of site and resistance to contaminants. 

C1 (1) The ground to be covered by the building shall be reasonably free from any material 

that might damage the building or affect its stability, including vegetable matter, topsoil and 

pre-existing foundations. 

(2) Reasonable precautions shall be taken to avoid danger to health and safety caused by 

contaminants on or in the ground covered, or to be covered by the building and any land 

associated with the building. 

(3)Adequate sub-soil drainage shall be provided if it is needed to avoid: 

(a) the passage of ground moisture to the interior of the building; 

(b) damage to the building, including damage through the transport of water-borne 

contaminants to the foundations of the building. 

(4)For the purpose of this requirement, „contaminant‟ means any substance which is or may 

become harmful to persons or buildings including substances which are corrosive, explosive, 

flammable, radioactive or toxic.  

 

Resistance to moisture 

C2. The walls, floors and roof of the building shall adequately protect the building and 

people who use the building from harmful effects caused by: 

(a) ground moisture; 

(b) precipitation including wind-driven spray; 

(c) interstitial and surface condensation; and 

(d) spillage of water from or associated with sanitary fittings or fixed appliance 

 

Through the building control process conditions (such as that detailed overleaf) should be 

added to the consent by the Building Control Body. The geotechnical reports submitted 

include soil sampling results. Should the ground conditions not be deemed suitable, 

additional investigations and a remediation strategy can be requested. 

 

 

 

Page 121



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

52 

 

This is an extract from a typical condition by the City of London District Surveyor – the 

Building Control Body for the City of London Corporation. Further advice and information 

can be found here. 

 

 

PART C - SITE PREPARATION AND RESISTANCE TO CONTAMINANTS AND 

MOISTURE 

 

All references in the following conditions to Sections and paragraphs relate to Approved 

Document C. 

 

Precautions shall be taken to avoid danger to health and safety caused by substances found on 

and around the ground to be covered by the building or in any land associated with the 

building.  Full site investigation report in accordance with paragraph 1.2 shall be submitted to 

this office together with immediate notification of any possible contaminants to the 

Environmental Health Officer. 

 

 

 

Page 122

http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/districtsurveyor


City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

53 

 

Appendix F - National Planning Policy Framework 

 

 

109. The planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 

environment by: 

 protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geological conservation interests and soils; 

 recognising the wider benefits of ecosystem services; 

 minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity 

 where possible, contributing to the Government‟s commitment to halt the overall decline 

in biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more 

resilient to current and future pressures; 

 preventing both new and existing development from contributing to or being put at 

unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air, 

water or noise pollution or land instability; and 

 remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land, 

where appropriate. 

 

120. To prevent unacceptable risks from pollution and land instability, planning policies and 

decisions should ensure that new development is appropriate for its location. The effects 

(including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, the natural environment or general 

amenity, and the potential sensitivity of the area or proposed development to adverse 

effects from pollution, should be taken into account. Where a site is affected by 

contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development 

rests with the developer and/or landowner. 

 

121. Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that: 

 the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land instability, 

including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution arising from 

previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation or impacts on 

the natural environment arising from that remediation; 

 after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 

Page 123



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

54 

contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and adequate 

site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, 

 is presented 

 

143. In preparing Local Plans, local planning authorities should: 

 ……………set out environmental criteria, in line with the policies in this Framework, 

against which planning applications will be assessed so as to ensure that permitted 

operations do not have unacceptable adverse impacts on the natural and historic 

environment or human health, including from noise, dust, visual intrusion, traffic, tip- and 

quarry-slope stability, differential settlement of quarry backfill, mining subsidence, 

increased flood risk, impacts on the flow and quantity of surface and groundwater and 

migration of contamination from the site; and take into account the cumulative effects of 

multiple impacts from individual sites and/or a number of sites in a locality;………….. 

 put in place policies to ensure worked land is reclaimed at the earliest opportunity, taking 

account of aviation safety, and that high quality restoration and aftercare of mineral sites 

takes place, including for agriculture (safeguarding the long term potential of best and 

most versatile agricultural land and conserving soil resources), geodiversity, biodiversity, 

native woodland, the historic environment and recreation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 124



City of London  Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 

 

 

55 

Appendix G Consultees 

 

January 2014 - Internal Consultation with the following departments complete: 

 

 Environmental Enhancement 

 Legal 

 Development Management 

 Historic Environment 

 District Surveyor 

 Open Spaces 

 

 Transportation and Public Realm 

 Highways 

 Local Transportation 

 Community and Children‟s Services 

 Town Clerk 

 Public Health 

 

 

March 2015: Port Health and Environmental Services Committee consultation approval  

 

June 2015: External Consultation with the following organisations and agencies: 

 

 Environment Agency 

 Department for Food & Rural Affairs 

 Food Standards Agency 

 English Heritage 

 Natural England 

 Greater London Authority 

 PHE 

 DWI 

 Thames Water 

 LB Camden 

 LB Westminster 

 LB Lambeth 

 

 LB Southwark 

 LB Croydon 

 LB Tower Hamlets 

 LB Hackney 

 LB Islington 

 Barbican Estate 

 Guinness Partnership  

 National grid 

 HSE 

 Temple 

 TFL 

 London Underground 

 

 

September 2015: Peer Review 

November 2015: Port Health and Environmental Services Committee approval sought 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 126



 

Committee(s): Date(s): 

Port Health & Environmental Services 24 November 2015 

Subject: 

Public Conveniences Strategy – Update on Service Based 
Review Savings 

 

Public 

 

Report of: 

Director of the Built Environment 

For information 

 

 
Summary 

 
This report is to update Members on the progress being made to achieve the savings 
agreed in the Service Base Review  report  ‘Public Conveniences Strategy – Update 
& Proposed Savings Options’, in November 2014. Target savings identified were 
£147k in 2015/16 and £320k in 2016/17. Savings are on target with actions detailed in 
the main report. 

Attended Public Conveniences - Aldgate, Bishopsgate and Smithfield attended toilets 
were permanently closed by the end of March 2015 and declared surplus to 
committee’s requirements. A review of Blackfriars will be undertaken in two years 
following re-development of the public realm around this area. Opening times have 
been standardised and working arrangements changed to implement single attendant 
working across the remaining attended toilets at Tower Hill, Paternoster Square, 
Royal Exchange & Eastcheap 

There were no complaints relating to Aldgate, Bishopsgate or Blackfriars toilet 
closures however we did receive a number of complaints from taxi drivers when we 
sent notification out of our planned closure of Smithfield. Since the actual closure we 
have not received any further complaints.  

 

Automatic Public Conveniences (APC ) - Aldgate High Street & Monument Street 
APC’s contracts were terminated and both units were removed during March 2015. 

Proposals to modernise remaining APCs unfortunately cannot be progressed due to 
the design and size of replacement units as they are slightly bigger and site 
constraints are very limiting. The only unit that can be upgraded is the unit at 
Aldermanbury; this will be completed by the end of this financial year.  

Members will recall that the Aldermanbury unit was to be looked at with a view to re-
locate it to Smithfield however physical constraints and opposition to the only 
suggested location resulted in Members agreeing, at the last committee, not to pursue 
this any further. 

 

Management - The management structure of the Cleansing Service is currently 
underway and is expected to be completed by the end of the financial year to achieve 
the required savings.  

 

Other activity - Community Toilet Scheme – The toilets in the north & west wings of 
the Guildhall are now included in the scheme. CTS signs are now larger and promote 
the City Toilet Finder App. Various initiatives have been undertaken to promote the 
App in order to raise awareness of the City’s toilet facilities. The App has been 
downloaded 5030 times. 

Page 127

Agenda Item 9



 

 

Toilet Signage – Signage at the attended toilets has been standardised and is now 
‘accessible compliant’. Street signage is currently being updated and where possible 
improved. 

 

Recommendation: 

For your Committee to: 

1. Receive and note the updates in this report. 

 

 

Main Report 

Background 
 
The Strategy 

 
1. On 11 March 2008 your committee agreed a report titled ‘Public Conveniences 

Strategy’. The report proposed a framework and timescale upon which to review 
the provision of public conveniences within the City. Over previous years this 
Committee had reassessed the service’s provision of public conveniences which 
had resulted in modifying the opening hours of attended conveniences and 
reducing the provision of automatic public conveniences (APCs).  

 
2. This Strategy aimed to ensure that toilets are provided, of a type and in locations 

that meet the needs of potential users. It recognised, for example, that staffed 
conveniences worked well during the day, but were not suited to night-time users. 
Its aims were therefore, through a variety of facilities, to provide adequate toilet 
provision for commuters, shoppers and tourists as well as address the additional 
needs of a growing night time economy.  

 
3. The strategy provided daytime toilet provision delivered via the staffed facilities, 

and supplemented by provisions developed in the form of a Community Toilet 
Scheme (CTS), by which local shops and businesses make their toilets available 
to the public in return for a relatively modest financial reward. Night time provision 
is provided via ‘pop up’ style Urilift urinals with all provision being further 
supplemented by 24/7 Automatic Public Conveniences (APCs) which are a unisex 
facility.  
 

4. On 18 November 2014 PHES Committee agreed a report titled ‘Public 
Conveniences Strategy – Update & Proposed Savings Options’. This report 
outlined proposed savings options for the delivery of the Public Conveniences 
Strategy 2014-17 in order to achieve the service based review targets set by the 
Policy & Resources Committee. It also detailed areas to be addressed following 
the commissioned satisfaction survey. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 128



 

Current Position 
 

Attended Public Conveniences 
 

5. In accordance with the PHES Committee resolution on 18 November 2014; 
Bishopsgate, which only opened Sundays, and Smithfield attended toilets, were 
permanently closed at the end of March 2015. They were declared surplus to this 
committee’s requirements and Officers are working with the City Surveyor’s 
Department to facilitate the disposals. 

 
6. Aldgate attended toilet, which only opened Sundays, was permanently closed 

prior to March 2015, with member approval, as part of the Aldgate project. This 
will be replaced by toilet facilities within the new Aldgate Pavilion. 

 
7. Blackfriars attended toilet, which only opened in the summer, has also been 

closed pending review, in two years, to enable officers to understand how planned 
new developments in this area are going to impact on the public realm.  

 
8. Revised alignment of opening hours were implemented from April 2015 at the 

remaining attended toilets, Tower Hill, Paternoster Square, Royal Exchange and 
Eastcheap and in most cases these were extended. All locations are now open 
8am - 8pm Monday to Friday and 9am – 7pm Saturday, Sunday and Bank 
Holidays with the exception of Royal Exchange; these facilities are closed at 
weekends as they are predominately used by City workers. Additionally, revised 
staff working arrangements, single attendant working, were implemented to 
achieve the planned savings.  

 
9. One month prior to the toilet closures, notices were erected notifying service 

users. During this period officers received 9 complaints about the closure of 
Smithfield, mainly from taxi drivers who pointed out that West Smithfield was one 
of the few places that they could park while they used the facility.  

 
10. One of the complainants created an on-line petition at 

http://you.38degrees.org.uk/petitions/save-west-smithfield-public-toilet-from-
closure).  To date this has attracted 61 signatures, the last of which was added 
several months ago. By contrast no complaints were received about the closure of 
the toilets at Aldgate, Bishopsgate or Blackfriars. Since the closures no further 
complaints have been directly received. 

 
Automatic Public Conveniences (APCs) 

 
11. The City had 10 APC units. Six provided by J C Decaux and four by Danfo. While 

APCs are relatively expensive to provide and maintain their real benefit is that 
they provide a 24 hour, 7 days a week facility and are available for both men and 
women. This helps support the needs of the growing night time economy. The four 
units provided by Danfo are relatively new and are fully accessible for disabled 
use and are of an integrated design into a building structure. They can be found 
at; Aldersgate/ Long Lane, Tower hill, All Hallows Lane/ Watermark Place and a 
unit at Monument Pavilion. 

 
12. The J C Decaux street sited units located at; Aldermanbury, Charterhouse St, 

Harrow Place, St Paul’s Walk, Monument Street and Aldgate High Street are older 
and do not offer facilities for the disabled. The unit at Aldgate High Street was 

Page 129

http://you.38degrees.org.uk/petitions/save-west-smithfield-public-toilet-from-closure
http://you.38degrees.org.uk/petitions/save-west-smithfield-public-toilet-from-closure


 

already being considered for future removal because it was sited on land due for 
redevelopment as part of the Minories project. The unit in Monument St was no 
longer required following the conversion of the nearby Monument Pavilion APC to 
be accessible to all. PHES Committee resolved on 18 November 2014 to 
terminate the contracts for both Aldgate High Street and Monument Street units. 
Contracts were terminated and Aldgate High Street & Monument Street automatic 
toilets were both removed from site during March 2015. The highway has been 
fully reinstated. 

 
13. In an attempt to mitigate the closure of Smithfield attended toilet, paragraph 5, 

members were advised that officers would explore the possibility of re-locating the 
APC from Aldermanbury to a location within the vicinity of Smithfield toilet. With a 
view to upgrading to a fully accessible unit, this unit would be more modern unit 
and its design is more in keeping with the Smithfield area. 

 
14. However, the presence of existing underground services and other constraints, 

such as the proximity of historic buildings, made it difficult to find a suitable site for 
an APC in West Smithfield. After consultation with Planning, Highways and J C 
Decaux only one viably suitable, but not ideal, location was identified for an APC 
in West Smithfield. Officers consulted on this and on 31/3/15 letters were sent to 
seventy five premises in the immediate vicinity of the proposed location of the 
APC. Thirty one letters were returned by the post office because a number of flats 
at 58 West Smithfield were unoccupied. From the remaining 44 letters, three 
letters objecting to the proposal were received. (Appendix 1, 2 & 3). Some Ward 
Members were also made aware of some disquiet over the proposal. It became 
apparent that there was significant opposition to the proposal. Planning Officers 
views were that they felt it would be regrettable to have an APC located in such an 
historic environment.  

 
15. The cost of the project was likely to be in excess of £36K so with no further 

complaints from the public regarding the closure of Smithfield but very strong local 
opposition to the project it was decided, after consultation with the Chairman & 
Deputy Chairman, that this project should not be pursued further, this was 
presented to the September PHES committee and agreed. 

 
16. Instead it was agreed that officers should explore the possibility of modernising 

the Aldermanbury APC at its present location. The Aldermanbury unit was used 
13850 times during 2014/15 and is the most used J C Decaux unit in the City. 
Many of the users are taxi drivers so it was felt appropriate that it should remain 
on site given their opposition to the closure of Smithfield attended toilet. 

 
17. The Aldermanbury APC has been surveyed for replacement with a more modern 

fully accessible unit (an image can be seen in Appendix 4), Officers are confident 
that the replacement will be completed before the end of the financial year. The 
remaining three J C Decaux APC’s at; Charterhouse St, Harrow Place and St 
Paul’s Walk have also been assessed for replacement with fully accessible units 
but, because the newer units are slightly bigger than the existing ones, site 
constraints have meant that it will not be possible to achieve this. 

 
Management 

 
18. As part of the Service Based Review it was agreed that the management structure 

of the Cleansing Service would be reviewed to achieve a savings. This is currently 

Page 130



 

underway and is expected to be completed by the end of the financial year 
achieving the required savings.  

 
Savings 

 
19. The Service Based Review identified savings targets of £147k in 2015/16 and 

£320k in 2016/17 these are on target to be achieved. 
 

Other activities arising from November report 
 

20. Community Toilet Scheme (CTS) – Toilets in the north & west wing of the 
Guildhall are now included in the Community Toilet Scheme and are available for 
use by the public. The Visitor Services Manager has reported that the toilets in the 
west wing are particularly well used by the general public. 

 
21. Following feedback from members that CTS signs were difficult to spot they have 

been made larger (A4 size) and the design has been amended to clarify what the 
CTS scheme is and to promote the City Toilet Finder App. (see Appendix 5) 

 
22. City Toilet Finder App. – Various initiatives (see Appendix 6) have been 

undertaken to promote the App in order to raise awareness of the City’s toilet 
facilities. This has included articles; tweets and the commissioning of an 
advertisement (see Appendix 7). The most recent publication which featured the 
advertisement was ‘City of London in your pocket – A worker’s guide to rest and 
play in the Square Mile’. This booklet was the work of the City’s visitor marketing 
division, sponsored by Grange Hotels and distributed by City AM. 170,000 
booklets were produced, 80,000 were distributed by City AM, 11000 in 
Commercial Property Register and 27,000 in City View during late September. 
The rest will be available in Grange Hotels, City Information Centre, Libraries and 
Guildhall Receptions. From 27th April 2015 up to the end of August 2015 the App 
had been downloaded 5030 times. 

 
23. Toilet Signage – Signage at the attended toilets has been standardised and is 

now ‘accessible compliant’, featuring braille, and additional signs have also been 
installed. Officers from Cleansing are working with colleagues within City 
Transportation section of DBE to update street signage to reflect the revised 
provision of facilities since April 2015 and where possible it is being improved, 
especially in the area around Eastcheap & Royal Exchange attended toilets where 
signage was poor. This is also in response to the outcome of the satisfaction 
survey. 

 
Corporate & Strategic Implications 

 
24. This strategy supports tourism in the City.  

 
H.R. Implications 

 
25. The Service Based Review savings impacts upon the current establishment. Full 

consultation with staff affected has been/ will be undertaken. 
 

Legal Implication 
 

26. No legal implications currently. 

Page 131



 

 
Financial Implications 

 
27. The Chamberlain has been consulted on these proposals. 

 
 
Background Papers: 
Public Convenience Strategy update papers to PHES committee 
 
Contact: 
doug.wilkinson@cityoflondon.gov.uk |0207 332 4998 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 132



 

 
Appendix 1  
 

 
 
 
 Page 133



 

Appendix 2 

 
 
 
 Page 134



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 135



 

Appendix 3 

 
 
 
 

Page 136



 

 
Appendix 4 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



 

Appendix 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 138



 

Appendix 6 
 
 

Avenue for marketing Date Format Nature of Promotion 

Healthwatch 28-Apr Newsletter Article and advert 

Marathon - tweets 26-Apr Online Tweets from COL, GreenSQMile, 
Square cyclists  

City Resident Newsletter 28-Apr Newsletter Article and advert 

Crohns and Colitus  
21-
May Online Link to toilet page for website 

Open Gardens Weekend 13-Jun Map Map 

Timeout 08-Jun Online Article 

DBE News letter 09-Jun Newsletter Article and advert 

Evening Standard 09-Jun Online Article 

City AM 11-Jun Newsletter Article 

Lonely Planet 11-Jun Online Article 

IBS Network 28-Jul Online Article 

Public toilets UK  
05-
Aug Online Article 

CoL Ladies Cycling Event 
25-
Sep Event Stall - handed out maps  

City in your pocket - 
worker guide 

WC 
21/9 Publication Advert 

Lord Mayors Show Maps 
14-
Nov Map Map 

Lord Mayors Show 
Program 

15-
Nov Publication Advert 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 139



 

 
Appendix 7 
 
 

 

Page 140



Committee(s): Date(s): 

Port Health and Environmental Service Committee 24 November 2015 

Subject:  

Progress on the enforcement of the obstructions policy. 

Public 

Report of: 

Director of the Built Environment 

For Information 

Summary 

This report sets out the work that the Street Environment Team has been 
conducting to implement the Obstructions Policy that was introduced earlier this 
year. So far 124 obstructions have been removed from the City‟s footways, the 
majority of these voluntarily by the businesses once they were made aware of the 
policy. 
 
This report also set out the ongoing programme of work that the Street Environment 
Team will conduct to ensure that any remaining obstructions that contravene the 
policy are removed and the how compliance will be maintained. 
 
Recommendation(s) 

Members are asked to: 
 

 Note this report. 

 
Main Report 

 
Background 

1. In January 2015 the Planning and Transportation Committee approved a 
report outlining a policy that sought to restrict obstructions on the highway and 
enable the safe management of footpaths and the street environment in a 
proportionate manner. 

2. The report was presented to Port Health and Environmental Services 
Committee, Health and Wellbeing Board, Streets and Walkways Sub-
committee and Policy and Resources Committee for Members to comment. In 
the report it set out that the responsibility for enforcing this policy would lie 
with the Street Environment Officers (SEOs) in the Department of the Built 
Environment. 

3. The policy details that each case will be considered on its merits, following a 
pragmatic and proportionate approach as follows: 

a. For footpaths and footways which are narrow in design, less than 2m 
residual width, there will be a presumption that anything placed on a 
pavement will cause a significant obstruction and constitute a 
nuisance/danger and will be dealt with using Section 149 of the 
Highways Act 1980 or Section 17 of the London Local Authorities and 
Transport for London Act 2003 to secure removal. 

Page 141

Agenda Item 10



b. For footpaths wider than 2m (other than those with high footfall referred 
to in (3) below) - an assessment will be made by Officers, on a case by 
case basis, as to whether the Item poses a significant obstruction due 
to the available footpath space.  This will allow all users adequate 
space to pass and re-pass or whether the obstruction is so minor that it 
can be considered a de minimis or “fractional” obstruction.  

c. For footpaths assessed and identified as having high footfall (such as 
transport hubs and related pedestrian routes) there will be a 
presumption that any items placed on the highway will cause a 
significant obstruction and constitute a nuisance and/or danger. 

4. This report details the work that the SEOs have carried out this year to 
enforce the policy.  

 

Current Position 

5. As the introduction of this policy was going to be sensitive with businesses, 
especially those asked to remove their obstructions from the footway, officers 
have taken a gentle approach to the introduction of enforcing this policy, 
preferring to work with businesses and taking the time to explain the reasons 
and need for the introduction of this policy in several stages. In March 2015 all 
businesses in the City were sent a leaflet with their business rates statement 
informing them of the new policy. A copy of this leaflet is included as 
Appendix 1. Businesses were informed that the policy would be enforced from 
April 2015 allowing them time to comply. 

6. SEOs have now inspected all footpaths and footways that are less that 2 
metres wide and personally visited all businesses with obstructions on these 
streets. In addition to this, our SEOs are now in the process of inspecting 
footpaths over 2 metres with obstructions, and have engaged with any 
businesses on these streets who fail to comply.  

7. Since May 2015 a total of 124 businesses have been visited, issued with the 
detailed guidance (see Appendix 2) and asked to remove obstructions from 
these footpaths. Of these 124 businesses, 101 businesses removed their 
obstruction within seven days. 

8. The 23 businesses that failed to comply within seven days were issued with 
notices instructing that they remove of the obstruction within a further seven 
days, and warning that if this was not complied with, the City would remove 
the obstruction after that date. Of these, 8 have been removed by the SEOs, 
with 15 still pending with time outstanding on their notices.  

 

 Guidance 
issued 

Notices 
issued 

Removed 
by business 

Removed 
by City 

No. of businesses  124 23 101 8 

Page 142



 

Proposals 

9. SEOs will now focus on the areas of City where the interpretation of the policy 
is not as straightforward. This includes carrying out assessments on footpaths 
over 2 metres in areas of high footfall to determine whether obstructions in 
these areas will fall under the policy. As these decisions are made on these 
streets a detailed record will be kept explaining the reasons for each decision 
to ensure that officer‟s discretion is consistently applied. Officers also need to 
give careful consideration to areas which are part pedestrianised, as the 
closure of the road to vehicles for periods of the day effectively widens the 
footpath, thus possibly making obstructions allowable in areas with 
designated pavements under two metres in width whilst pedestrianised. The 
process of introducing the policy in these complicated areas needs to 
completed carefully and considerately to gain the support of as many 
businesses as possible and therefore this may take some time. 

10. As we have introduced the policy across the City, officers have also met with 
Transport for London to seek agreement that they will enforce their policy on 
the streets they are responsible for in a similar manner. Meetings have been 
held and TfL are keen to learn from our experiences. We have shared with 
TfL our policy and the guidance documents attached at appendix 1 and 2. 

11. To ensure that businesses maintain compliance with the policy after they have 
removed their obstructions, SEOs will continue to monitor all streets and 
obstructions in the City as part of their ongoing daily duties and will take 
enforcement activities where necessary. 

 

Corporate & Strategic Implications 

12. SA1 - To support and promote The City as the world leader in 
international finance and business services. Creating clean and attractive 
city environment to attract businesses. 

13. SA2 - To provide modern, efficient and high quality local services within 
the Square Mile for workers, residents and visitors with a view to 
delivering sustainable outcomes. 

 

Implications 

14. The literature produced and enforcement activities that have been carried out 
so far have been within existing budgets. It is still not envisaged that there will 
be any additional budget required and will be accommodated within the 
current local risk budget within Cleansing Services. 

 
Conclusion 

15. The implementation of the obstruction policy has been successful, with the 
vast majority of businesses willing to comply with the new policy. Officers will 
now focus on the more contentious areas and continue to ensure that the 
policy is observed across the City. 

Page 143



Appendices 
 

 Appendix 1 – Leaflet issued to businesses with business rates March 2015 

 Appendix 2 – Detailed guidance issued to business with non-compliant 
obstructions. 

 

Background Papers: 

Port Health and Environmental Services, 18 November 2014, Items placed on the 
Highway (streets and pavements) 

 

 
Jim Graham 

Assistant Director Cleansing 
 

T: 020 7332 4972 
E: jim.graham@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 144



Appendix 1 - Leaflet issued to businesses with business rates March 2015 

 

 

P
age 145



Appendix 2 - Detailed guidance issued to business with non-compliant 
obstructions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Your business appears to have placed an item (including A-board) on the public 
highway outside your premises. This is not authorised and enforcement action 
will be taken where any the following criteria are not met:  
 

 There must be a minimum residual width of 2 metres of unobstructed footpath for the 
passage of pedestrians. 

 Where there are high volumes of pedestrian footfall, the footpath or footway will be 
assessed using an industry methodology (Gehl). The Gehl model has a threshold of 13 
pedestrians per metre per minute (13pmm) which is the threshold at which pedestrians 
become uncomfortable and seek alternative routes, or are at greater risk of behaviour 
such as stepping out into the carriageway. If a street is assessed at or above 13pmm, 
there will be a presumption that any items placed on the highway will cause a significant 
obstruction and constitute a nuisance and/or danger (and will be dealt with using 
Highways Legislation to secure removal). 

 Items must be no more than 1200mm high x 800mm wide x 500mm base or footprint. 

 No more than one item (A-board) per business. 

 Items must be placed against (physically touching) your building or business and must not 
obstruct any crossing points or dropped kerbs. 

 Items must not cause an obstruction to pedestrians and must be away from street 
furniture including bus stops to maintain the 2 metres of unobstructed footpath for the 
passage of pedestrians. 

 Items must be placed on straight sight lines and not on any curved angles along the 
building line and not in the sight line of any crossing points. 

 Items must not be of a rotating or swinging banner/flag type. 

 Items including A-boards placed on the highway must not be fixed or attached to any 
street furniture, lamp poles, sign posts etc. and must not have other „things‟ attached e.g. 
balloons and streamers. 

 All items, including A-boards must be taken in or removed from the footpath when the 
business is closed. 

 A-boards which have fallen over must be immediately removed or made secure to ensure 
the above criteria are met. 

 

 

 

 

 
City of London Corporation 

Items placed on the Highway  
GUIDANCE NOTE 

Section  149 Highways Act (1980) 
 

 

Items (A-boards) that are deemed to be a danger, which are placed on the highway whether because the 
above criteria are not met or for any other reason will be removed without notice by the City of London 

Corporation’s Street Environment Officers. 

Any business placing items on public highway does so at their own risk and may be liable, in the event of 
injury, loss or damage being caused to a highway user. 

Nothing in this guidance grants any permission, licence or consent in respect of A-boards or other items. 

Advertising is subject to advertisement control and the local planning authority may enforce against and 
remove unauthorised A-boards which do not have advertising consent. The local planning authority’s 

policy is to resist excessive or obtrusive advertising. 

 Page 146



Committee(s): Date(s): 

Port Health and Environmental Services 24 November 2015 

Subject:  

Clean City Awards Scheme Update 

Public 

 

Report of: 

Director of the Built Environment  

For Information 

 

Summary 

The Clean City Awards Scheme (CCAS) was launched in 1994 with the original 
purpose of encouraging City businesses to manage their waste responsibly and has 
evolved to now also encourage these businesses to adopt sustainable waste 
management practices. Historically funded by the Cleansing local risk budget at a 
cost of £25k, the scheme was free for members to join and was identified as a 
saving as part of the Service Based Review. 
 
In September 2014, your committee agreed that a membership fee be introduced 
for the CCAS with a target annual income of £25k commencing in 2016/2017 and 
that should this income prove to be unachievable that the service be ceased. To 
assess the likelihood of the income be achieved the CCAS Team introduced the 
charging a year in advance and the target has already been met and exceeded with 
a current income of £41k in 2015/2016. 

 
Recommendation(s) 

Members are asked to: 
 

 Note the report. 

 
Main Report 

Background 

1. The Clean City Awards Scheme (CCAS) was established in 1994 to 
encourage businesses within the Square Mile to manage their waste 
responsibly. At that time good waste management for many meant simply 
placing your waste in a black bag or other container and having a trade waste 
agreement with the City. The scheme has subsequently evolved in line with 
the waste and recycling industry and now the emphasis is placed firmly on 
sustainability. 

2. Over the years, Cleansing officers have developed a number of activities to 
engage CCAS members in supporting and promoting the principles of 
sustainable waste management. These include an inspection visit once a 
year, monthly e-newsletter, quarterly best practice meetings, waste 
management guidance on the City’s website and provision of ad-hoc support 
and advice. The scheme has traditionally culminated in a prestigious annual 
awards ceremony hosted by the Lord Mayor in Mansion House. 

3. The CCAS has historically been funded from the Cleansing local risk budget 
and the scheme has been free for members to join. As part of the Service 

Page 147

Agenda Item 11



Based Review (SBR) the CCAS was identified as a potential savings 
opportunity and it has been agreed that savings of £25k be achieved by 
2016/17. This could be achieved by either ceasing the scheme or by re-
modelling it to generate income by charging a fee for membership. Officers 
undertook a consultation with CCAS members to gauge support for the 
scheme going forward. 

4. In September 2014, your committee approved the decision to introduce 
membership fees in 2015/16 to allow take-up of the renewed scheme to be 
assessed and if necessary a further review to be carried out in time to meet 
the 2016/17 savings requirement. The membership fees approved were: 

 Facilities Management - £250. 

 Large sites (200+ people) - £750. 

 Small sites (1 – 199 people) - £50. 

5. This report sets out the current position and uptake of the new fee paying 
membership scheme. 

Current Position 

6. Officers developed a strong membership package which, in addition to the 
member benefits identified in paragraph 2, includes the following new 
benefits: 

 Summary report and recommendations after inspection. 

 Access to an exclusive CCAS member login area of the website. 

 Window stickers to advertise membership of the scheme. 

 Access to a new mentoring scheme. 

7. To date the new scheme has proved extremely successful. As a result target 
membership levels have been exceeded and are shown below. 

  
target 

members  
overall 

members 
target 

income 

overall 
income by 

category 

FM applicants (£250 + £50) 22 47  £5,500   £10,350  

Large applicants (£750 + £150) 25 45 £18,750   £30,150  

Small applicants (£50) 13 23  £650   £1,150  

Total 60 115 £24,900   £41,650  

8. The remodelled CCAS has met and exceeded its financial targets ahead of 
schedule. Officers have invested significant time and effort this year to initiate 
the fee paying scheme successfully. The continued success of the scheme 
will now depend on members considering the scheme to be genuinely 
worthwhile and the scheme detail will be kept under review to ensure this is 
achieved. 

9. Where some CCAS members have multiple sites, a reduced fee of £50 per 
additional site for FM applicants and £150 per additional site for large 
applicants was introduced for was to cover the additional work required for 
these members. 

Page 148



10. Officers will be working on the application process following lessons learnt this 
year with the aim of making it more straightforward and user friendly. For 
example, in the absence of an online award application process this year, 
some members became confused at the need to apply for both membership 
of the scheme and for the awards resulting in some late applications. Next 
year officers will be introducing a new online application system that will 
enable the smooth management of this process.  

Proposals 

11. In spring 2016, officers will be undertaking an evaluation of the first year of the 
fee paying scheme to gauge satisfaction levels with the members and to 
assess whether they feel are receiving value for money. These results will be 
reported to your committee in 2016. 

Corporate & Strategic Implications 

12. This supports the City’s Corporate Plan Key Policy Priority, KPP2 Maintaining 
the quality of our public services whilst reducing our expenditure and 
improving our efficiency. 

Implications 

13. The Service Based Review identified a savings target of £25k for the CCAS to 
be achieved by 2016/17.  

Conclusion 

14. The CCAS continues to be a successful scheme, valued by many businesses 
in the City. The trial introduction of charges in this financial year gives officers 
confidence that the scheme is sustainable for the future. 

Appendices 

None 

Background Papers 

 PHES Committee report September 2014 
 
 

Jim Graham 
Assistant Director Cleansing 

T: 020 7332 4972 
E: jim.graham@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 150



Committee(s) Dated: 

Epping Forest & City Commons Committee 
Hampstead Heath, Queens Park, Highgate Wood 
Open Spaces and City Gardens 
West Ham Park 
Planning and Transportation 
Port Health and Environmental Services 
Department of Community and Children Services 

9th November 2015 
23rd November 2015 
7th December 2015 
7th December 2015 
15th December 2015 
24th November 2015 
11th December 2015 

Subject: 
Operational Property 

Public  

Report of: 
The Chamberlain and the City Surveyor 

For Information 

 
 

Summary 
 

The Operational Property Review is a cross-cutting Service Based Review which 
is taking a more strategic view of the operational assets the City of London 
Corporation has, with the aim of identifying opportunities to rationalise the 
Corporation’s operational property portfolio and reduce the high and rising cost of 
property. The general fabric and condition of many of our operational properties 
is starting to deteriorate which impacts negatively on the experience of the users 
of those properties and the Corporation’s reputation as a consequence. 
 
Operational assets are an essential means by which the City of London 
Corporation provides the best possible services, whether through its statutory 
Local Authority functions, Charitable duties and responsibilities (e.g. Open 
Spaces), or supporting and promoting The City as the world leader in 
international finance and business services.  
 
Through this review, we aim to tackle the £40m ‘bow wave’ of maintenance costs 
we are currently pushing out year on year across all City of London Corporation 
assets. Ensuring property assets are efficiently managed and maintained, 
represent value for money in supporting service delivery and are fit for purpose is 
an important strand in improving efficiency and productivity. 

 
The first phase of workshops covering Departments with the most significant 
operational properties, have been held over the period April 2015 to June 2015. 
Workshops with the Markets and Consumer Protection, Open Spaces, 
Community and Children’s Services (DCCS) and Built Environment (DBE) 
Departments have strategically reviewed their operational properties and the 
work has identified potential opportunities in the short, medium and longer term to 
enable rationalisation and/or more effective utilisation of existing property assets. 
The following key themes of opportunities have emerged: 
 

 Housing – commercial units, in-fill and residential development 
opportunities 

 Car parking- review of overall provision 

 Rationalising Central London staff accommodation to release surplus 
space or potentially buildings 

Page 151

Agenda Item 12



 Rationalising Local offices, workshops and storage facilities 

 Rationalisation of similar facilities, e.g. ports 

 Staff residential accommodation 

 Redundant property which should be demolished 
 

 
Recommendation 

 
The Committee are asked to: 
 
Note the drivers for undertaking the Operational Property Review and that the 
emerging opportunities from this review that impact on the work of this 
Committee will be reported to subsequent meetings.  
   

 
 

Main Report 
 

Background 
 
1. Last year Corporate Asset Sub Committee requested a review into how well our 

property assets are maintained. Until this point there was no comprehensive 
picture of the management of the operational estate. The review established that 
there is a funding gap each year, compounding and creating a cumulative 
shortfall of funding for cyclical maintenance and renewal. Effectively this is 
creating a £40m ‘bow wave’ of postponed maintenance costs which we will, at 
some point, need to meet. This funding gap is unsustainable in the long term. 
 

2. It is estimated that the unfunded cyclical building maintenance and renewal costs 
of the existing Operational Property Portfolio over a 20 years is circa £159m. 
Appendix 1 provides a diagrammatic representation of these unfunded costs. 
The unfunded element is particularly large in 2015/16 due to the items which 
have been deferred in order to reduce the 2014/15 Building Cyclical Works 
Programme (formerly known as the Additional Work Programme). In effect, only 
very high priority work is being funded, predominantly relating to Health & Safety 
issues and equipment which is at a very high risk of failure. As a result the 
general fabric and condition of many of our operational properties is deteriorating 
which impacts negatively on the experience of the users of those properties and 
the Corporation’s reputation as a consequence.  
 

3. This work has also exposed that the current management of operational property 
assets is fragmented. Ensuring property assets are efficiently managed is an 
important strand in improving efficiency and productivity. Effective asset 
management requires an organisation to maintain its operational asset portfolio; 
ensuring assets are efficiently managed and maintained, represent value for 
money in supporting service delivery and at the end of their useful economic life 
are renewed/replaced or the need for the asset reconsidered. The management 
of property assets should accord with the Corporate Asset Management Strategy 
which aims to manage operational assets effectively, efficiently and sustainably 
to deliver strategic priorities and meet service needs. 

Page 152



4. This review work has been undertaken within the context that operational assets 
are an essential means by which the City of London Corporation provides the 
best possible services, whether through its statutory Local Authority functions, 
Charitable duties and responsibilities (e.g. Open Spaces), or supporting and 
promoting The City as the world leader in international finance and business 
services.  
 

5. As part of the review , the suitability of the existing operational assets were 
considered from the perspective of whether the existing property asset portfolio 
were fit for purpose, in terms of location, functionality and condition. By reviewing 
the existing asset portfolio, any financial efficiency from rationalisation and more 
effective use of property can then be used to improve the quality and upkeep of 
the operational property portfolio in the future, and as a result support the 
continuation of the best possible service for the public.  
 

6. Whilst the City of London Corporation’s overall financial position is strong in 
terms of its balance sheet assets, delivery of its strategic and operational aims is 
achieved through the income it generates from those assets. The financial 
revenue forecasts for the City of London Corporation have to be set in the context 
of large reductions in central government funding and the expectation of future 
grant reductions for the foreseeable future.  

7. The City of London Corporation is currently delivering a £20m Services Based 
Review to deliver significant and sustainable savings in order to balance the 
budget over the medium term; on both its City Fund and City Cash Services. 
There are restrictions over the operation of the City Fund which limits the use of 
assets to fund on-going revenue expenditure on our property asset portfolio. For 
instance it is forbidden for City Fund property assets to be sold, with the proceeds 
used to support the revenue position. A similar strategy is applied to City’s Cash 
assets.  

8. This means that while the Corporation may be perceived as a ‘wealthy’ 
organisation from the property assets that it holds, those assets are aging and 
require increasing sums to be spent on maintaining them. The revenue envelope 
available to fund these annual costs is reducing, resulting in a pressure to ensure 
that the estate is as streamlined as possible. 

9. Reviewing and rationalising the operational property estate is one of many 
approaches to driving savings and efficiency, and has been an important 
approach adopted across the public sector as a whole within the current era of 
austerity. Whilst, the City of London Corporation does not face the extremes of 
financial pressures faced by the public sector, it does have a clear obligation to 
use the public and charitable resources at its disposal in the most effective and 
efficient way so that it is able to sustain the high quality services and obligations it 
has for current and future generations.  

 
Operational Property Review 
 

10. A cross-cutting Service Based Review was initiated to take a more strategic view 
of the operational assets the City of London Corporation has, with the aim of:-  

Page 153



 Investigating the current utilisation of assets – do they provide value for 
money? 

 Investigate current and future property requirements 

 Identifying opportunities to rationalise the Corporation’s operational property 
portfolio and reduce the high and rising cost of property.  

 
11. As part of operational property review, Chief Officers were asked to review their 

operational asset base portfolio through a series of workshops to identify 
opportunities for rationalisation and improved efficiency. The aim has been to 
identify proposals for property rationalisation which are likely to deliver the 
greatest Value For Money (VFM) benefits. This work has necessarily been 
undertaken with full consideration of the reasons why property assets are held, 
how they contribute to service provision and what restrictions apply over their 
use.   
 

12. The first phase of workshops covering Departments with the most significant 
operational properties, have been held over the period April 2015 to June 2015. 
These discovery workshops focused on the Markets & Consumer Protection, 
Open Spaces, Department of Community and Children Services (DCCS) and 
Department of Built Environment (DBE).  
 

13. A further workshop was held at the end of October 2015, to review corporately, 
ways of working and Central London office accommodation (covering Guildhall, 
Irish Chambers, Walbrook Wharf Offices, and Lauderdale Place (DCCS/Barbican 
Housing office). This workshop, linked to the existing Guildhall Accommodation 
and Agile working projects explored opportunities to adopt more effective 
and efficient working methods through better use of space, adoption of flexible 
and more modern working methods enabling the rationalisation of central London 
office accommodation. An appetite to progress these modern ways of working 
and use of accommodation was confirmed and a workstream has been initiated 
to develop this programme of work. 
  

14. The review did not consider the Barbican and Guildhall School or Music and 
Drama (GSMD) assets as these are currently being considered within the 
Cultural Hub Project, nor Police Accommodation where a separate review and 
rationalisation process has already been well established. Some of the emerging 
property asset rationalisation opportunities do have the potential to support the 
City’s targets to increase Housing provision.  
 

15. The first phase of workshops is now complete. These workshops, along with 
significant preparation work by Departments in collaboration with the City 
Surveyors and Chamberlains Department, have reviewed at a strategic level the 
operational properties occupied and operated by Departments. The aim of the 
workshops has been to identify proposals in the short, medium and longer term to 
enable rationalisation and/or more effective utilisation of existing property assets 
to support high quality services. As a secondary benefit, this review work is 
assisting in the cleansing of the City’s operational property records.  

 
16. The following key themes of opportunities have emerged: 

 

Page 154



 Housing – commercial units, in-fill and residential development 
opportunities 

 Car parking- review of overall provision 

 Rationalising Central London staff accommodation to release surplus 
space or potentially buildings 

 Rationalising Local offices, workshops and storage facilities 

 Rationalisation of similar facilities, e.g. ports 

 Staff residential accommodation  

 Redundant property which should be demolished 
 

17. Opportunities identified in some instances entail the relocation of people and 
operations, with resulting costs in order to facilitate the freeing up of property 
assets. Proposals that have been identified from the workshops have been 
prioritised to identify those opportunities which are likely to deliver the greatest 
value for money (VFM) benefits. Some of the emerging opportunities should also 
result in a better service provision through improving the accessibility of staff to 
service users.  
 

18. Where a property asset is no longer required, disposals can be considered and 
achieved through freehold sale or the grant of leasehold interests for short or 
lengthy duration, subject to any statutory provisions limiting that ability.  
 

19. Freehold sales mostly divest complete control, imposing covenants or restrictions 
on future use are invariably very difficult to achieve in practical terms. Leasehold 
disposals enable landlords to retain control because they still maintain an interest 
in the property, but that level of control generally diminishes as the length of the 
grant increases. Long leases can achieve premiums which are close to the 
freehold value, providing that any restrictions are not overly onerous.  
 

20. It is likely that the City of London Corporation would need to consider disposal 
options on a case-by-case basis to assess the merit of individual circumstances. 
There are going to be a variety of circumstances where disposal is being 
considered, that will have a bearing upon the preferred disposal method, the 
outcome that the Corporation desires and its powers to deal with any given asset. 

 
21. In addition to this recent exercise, some significant asset realisation opportunities 

had been identified from an earlier exercise to support the funding of the 
Corporation’s Capital Programme, which includes significant investment required 
for the Hampstead Heath and Epping Forest Dams projects.  

 
22. The operational property review is one strand of activity within the an overall 

Strategic Asset Management (SAM) Service Based Review (SBR) which also has 
strands of activity relating to Facilities Management, Contract Management and 
Project Management. 
 
Next Steps 
 

23. Relevant Service Committee Chairman and Deputy Chairman have been 
consulted on these opportunity proposals that impact on their service areas, as 
Service Committees have a role in declaring operational property assets as 

Page 155



surplus. Chief Officers will be required to seek Service Committee agreement to 
the disposal and/or rationalisation strategies. Service Committee support will also 
be necessary for any rationalisation of property assets where better use of 
assets, e.g. through commercial sub-letting or more intensive use of assets as 
opposed to absolute disposal or demolition is proposed. Reports on specific 
opportunities will be brought to this Committee in subsequent meetings.  
 

24. The disposal, rationalisation and more effective use opportunities across all the 
Committees will be considered in the round by the Corporate Asset Sub-
Committee on the 24th November to ensure effective use and agree proposed 
disposals and rationalisation. Resource Allocation Sub-Committee on the 10th 
December will consider the recommendations from the Corporate Asset Sub-
Committee. This reflects the responsibility of the Resource Allocation Sub 
Committee to consider the impact of opportunities on the allocation of operational 
property resources for service delivery. 
 

25. Once operational property is released by service committees, then assets will be 
passed to the Property Investment Board to consider the most advantageous 
route for disposal if no alternative use of the assets is determined.  

 
26. It is then intended that a series of specific projects will then progress these 

proposals to completion seeking appropriate resources to facilitate rationalisation 
and/or disposals, and obtaining approval through current project processes.   

 
Conclusion 

 
27. Good progress has been made on the Operational Property Review Project. 

Emerging opportunities relevant to the work of this Committee will be reported to 
subsequent meetings of the Committee. 
 

28. By reviewing the existing asset portfolio, any financial efficiency from 
rationalisation and more effective use of property can then be used to improve 
the quality and upkeep of the operational property portfolio in the future, and as a 
result support the continuation of the best possible service for the public.  
 
 

Background Papers 
Operational Property Review – Update report - 26th March 2015 (Public) 
Operational Property Review – Update report - RASC 16th July/CASC – 28th July 
2015 (Public) 
 
 
Appendices 
Appendix 1: Graph of Unfunded cyclical building maintenance and renewal costs 
 
Caroline Al-Beyerty    Peter Young 
Financial Services Director    Corporate Property Group Director 
 
T: 0207 332 1113 
E: caroline.albeyerty@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 156

mailto:caroline.albeyerty@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Funding shortfall 
Appendix 1 - Operational Assets   

0

10000000

20000000

30000000

40000000

50000000

60000000

70000000

80000000

90000000

Total Requirement

Base

 Current provision insufficient  
 Choices are being made, creating 

the bow wave of £40m 
 
 Funding gap each year, ranging 

from £1m to £41.8m 
 Cumulative shortfall £158.5m by 

2034 
 

P
age 157



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 158



Committee: Date:  

Port Health and Environmental Services Committee 24 November 2015 

Subject:  

Decisions taken under Urgency since the last meeting 
of the Committee 

 

Public 

 

Report of:  

Town Clerk 

For Information 

 
Summary 

 
This report advises Members of action taken by the Town Clerk, in consultation with 
the Chairman and Deputy Chairman, since the last meeting of the Committee, in 
accordance with Standing Order No. 41(a). 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Members are asked to note the report. 

 
Main Report 

 
Delegation of powers to the Director of Markets and Consumer Protection 
regarding the Consumer Rights Act 2015 
 
Background 

 
1. The Consumer Rights Act 2015 came into force on 1 October 2015. The Act 

has been used to consolidate the investigatory powers of those enforcing 
consumer law which regulates a diverse range of business sectors such as 
retailers, distance and doorstep sellers, public houses, estate agents and car 
dealers. These powers are detailed in Schedule 5 to the Consumer Rights Act 
2015.  
 

2. All existing officers who were appointed or authorised prior to 1 October 2015 
to exercise a power replaced by Schedule 5 of the Consumer Rights Act 2015 
are treated as covered by the new legislation. Any new permanent staff or 
contractors taken on after 1 October 2015 are not covered. It was proposed 
that the power to appoint authorised officers under the provisions of Schedule 
5 of the Consumer Rights Act 2015 be delegated to the Director of Markets 
and Consumer Protection and, in his absence, the Director of Port Health and 
Public Protection. 
 

3. A decision was sought under urgency to ensure that the City of London 
Corporation was prepared and able to authorise officers should any 
emergency situations arise prior to the Committee meeting on 24 November 
2015. If a multi-site investment fraud had been identified in the City of London 
prior to this date, which required coordinated visits using officers from the 

Page 159

Agenda Item 13



regional Scambusters team, it was be necessary to give those officers the 
necessary powers of entry and inspection at short notice. This would not have 
been possible if authorisation were delayed until the end of November, 
thereby hindering the City Corporation’s ability to provide an optimal level of 
protection to consumers. 
 

Action taken 
 

4. It was agreed by the Town Clerk, in consultation with the Chairman and 
Deputy Chairman of the Port Health and Environmental Services Committee, 
that the power be delegated to the Director of Markets and Consumer 
Protection and, in his absence, the Port Health and Public Protection Director, 
to appoint authorised officers under the provisions of Schedule 5 of the 
Consumer Rights Act 2015. 
 

Conclusion 

5. In accordance with Standing Order No. 41 (a), Members are asked to note the 
decisions taken by the Town Clerk, in consultation with the Chairman and 
Deputy Chairman, since the Committee’s last meeting in September 2015. 

Appendices 

6. None 
 

Background papers 
 

7. Report of the Director of Markets and Consumer Protection: Delegation of 
Powers to the Director of Markets and Consumer Protection (October 2015) 

8. Consumer Rights Act 2015 
 

 
Contact: 
 
David Arnold 
Committee and Member Services Officer 
Town Clerk’s Department 
020 7332 1174 
David.Arnold@cityoflondon.gov.uk  

Page 160

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/15/contents/enacted
mailto:David.Arnold@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 161

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 163

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 167

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 169

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 171

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 175

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 185

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Outstanding Actions
	5 Revenue and Capital Budgets - 2016/17
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	6 City of London Air Quality Strategy 2015 - 2020 Update
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix Bii
	Appendix C

	7 43rd City of London Thames Fishery Research Experiment 2015
	Appendix A

	8 City of London Contaminated Land Inspection Strategy 2015 - 2020
	City Contaminated Land Strategy 2015 - 2020 FINAL

	9 Public Conveniences Strategy - Update on Service Based Review Savings
	10 Progress on the enforcement of the obstructions policy
	11 Clean City Awards Scheme Update
	12 Operational Property
	Operational Property  - Appendix 1
	Appendix 1 - Operational Assets  


	13 Decisions taken under Urgency since the last meeting of the Committee
	17 Non-Public Minutes
	18 Debt Arrears - Port Health and Environmental Services Period Ending 30 September 2015
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	19 London Gateway - additional office accommodation for Port Health Offices at Manorway House
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2


